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PART I.—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1.—Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 

Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and Subsidiaries
 

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
 

December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013
 

(Unaudited)
 

(In thousands, except share data)
 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Assets
       

Current assets:
       

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 108,522
 

$ 82,572
 

Restricted cash
 

8,445
 

9,507
 

Short-term investments
 

38,175
 

37,966
 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $905 and $818 as of December 31, 2012 and March 31,
2013, respectively

 

57,594
 

47,359
 

Other receivables
 

17,808
 

45,425
 

Inventory, net
 

38,152
 

44,218
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
 

16,002
 

17,870
 

Total current assets
 

284,698
 

284,917
 

Land, property and equipment, net
 

428,177
 

438,408
 

Restricted cash
 

13,208
 

1,435
 

Notes receivable and other long-term assets
 

71,389
 

69,951
 

Investments in other entities
 

2,581
 

—
 

Goodwill
 

75,865
 

74,884
 

Intangible assets, net
 

99,282
 

95,275
 

Total assets
 

$ 975,200
 

$ 964,870
 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
       

Current liabilities:
       

Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations
 

$ 30,389
 

$ 28,851
 

Accounts payable
 

39,216
 

21,988
 

Accrued liabilities
 

30,794
 

41,188
 

Deferred revenue
 

13,521
 

13,907
 

Total current liabilities
 

113,920
 

105,934
 

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion
 

300,636
 

286,091
 

Other long-term liabilities
 

14,014
 

14,534
 

Total liabilities
 

428,570
 

406,559
 

Commitments and contingencies
       

Stockholders’ equity:
       

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding no shares
 

—
 

—
 

Common stock, $0.0001 par value. Authorized 149,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 87,634,478 shares and
88,511,691 shares at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, respectively

 

9
 

9
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

837,367
 

855,287
 

Accumulated deficit
 

(300,814) (304,685)
Accumulated other comprehensive income

 

6,151
 

3,747
 

Total Clean Energy Fuels Corp. stockholders’ equity
 

542,713
 

554,358
 

Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
 

3,917
 

3,953
 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

546,630
 

558,311
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 975,200
 

$ 964,870
 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and Subsidiaries
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
 

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
 

(Unaudited)
 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

   

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

   

2012
 

2013
 



Revenue:
       

Product revenues
 

$ 65,776
 

$ 83,483
 

Service revenues
 

7,858
 

9,560
 

Total revenues
 

73,634
 

93,043
 

Operating expenses:
       

Cost of sales:
       

Product cost of sales
 

51,902
 

46,814
 

Service cost of sales
 

3,984
 

3,927
 

Derivative losses:
       

Series I warrant valuation
 

13,506
 

466
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

24,850
 

32,876
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

8,144
 

10,158
 

Total operating expenses
 

102,386
 

94,241
 

Operating loss
 

(28,752) (1,198)
Interest expense, net

 

(3,702) (5,071)
Other income (expense), net

 

841
 

(390)
Income (loss) from equity method investment

 

91
 

(76)
Gain from sale of equity method investment

 

—
 

4,705
 

Loss before income taxes
 

(31,522) (2,030)
Income tax expense

 

(246) (1,805)
Net loss

 

(31,768) (3,835)
Income of noncontrolling interest

 

(137) (36)
Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.

 

$ (31,905) $ (3,871)
Loss per share attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.:

       

Basic
 

$ (0.37) $ (0.04)
Diluted

 

$ (0.37) $ (0.04)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

       

Basic
 

85,677,090
 

93,132,454
 

Diluted
 

85,677,090
 

93,132,454
 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and Subsidiaries
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
 

(Unaudited)
 

(In thousands)
 
   

Clean Energy Fuels Corp.
 

Noncontrolling Interest
 

Total
 

   

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

   

2012
 

2013
 

2012
 

2013
 

2012
 

2013
 

Net income (loss)
 

$ (31,905) $ (3,871) $ 137
 

$ 36
 

$ (31,768) $ (3,835)
                     
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

                   

Foreign currency translation adjustments
 

(1,475) (655) —
 

—
 

(1,475) (655)
Foreign currency adjustments on intra-entity long-

term investments
 

1,142
 

(1,818)
     

1,142
 

(1,818)
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

 

(116) (37) —
 

—
 

(116) (37)
Unrecognized gains on derivatives

 

715
 

106
 

—
 

—
 

715
 

106
 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax
 

266
 

(2,404) —
 

—
 

266
 

(2,404)
                     
Comprehensive income (loss)

 

$ (31,639) $ (6,275) $ 137
 

$ 36
 

$ (31,502) $ (6,239)
 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Clean Energy Fuels Corp.
 

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013
 

(Unaudited)
 

(In thousands)



 

   

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

   

2012
 

2013
 

Cash flows from operating activities:
       

Net loss
 

$ (31,768) $ (3,835)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

       

Depreciation and amortization
 

8,144
 

10,158
 

Provision for doubtful accounts, notes and inventory
 

209
 

17
 

Loss on disposal of assets
 

—
 

137
 

Derivative loss
 

13,506
 

466
 

Stock-based compensation expense
 

4,680
 

6,212
 

Amortization of debt issuance cost
 

113
 

262
 

Accretion of notes payable
 

555
 

340
 

Gain on sale of equity method investment
 

—
 

(4,705)
Dividend received on equity method investment

 

—
 

1,091
 

Gain on contingent consideration for acquisition
 

(2,648) —
 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets and liabilities acquired:
       

Accounts and other receivables
 

(1,729) (17,961)
Inventory

 

(3,369) (6,066)
Prepaid expenses and other assets

 

(7,891) (2,276)
Accounts payable

 

(8,654) (11,742)
Accrued expenses and other

 

11,956
 

10,970
 

Net cash used in operating activities
 

(16,896) (16,932)
Cash flows from investing activities:

       

Purchases of short-term investments
 

(4,564) (21,227)
Maturities of short-term investments

 

—
 

21,233
 

Purchases of property and equipment
 

(36,623) (21,703)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

 

—
 

95
 

Loans made to customers
 

(3,057) (361)
Payments on and proceeds from sales of loans receivable

 

2,568
 

2,271
 

Restricted cash
 

9,634
 

10,711
 

Proceeds from sale of equity method investment
 

—
 

6,119
 

Net cash used in investing activities
 

(32,042) (2,862)
Cash flows from financing activities:

       

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and exercise of stock options
 

5,947
 

178
 

Proceeds from debt instruments
 

76
 

—
 

Proceeds from revolving line of credit
 

15,069
 

6,894
 

Repayment of borrowing under revolving line of credit
 

(15,002) (7,380)
Repayment of capital lease obligations and debt instruments

 

(5,547) (5,601)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

 

543
 

(5,909)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

 

936
 

(247)
Net decrease in cash

 

(47,459) (25,950)
Cash, beginning of period

 

238,125
 

108,522
 

Cash, end of period
 

$ 190,666
 

$ 82,572
 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
       

Income taxes paid
 

$ 559
 

$ 1,653
 

Interest paid, net of approximately $1,517 and $829 capitalized, respectively
 

2,359
 

4,014
 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Clean Energy Fuels Corp. and Subsidiaries
 

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
 

(Unaudited)
 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

Note 1—General
 

Nature of Business:  Clean Energy Fuels Corp., together with its majority and wholly owned subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Company”) is
engaged in the business of selling natural gas fueling solutions to its customers, primarily in the United States and Canada.

 
The Company has a broad customer base in a variety of markets, including trucking, airports, taxis, refuse, and public transit. The Company builds, operates, maintains

or supplies approximately 358 natural gas fueling locations in thirty-two states within the United States, and in British Columbia and Ontario within Canada. The Company also
generates revenue through operation and maintenance (“O&M”) agreements with certain customers, through building and selling or leasing natural gas fueling stations to its
customers, through manufacturing and servicing natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment, providing natural gas vehicle conversions, providing design and
engineering services for natural gas engine systems, processing and selling renewable natural gas (“RNG”), and through financing its customers’ vehicle purchases and selling
tradable credits the Company generates by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel, including credits (“LCFS Credits”) under the California low carbon fuel standard and
Renewable Identification Numbers (“RIN Credits”) under the federal Renewable Fuel Standard Phase 2.

 
Basis of Presentation:  The accompanying interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries,

and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary to state fairly the Company’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The three



month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2013 or for any other interim
period or for any future year.

 
Certain information and disclosures normally included in the notes to the financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of

the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), but the resultant disclosures contained herein are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“US GAAP”) as they apply to interim reporting. The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 that are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 28, 2013.

 
Use of Estimates:  The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial
statements and revenues and expenses recorded during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
Note 2—Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less on the date of acquisition to be cash equivalents.
 

Note 3—Restricted Cash
 

The Company classifies restricted cash as a current asset if the cash is expected to be used in operations within a year or to acquire a current asset. Otherwise, the
restricted cash is classified as long-term. Restricted cash consisted of the following as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013:
 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Short-term restricted cash
       

Standby letters of credit
 

$ 669
 

$ 669
 

DCEMB bonds — current operating costs
 

7,776
 

8,838
 

Total short-term restricted cash
 

8,445
 

9,507
 

Chesapeake Notes
 

12,256
 

483
 

DCEMB bonds — long-term plant expansion
 

952
 

952
 

Total restricted cash
 

$ 21,653
 

$ 10,942
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Note 4—Investments
 

Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value, inclusive of unrealized gains and losses. Net unrealized gains and losses are included in other comprehensive
income (loss), net of applicable income taxes. Gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale investments are recognized on the specific identification basis.

 
The Company reviews available-for-sale investments for other-than-temporary declines in fair value below their cost basis each quarter, and whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the cost basis of an asset may not be recoverable. This evaluation is based on a number of factors, including the length of time and the
extent to which the fair value has been below its cost basis and adverse conditions related specifically to the security, including any changes to the credit rating of the security.
As of March 31, 2013, the Company believes its cost bases for its available-for-sale investments are properly recorded.

 
Short-term investments as of December 31, 2012 are summarized as follows:

 

   
Amortized Cost

 

Gross Unrealized
Losses

 

Estimated Fair
Value

 

Municipal bonds & notes
 

$ 23,755
 

$ (105) $ 23,650
 

Corporate bonds
 

4,557
 

(53) 4,504
 

Total available-for-sale securities
 

28,312
 

(158) 28,154
 

Certificate of deposits
 

10,021
 

—
 

10,021
 

Total short-term investments
 

$ 38,333
 

$ (158) $ 38,175
 

 
Short-term investments as of March 31, 2013 are summarized as follows:

 

   
Amortized Cost

 

Gross Unrealized
Losses

 

Estimated Fair
Value

 

Municipal bonds & notes
 

$ 23,698
 

(158) $ 23,540
 

Zero coupon bonds
 

124
 

—
 

124
 

Corporate bonds
 

4,277
 

(37) 4,240
 

Total available-for-sale securities
 

28,099
 

(195) 27,904
 

Certificate of deposits
 

10,062
 

—
 

10,062
 

Total short-term investments
 

$ 38,161
 

(195) $ 37,966
 

 
Note 5—Derivative Transactions
 

The Company, in an effort to manage its natural gas commodity price risk exposures related to certain contracts, utilizes derivative financial instruments.  From time to
time, the Company enters into natural gas future contracts that are over-the-counter swap transactions that convert its index-based gas supply arrangements to fixed price
arrangements.  As of March 31, 2013, all of the Company’s future contracts are being accounted for as cash flow hedges and are being used to mitigate the Company’s exposure
to changes in the price of natural gas and not for speculative purposes. The Company marks to market its open futures positions at the end of each period and records the net
unrealized gain or loss during the period in derivative (gains) losses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations or in accumulated other comprehensive income in
the condensed consolidated balance sheets in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) authoritative guidance. For the three month periods ended
March 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company recorded unrealized gains of $715 and $106, respectively, in other comprehensive income (loss) related to its futures contracts. Of the
Company’s net futures contracts liability of $2 at March 31, 2013, $36 was recorded as a liability in accrued liabilities and $34 was recorded as an asset in prepaid expenses and
other current assets, which are included in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet. Of the Company’s net futures contracts liability of $107 at December 31,
2012, $5 was recorded as an asset in prepaid expenses and other current assets and $112 was recorded as an accrued liability in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance



sheet. The Company’s ineffectiveness related to its futures contracts during the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 was insignificant. For the three months
ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, the Company recognized a loss of approximately $1,107 and $22, respectively, in cost of sales in the accompanying condensed consolidated
statement of operations related to its futures contracts that were settled during the respective periods. As of March 31, 2013, the remaining unrecognized loss of $2 is recorded
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).  The Company expects to reclassify such unrecognized loss from accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) as cost of sales through June 30, 2013.
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The following table presents the notional amount and weighted-average fixed price per gasoline gallon equivalent of the Company’s natural gas futures contracts as of
March 31, 2013:
 

   

Gallons
 

Weighted
Average Price
Per Gasoline

Gallon
Equivalent

 

April to June, 2013
 

540,000
 

$ 0.51
 

 
Note 6—Other Receivables
 

Other receivables at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 consisted of the following:
 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Loans to customers to finance vehicle purchases
 

$ 4,151
 

$ 3,646
 

Capital lease receivables
 

308
 

311
 

Accrued customer billings
 

6,934
 

6,088
 

Fuel tax and carbon credits
 

2,780
 

32,867
 

Other
 

3,635
 

2,513
 

   

$ 17,808
 

$ 45,425
 

 
Note 7—Inventories
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value on a first-in, first-out basis. Management’s estimate of market value includes a provision for slow-moving or
obsolete inventory based upon inventory on hand and forecasted demand.

 
Inventories consisted of the following as of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013:

 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Raw materials and spare parts
 

$ 30,137
 

$ 37,219
 

Work in process
 

5,835
 

3,988
 

Finished goods
 

2,180
 

3,011
 

Total
 

$ 38,152
 

$ 44,218
 

 
Note 8—Land, Property and Equipment
 

Land, property and equipment at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 are summarized as follows:
 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Land
 

$ 1,476
 

$ 1,476
 

LNG liquefaction plants
 

93,384
 

93,475
 

RNG plants
 

23,582
 

49,843
 

Station equipment
 

158,447
 

162,749
 

LNG trailers
 

13,566
 

18,664
 

Other equipment
 

47,143
 

48,438
 

Construction in progress
 

198,916
 

179,671
 

   

536,514
 

554,316
 

Less: accumulated depreciation
 

(108,337) (115,908)

   

$ 428,177
 

$ 438,408
 

 
As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013, $12,087 and $6,601 are included in accounts payable balances, respectively, which are related to purchases of property

and equipment. These amounts are excluded from the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows as they are non-cash investing activities.
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Note 9—Investments in Other Entities
 

The Company has invested in Clean Energy del Peru (“Peru JV”), a joint venture in Lima, Peru that operates CNG stations. The Company accounted for its investment
in Peru JV under the equity method of accounting as the Company had the ability to exercise significant influence over Peru JV’s operations. In March 2013, the Company
completed the sale of its entire ownership interest in Peru JV for $6,119 after receiving a dividend distribution of $1,091, and recognized a gain of $4,705.

 
Note 10—Accrued Liabilities
 

Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 consisted of the following:



 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Salaries and wages
 

$ 4,558
 

$ 5,928
 

Accrued gas and equipment purchases
 

10,091
 

11,699
 

Derivative liability
 

112
 

36
 

Contingent consideration obligations
 

70
 

—
 

Accrued property and other taxes
 

4,483
 

4,524
 

Accrued professional fees
 

1,310
 

1,625
 

Accrued employee benefits
 

2,607
 

3,182
 

Accrued warranty liability
 

2,665
 

2,885
 

Other
 

4,898
 

11,309
 

   

$ 30,794
 

$ 41,188
 

 
Note 11—Warranty Liability
 

The Company records warranty liabilities at the time of sale for the estimated costs that may be incurred under its standard warranty. Changes in the warranty liability
are presented in the following tables:
 

   

March 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Warranty liability at beginning of year
 

$ 3,130
 

$ 2,665
 

Costs accrued for new warranty contracts and changes in estimates for pre-existing
warranties

 

939
 

879
 

Service obligations honored
 

(932) (659)
Warranty liability at end of period

 

$ 3,137
 

$ 2,885
 

 
Note 12—Long-term Debt
 
Revenue Bonds
 

On March 25, 2011, the Company’s 70% owned subsidiary, Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“DCEMB”), arranged
for a $40,200 tax-exempt bond issuance (the “Revenue Bonds”). The Revenue Bonds will be repaid from the revenue generated by DCEMB from the sale of RNG. The
Revenue Bonds are secured by the revenue and assets of DCEMB and are non-recourse to DCEMB’s direct and indirect parent companies, including the Company. The bond
repayments are amortized through December 2024 and the average coupon interest rate on the bonds is 6.60%. The bond issuance closed March 31, 2011.  The bond proceeds
are being primarily used to finance further improvements and expansion of the landfill gas processing facility owned by DCEMB at the McCommas Bluff landfill outside of
Dallas, Texas.

 
Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2011 (the “Loan Agreement”), between DCEMB and the Mission Economic Development Corporation (the

“Issuer”), DCEMB has covenanted with the Issuer to make loan repayments equal to the principal and interest coming due on the Revenue Bonds. DCEMB executed a
promissory note, dated March 31, 2011 (the “Note”), as evidence of its obligations under the Loan Agreement. Pursuant to the Trust Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2011 (the
“Indenture”), the Issuer has pledged and assigned to the Trustee all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in and to the Loan Agreement (with certain specified exceptions) and
the Note.

 
The obligations of DCEMB under the Loan Agreement are secured by a Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, dated

as of January 1, 2011 (the “Deed of Trust”), executed by DCEMB in favor of the deed of trust trustee named therein for the benefit of the Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as Trustee (the “Trustee”). In addition, DCEMB executed a Security Agreement (the “Security Agreement”), as security for its obligations, pursuant to which
DCEMB granted to the Trustee a security interest in all right, title and interest of DCEMB to the Collateral (as defined in the Security Agreement), which includes, but is not
limited to, DCEMB’s rights, title and interest in any gas sale agreements, including the gas sale agreement with Shell Energy North America (US), L.P. (“Shell Energy,” and
such gas sale agreement, the “Shell Gas Sale Agreement”), and the funds and accounts held under the Indenture.
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Pursuant to a Consent and Agreement, by and between Shell Energy, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Depository Bank (the “Depository
Bank”), DCEMB and the Trustee, dated as of January 1, 2011 (the “Consent Agreement”), Shell Energy agreed to make all payments due to DCEMB under the Shell Gas Sale
Agreement to the Depository Bank. In addition, other revenues generated through the sale of gas produced at the facility will be paid directly to the Depository Bank pursuant
to a Depository and Control Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2011 (the “Depository Agreement”), among DCEMB, the Trustee and the Depository Bank.

 
All payments received by the Depository Bank are placed into various accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Indenture and the Depository Agreement.

The funds in these accounts is used to service required debt payments, finance further improvements and expansion of the landfill gas processing facility owned by DCEMB,
finance the operations and maintenance of DCEMB, finance certain expenses associated with setting up and maintaining the accounts, and other uses as prescribed in the
Depository Agreement. The Depository Bank makes payments out of these accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Depository Agreement. At the end of each
month after all required account fundings have been fulfilled in accordance with the Depository Agreement, all remaining excess funds are placed into a Surplus Account (as
defined). The funds in the Surplus Account are delivered to DCEMB so long as (i) DCEMB’s Debt Service Coverage Ratio (as defined) for the most recent four calendar
quarters then ended equals or exceeds 1.25:1, (ii) DCEMB’s Debt Service Coverage Ratio (as defined) is reasonably projected to equal or exceed 1.25:1 for the next four
calendar quarters, (iii) no events of default have occurred as defined by the Indenture and the Loan Agreement, and (iv) after giving effect to the transfer, DCEMB’s Minimum
Days Cash on Hand (as defined) shall be, or shall at any time be projected to be, more than the lesser of thirty-five Days Cash on Hand (as defined) or $1,300. Due to these
restrictions on this cash, the Company has classified all of this cash as restricted cash on the balance sheet. The Company records the restricted cash that is expected to be
received and used within the next 12 months from the Depository Bank for working capital and operating purposes as current in its balance sheet, and presents the remaining
balance as non-current in the line item notes receivable and other long term assets. At March 31, 2013, $952 was recorded as long term restricted cash and $8,838 was recorded
as short term restricted cash in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet.

 
Pursuant to a Collateral Assignment and Consent Agreement with Atmos Pipeline—Texas (“Atmos”), DCEMB has collaterally assigned to the Trustee, subject to

certain reserved rights and the consent of Atmos, the transportation agreements of the Company with Atmos.
 
The Indenture and the Loan Agreement have certain non-financial debt covenants with which DCEMB must comply. As of March 31, 2013, DCEMB was in

compliance with all its debt covenants.



 
Purchase Notes
 

In connection with the closing of the Company’s acquisition of IMW, the Company agreed to make future payments consisting of four annual payments in the amount
of $12,500 which were subsequently amended to be CAD$5,000 and $7,500. Each payment under the IMW Notes will consist of CAD$5,000 in cash and $7,500 in cash and/or
shares of the Company’s common stock (the exact combination of cash and/or stock to be determined at the Company’s option). In addition, pursuant to a security agreement
executed at closing, the IMW Notes are secured by a subordinate security interest in IMW. In January 2011, the Company paid $5,000 in cash and $7,500 in shares of its
common stock. The Company paid CAD$5,000 in cash in January 2012 and $3,750 in shares of its common stock in each of August 2012 and October 2012. The Company
paid CAD$5,000 in cash and $7,500 in shares of its common stock in February 2013. The IMW Notes that were settled with shares of the Company’s common stock are not
included in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows as they are non-cash financing activities.

 
In connection with the closing of the Company’s acquisition of Northstar, the Company agreed to make future payments consisting of five annual payments in the

amount of $700 each with the first payment due December 15, 2011. Each of the first two payments of $700 was paid in December 2011 and 2012, respectively.
 
In connection with the closing of the Company’s acquisition of the natural gas fuel infrastructure construction business of Weaver Electric, Inc. on October 3, 2011, the

Company paid $1,000 in cash and agreed to make four additional annual payments in the amount of $250 each with the first payment due October 3, 2012 (the “Weaver
Notes”). In May 2012, the Company prepaid $125 of the October 2012 payment, and the remaining amount of such payment was paid in October 2012.
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In connection with the closing of the Company’s acquisition of ServoTech on April 30, 2012, the Company paid $1,400 in cash at closing and paid an additional
$1,400 in cash on October 31, 2012.

 
The difference between the carrying amount and the face amount of these obligations is being accreted to interest expense over the remaining term of the obligations.

 
HSBC Lines of Credit
 

In connection with the closing of the Company’s acquisition of IMW, the Company entered into an Assumption Agreement (the “Assumption Agreement”) with HSBC
Bank Canada (“HSBC”) pursuant to which the Company assumed the obligations and liabilities of IMW under the following arrangements with HSBC (collectively, the “IMW
Lines of Credit”):

 
(i)                                     An operating line of credit with a limit of $13,000 in Canadian dollars (“CAD”) to assist in financing the day-to-day working capital needs of IMW. The

interest on amounts outstanding shall be payable at IMW’s option at (a) HSBC’s Prime Rate plus 1.00% per annum, (b) HSBC’s U.S. Base Rate plus 1.00%
per annum, or LIBOR plus 2.25% per annum, subject to availability.

 
(ii)                                  A demand revolving line of credit with a limit of CAD$2,000 bearing interest at the same rate as that of the operating line of credit discussed above, to assist

in financing IMW’s import requirements.
 
(iii)                               A demand revolving bank guarantee and standby letter of credit line with a limit of CAD$1,115.
 
(iv)                              A bank guarantee line with a limit of CAD$3,000, which allows IMW to provide guarantees and/or standby letters of credit to overseas suppliers or

bid/performance deposits on contracts.
 
(v)                                 A forward exchange contract line with a limit of CAD$13,750 that allows IMW to enter into foreign exchange forward contracts up to the notional limit of

CAD$13,750 (no forward exchange contracts were outstanding at March 31, 2013).
 
(vii)                           An operating line of credit with a limit of 5,000 Renminbi (“RMB”) (CAD$810) bearing interest at the 6 month People’s Bank of China rate plus 2.5% and a

sub-limit bank guarantee line of 5,000 RMB. The aggregate of the balances in the lines cannot exceed 5,000 RMB.
 
(viii)                        A 16,750 Bangladeshi Taka (CAD$215) operating line of credit bearing interest at 14%.
 
(ix)                              A 170,000 Colombian Peso (CAD$95) operating line of credit bearing interest at the Colombia benchmark rate plus 7 to 12%.
 
The IMW Lines of Credit are secured by a general security agreement providing a first priority security interest in all present and after acquired personal property of

IMW (the “Security”). The IMW Lines of Credit contain no fixed repayment terms or mandatory principal payments and are due on demand. Based on the relevant accounting
guidance, the Company has classified this debt pursuant to the credit agreement as short-term given that it is due on demand.

 
The Assumption Agreement with HSBC sets forth certain financial covenants with which IMW must comply, including: 1) its ratio of debt to tangible net worth must

be no greater than 3.0 to 1.0, 2) it must maintain a tangible net worth of at least CAD$7,000 and 3) its ratio of current assets to current liabilities may not be less than 1.25 to
1.0. IMW was in compliance with the financial covenants as of March 31, 2013.

 
In addition, the Company and IMW agreed that should the making of any scheduled payment by IMW to the seller of IMW under the IMW Notes result in IMW being

in breach of the Assumption Agreement, the IMW Lines of Credit or the Security, the Company shall furnish IMW with the funds needed to remain in compliance with the
Assumption Agreement, the IMW Lines of Credit and the Security. Further, the Company and IMW agreed that should IMW make any future earn-out payments to the seller of
IMW in connection with the acquisition of IMW, and should the making of such earn-out payments result in IMW being in breach of the Assumption Agreement, the IMW
Lines of Credit or the Security, then the Company shall furnish IMW with the funds needed to make such earn-out payments and remain in compliance with the Assumption
Agreement, the IMW Lines of Credit and the Security.
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Chesapeake Notes
 



On July 11, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement (the “CHK Agreement”) with Chesapeake NG Ventures Corporation (“Chesapeake”), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of Chesapeake Energy Corporation, whereby Chesapeake agreed to purchase from the Company up to $150,000 of debt securities for the
development, construction and operation of liquefied natural gas stations (the “CHK Financing”) pursuant to the issuance of three convertible promissory notes, each having a
principal amount of $50,000 (each a “CHK Note” and collectively the “CHK Notes”). Chesapeake Energy Corporation guaranteed Chesapeake’s commitment to purchase the
CHK Notes under the CHK Agreement.

 
The first CHK Note was issued on July 11, 2011, the second CHK Note was issued on July 10, 2012 and the Company expects to issue the third CHK Note on or about

June 28, 2013. The CHK Notes bear interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum (payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year)
and are convertible at Chesapeake’s option into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $15.80 per share (the “CHK Conversion Price”). Subject to
certain restrictions, the Company can force conversion of each CHK Note into shares of the Company’s common stock if, following the second anniversary of the issuance of a
CHK Note, the Company’s shares of common stock trade at a 40% premium to the CHK Conversion Price for at least 20 trading days in any consecutive 30 trading day period.
The entire principal balance of each CHK Note is due and payable seven years following its issuance, and the Company may repay each CHK Note in shares of the Company’s
common stock or cash. The CHK Agreement restricts the use of the CHK financing proceeds to financing the development, construction and operation of liquefied natural gas
stations and payment of certain related expenses. At March 31, 2013, approximately $483 of these funds were included in long term restricted cash as the Company anticipates
primarily using the funds to build LNG fueling stations. The CHK Agreement also provides for customary events of default which, if any of them occurs, would permit or
require the principal of, and accrued interest on, the CHK Notes to become, or to be declared, due and payable.

 
In connection with the CHK Financing, the Company also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 11, 2011, with Chesapeake (the “CHK Registration

Rights Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of the CHK Registration Rights Agreement, to (i) file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission one or more registration statements relating to the resale of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the CHK Notes, and (ii) at the
request of Chesapeake, to participate in one or more underwritten offerings of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the CHK Notes. If the Company does
not meet certain of its obligations under the CHK Registration Rights Agreement with respect to the registration of the Company’s common stock, it will be required to pay
monthly liquidated damages of 0.75% of the principal amount of the CHK Note represented by the Company’s common stock included (or to be included, as the case may be)
in the applicable registration statement until the related obligation is met. As of March 31, 2013, the Company met its obligations under the CHK Registration Rights
Agreement.

 
SLG Notes
 

On August 24, 2011, the Company entered into Convertible Note Purchase Agreements (each, an “SLG Agreement” and collectively the “SLG Agreements”) with
each of Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Temasek Holdings Pte. Ltd., Lionfish Investments Pte. Ltd., an investment vehicle managed by Seatown
Holdings International Pte. Ltd., and Greenwich Asset Holding Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of RRJ Capital Master Fund I, L.P. (each, a “Purchaser” and collectively, the
“Purchasers”), whereby the Purchasers agreed to purchase from the Company $150,000 of 7.5% convertible notes due in August 2016 (each a “SLG Note” and collectively the
“SLG Notes”). The transaction closed and the SLG Notes were issued on August 30, 2011. On March 1, 2012, Springleaf Investments Pte. LTD transferred $24,000 principal
amount of the SLG Notes to Baytree Investments (Mauritius) Pte Ltd.

 
The SLG Notes bear interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum (payable quarterly, in arrears, on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year) and are

convertible at each Purchaser’s option into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $15.00 per share (the “SLG Conversion Price”). Subject to certain
restrictions, the Company can force conversion of each SLG Note into shares of the Company’s common stock if, following the second anniversary of the issuance of the SLG
Notes, the Company’s shares of common stock trade at a 40% premium to the SLG Conversion Price for at least 20 trading days in any consecutive 30 trading day period. The
entire principal balance of each SLG Note is due and payable five years following its issuance, and the Company may repay the principal balance of each SLG Note in shares
of the Company’s common stock or cash. The SLG Agreements also provide for customary events of default which, if any of them occurs, would permit or require the principal
of, and accrued interest on, the SLG Notes to become, or to be declared, due and payable. In April 2012, $1,003 of principal and accrued interest under an SLG Note was
converted by the holder thereof into 66,888 shares of the Company’s common stock. In January and February 2013, $4,030 of principal and accrued interest under an SLG Note
was converted by the holder thereof into 268,664 shares of the Company’s common stock. Such conversions were not included in the condensed consolidated statements of
cash flows as it is a non-cash financing activity.
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In connection with the SLG Agreements, the Company also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 30, 2011, with each of the Purchasers (the
“SLG Registration Rights Agreements”) pursuant to which the Company agreed, subject to the terms and conditions of the SLG Registration Rights Agreements, to (i) file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission one or more registration statements relating to the resale of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the SLG
Notes, and (ii) at the request of the Purchasers, participate in one or more underwritten offerings of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the SLG Notes.
If the Company does not meet certain of its obligations under the SLG Registration Rights Agreements with respect to the registration of the Company’s common stock, it will
be required to pay monthly liquidated damages of 0.75% of the principal amount of the SLG Note represented by the Company’s common stock included (or to be included, as
the case may be) in the applicable registration statement until the related obligation is met, not to exceed 4% of the aggregate principal amount of the SLG Notes per annum. As
of March 31, 2013, the Company met its obligations under the SLG Registration Rights Agreement.

 
GE Loans
 

On November 7, 2012, the Company, through two wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Borrowers”), entered into a financing arrangement with General Electric Capital
Corporation (“GE,” and the agreement governing such arrangement, the “GE Credit Agreement”). Pursuant to the GE Credit Agreement, GE Capital agreed to loan to the
Borrowers up to an aggregate of $200,000 to finance the development, construction and operation of two LNG production facilities (individually a “Project” and together the
“Projects”), each with an expected production capacity of approximately 250,000 LNG gallons per day. The Company expects to sell the LNG produced by the Projects through
America’s Natural Gas Highway, a nationwide network of natural gas truck fueling stations, which the Company is building along major transportation corridors in the United
States.

 
The Borrowers’ ability to obtain loans under the GE Credit Agreement (collectively, “Loans” and, with respect to each Project “Tranche A Loans” and “Tranche B

Loans”) for the Projects is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including each of the (i) acquisition of title to, or leasehold interests in, the sites upon which the
Projects will be constructed, (ii) receipt of all governmental approvals necessary in connection with the design, development, ownership, construction, installation, operation
and maintenance of the Projects, (iii) commitment of all utility services necessary for the construction and operation of the Projects, and (iv) execution of an engineering,
procurement and construction contract for each Project by the Company and GE Oil & Gas, Inc.

 
The GE Credit Agreement further provides that (i) if initial Loans are not made prior to December 31, 2014, the GE Credit Agreement will automatically terminate,

(ii) each Project must be completed by the earlier of (a) the date thirty months after the funding of the initial Loans with respect to such Project and (b) December 31, 2016
(with respect to each Project, the “Date Certain”), (iii) the then existing Loans with respect to each Project must be converted into term loans with eight year amortization
schedules (“Term Loans”) on or before the Date Certain with respect to such Project (the date of such conversion with respect to each Project, the “Conversion Date”), provided
that if such Loans are not converted into Term Loans by the applicable Date Certain, such Loans must be repaid by the applicable Date Certain, (iv) each Term Loan will be due



and payable on the eighth anniversary of the Conversion Date with respect to such Term Loan, and (v) at any time prior to the applicable Conversion Date, the Loans may be
prepaid in whole, and at any time after the applicable Conversion Date, the Loans may be prepaid in whole or in part. The Company expects the Loans to bear interest at an
annual rate equal to the then- current LIBOR rate plus 7.00%, provided that for purposes of the GE Credit Agreement, the then-current LIBOR rate will always be at least
1.00%. The GE Credit Agreement includes various customary covenants, including debt service coverage ratios, and also provides for customary events of default which, if
such events occur, would permit or require the Loans to become or to be declared due and payable. As of March 31, 2013, the Company has not drawn any money under the GE
Credit Agreement and was in compliance with the financial covenants.

 
The Loans are secured by (i) a first priority security interest in all of the Borrowers’ assets, including the Projects, and (ii) a pledge of the Borrowers’ outstanding

ownership interests. In addition, the Company has executed a guaranty in favor of GE (“Guaranty”), pursuant to which the Company has guaranteed all of the Borrowers’
obligations under the GE Credit Agreement, including repayment of all Loans.

 
The Company and GE also entered an equity contribution agreement (the “EC Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to pay at least 25% of the budgeted

cost of the Projects and all additional costs that exceed such expected budgeted costs, in each case, in the form of equity contributions to the Borrowers (“Equity
Contributions”). The EC Agreement also requires Clean Energy to provide, concurrent with GE’s extension of the initial Loans under the GE Credit Agreement, letter(s) of
credit in an amount equal to the Company’s then-current unfunded Equity Contributions.

 
Concurrently with the execution of the GE Credit Agreement, the Company issued to GE a warrant (“GE Warrant”) to purchase up to 5,000,000 shares of the

Company’s common stock (see note 13).
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Long-term debt at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013 consisted of the following:
 

   

December 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

IMW Notes
 

$ 23,983
 

$ 11,657
 

Northstar future payments
 

1,848
 

1,879
 

DCEMB notes
 

585
 

585
 

DCEMB Revenue Bonds (non recourse to the Company)
 

38,700
 

38,700
 

Chesapeake Notes
 

100,000
 

100,000
 

SLG Notes
 

149,000
 

145,000
 

Weaver Notes
 

680
 

689
 

IMW assumed debt
 

12,661
 

11,875
 

Capital lease obligations
 

3,568
 

4,557
 

Total debt and capital lease obligations
 

331,025
 

314,942
 

Less amounts due within one year and short-term borrowings
 

(30,389) (28,851)
Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations

 

$ 300,636
 

$ 286,091
 

 
Note 13—Earnings Per Share
 

Basic earnings per share is based upon the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the impact of
assumed exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants. In the three months ended March 31, 2013, 5,000,000 shares of common stock related to the GE Warrant were
included in the basic and dilutive net loss per share calculation.  The information required to compute basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:
 

   

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

   

2012
 

2013
 

Basic and diluted:
       

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
 

85,677,090
 

93,132,454
 

 
Certain securities were excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculations for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, as the inclusion of

the securities would be anti-dilutive to the calculation. The amounts outstanding as of March 31, 2012 and 2013 for these instruments are as follows:
 

   
March 31,

 

   
2012

 
2013

 

Options
 

10,903,234
 

11,994,610
 

Warrants
 

2,130,682
 

2,130,682
 

Convertible notes
 

13,164,557
 

15,995,781
 

Restricted Stock Units
 

1,420,000
 

1,545,000
 

 
Note 14—Stock-Based Compensation
 

The following table summarizes the compensation expense and related income tax benefit related to the stock-based compensation expense recognized during the
periods:
 

   

Three Months Ended
March 31,

 

   
2012

 
2013

 

Stock-based compensation expense
 

$ 4,680
 

$ 6,212
 

Stock-based compensation expense, net of tax
 

$ 4,680
 

$ 6,212
 

 
Stock Options
 

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity during the three months ended March 31, 2013:
 

   

Number of
Shares

 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)
 

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
 



Outstanding, December 31, 2012
 

12,083,677
 

$ 11.75
       

Options exercised
 

(28,188) 6.31
       

Options forfeited
 

(60,879) 13.81
       

Outstanding, March 31, 2013
 

11,994,610
 

$ 11.76
 

6.28
 

$ 14,873
 

Exercisable, March 31, 2013
 

8,567,618
 

$ 10.28
 

5.21
 

$ 23,304
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As of March 31, 2013, there was $21,539 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested shares. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.4 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $7,609.

 
The Company plans to issue new shares to its employees upon the employees’ exercise of their options. The intrinsic value of all options exercised during the three

months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 was $12,955 and $252, respectively.
 
The Company recorded $3,342 and $4,007 of stock option expense during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The Company has not

recorded any tax benefit related to its stock option expense.
 
Restricted Stock Units
 
The Company issued 1,545,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain key employees during 2012.  A holder of RSUs will receive one share of the Company’s

common stock for each RSU he holds if (x) between two years and four years from the date of grant of the RSU, the closing price of the Company’s common stock equals or
exceeds, for twenty consecutive trading days, 135% of the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the RSU grant date (the “Stock Price Condition”) and (y) the
holder is employed by the Company at the time the Stock Price Condition is satisfied. If the Stock Price Condition is not satisfied prior to four years from the date of grant, the
RSUs will be automatically forfeited. The RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and a Notice of
Grant of Restricted Stock Unit and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.

 
As of March 31, 2013, there was $7,548 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted

average period of 0.9 years.  The Company recorded $1,338 and $2,205 of expense during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively, related to the RSUs.
The Company has not recorded any tax benefit related to its RSU expense.

 
Note 15—Environmental Matters, Litigation, Claims, Commitments and Contingencies
 

The Company is subject to federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations. The Company does not anticipate any expenditures to comply with
such laws and regulations which would have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. The Company
believes that its operations comply, in all material respects, with applicable federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations.

 
The Company may become party to various legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of its business. During the course of its operations, the Company is also

subject to audit by tax authorities for varying periods in various federal, state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions. Disputes may arise during the course of such audits as to facts
and matters of law. It is impossible at this time to determine the ultimate liabilities that the Company may incur resulting from any lawsuits, claims and proceedings, audits,
commitments, contingencies and related matters or the timing of these liabilities, if any. If these matters were to be ultimately resolved unfavorably, an outcome not currently
anticipated, it is possible that such outcome could have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position or results of operations.
However, the Company believes that the ultimate resolution of such actions will not have a material adverse affect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or liquidity.

 
Note 16—Income Taxes
 

The Company’s income tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $1,805, which includes a discrete tax expense of $1,409 related to the sale of the
Company’s interest in Peru JV during the period.  The effective tax rate for the three month periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2013 are different from the federal statutory tax
rate primarily as a result of losses for which no tax benefit has been recognized.

 
The Company did not record a change in its liability for unrecognized tax benefits or penalties in the three months ended March 31, 2012 or March 31, 2013, and the

net interest incurred was immaterial for such periods.
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Note 17—Fair Value Measurements
 

The Company follows the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements with respect to assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis
and nonrecurring basis. Under the standard, fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants, as of the measurement date. The standard also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market
participants would use in valuing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that
reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability developed based upon the best information available in the
circumstances. The hierarchy consists of the following three levels: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2
inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and inputs
(other than quoted prices) that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Company’s financial instruments consisted of available-for-sale securities, natural gas futures contracts, debt

instruments, a contingent consideration obligation, and its Series I warrants. For securities available-for-sale, the fair value is determined by the most recent trading prices
available for each security or for comparable securities, and thus represent Level 2 fair value measurements. The Company uses quoted forward price curves, discounted to
reflect the time value of money, to value its natural gas futures contracts which is considered to be a Level 2 fair value measurement. The Company uses projected financial
results for the respective entities, discounted to reflect the time value of money, to value its contingent consideration obligations which are considered to be Level 3 fair value



measurements. The fair market value of the Company’s debt instruments approximated their carrying values at March 31, 2013. The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to
value the Series I warrants. The Company believes the best method to approximate the market participant’s view of the volatility of its Series I warrants has been to use the
implied volatilities of its short-term (i.e. 3 to 9 month) traded options and extrapolate the data over the remaining term of the Series I warrants, which was approximately
3.08 years as of March 31, 2013. This method has been utilized consistently in the periods presented. Given that the extrapolation beyond the term of the short term exchange
traded options is not based on observable market inputs for a significant portion of the remaining term of the warrants, the Series I warrants have been classified as a Level 3
fair value measurement in the table below.

 
The following tables provide information by level for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2012 and March 31,

2013, respectively:
 

Description
 

Balance at
December 31, 2012

 

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Assets:
             

Available-for-sale securities(1):
             

Certificate of deposits
 

$ 10,021
 

$ —
 

$ 10,021
 

$ —
 

Municipal bonds and notes
 

23,650
 

—
 

23,650
 

—
 

Corporate bonds
 

4,504
 

—
 

4,504
 

—
 

Liabilities:
             

Natural gas futures contracts(2)
 

107
 

—
 

107
 

—
 

Contingent consideration obligation(3)
 

1,516
 

—
 

—
 

1,516
 

Series I warrants(4)
 

8,102
 

—
 

—
 

8,102
 

 

Description
 

Balance at
March 31, 2013

 

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Assets:
             

Available-for-sale securities(1):
             

Certificate of deposits
 

$ 10,062
 

$ —
 

$ 10,062
 

$ —
 

Municipal bonds and notes
 

23,540
 

—
 

23,540
 

—
 

Zero coupon bonds
 

124
 

—
 

124
 

—
 

Corporate bonds
 

4,240
 

—
 

4,240
 

—
 

Liabilities:
             

Natural gas futures contracts(2)
 

2
 

—
 

2
 

—
 

Contingent consideration obligation(3)
 

1,516
 

—
 

—
 

1,516
 

Series I warrants(4)
 

8,568
 

—
 

—
 

8,568
 

 

(1) Included in short-term investments in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. See note 4 for further information.
(2) See note 5 for further information.
(3) The current portion is included in accrued liabilities, and the long-term portion is included in other long-term liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
(4) Included in other long-term liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the table above that used
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

 

Liabilities: Contingent Consideration
 

March 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Beginning Balance
 

$ 5,978
 

$ 1,516
 

Total gain included in SG&A expense
 

(2,648) —
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 3,330
 

$ 1,516
 

 

Liabilities: Series I Warrants
 

March 31,
2012

 

March 31,
2013

 

Beginning Balance
 

$ 11,493
 

$ 8,102
 

Total loss included in earnings
 

13,506
 

466
 

Ending Balance
 

$ 24,999
 

$ 8,568
 

 
Valuation processes for Level 3 fair value measurements and sensitivity to changes in significant unobservable inputs
 

Fair value measurements of liabilities which fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are determined by the Company’s accounting department, who report to the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer. The fair value measurements are compared to those of the prior reporting periods to ensure that changes are consistent with expectations of
management based upon the sensitivity and nature of the inputs.

 
Contingent Consideration
 

Pursuant to the terms presented in the Asset Purchase Agreement, the IMW shareholder will earn additional consideration if IMW achieves certain minimum gross
profit targets in fiscal years 2011 through 2014. Therefore, the Company estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration based on the payout structure using the
following inputs as of March 31, 2013:
 

Unobservable
Input

 

Range or Weighted Average
 

Gross profit projection
 

$16,321–$32,641
 

Probability of reaching target gross profit
 

0.0%–40.0%
 

 
Generally, a positive change in the assumptions used for the probability of achieving a higher gross profit target threshold would result in a directionally similar

change in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration, and thus an increase in the associated liability.
 

Series I Warrant Liability



 
The Company estimated the fair value of its Series I warrant liability using the Black-Scholes Model based on the following inputs as of March 31, 2013:
 

Unobservable
Input

 

Range or Weighted
Average

 

Current market price of the Company’s common stock
 

$13.00
 

Exercise price of the warrant
 

$12.68
 

Dividend yield
 

0.00%
 

Remaining term of the warrant
 

3.08
 

Implied volatility of the Company’s common stock
 

43.2%–46.5%
 

Assumed discount rate
 

Simple average 0.4%
 

 
Significant changes in any of those inputs in isolation can result in a significant change in the fair value measurement. Generally, a positive change in the market price

of the Company’s common stock, an increase in the volatility of the Company’s
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common stock, or an increase in the remaining term of the warrant would result in a directionally similar change in the estimated fair value of the Company’s Series I warrants
and thus an increase in the associated liability. An increase in the assumed discount rate or a decrease in the positive differential between the warrant’s exercise price and the
market price of the Company’s common stock would result in a decrease in the estimated fair value measurement of the Series I warrants and thus a decrease in the associated
liability. The Company has not, nor plans to, declare dividends on its common stock, and thus, there is no directionally similar change in the estimated fair value of the warrants
due to the dividend assumption.

 

Non-financial assets
 

No impairments of long-lived assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis have been incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013.  The
Company’s use of these nonfinancial assets does not differ from their highest and best use as determined from the perspective of a market participant.

 

Note 18—Recently Adopted Accounting Changes and Recently Issued Accounting Standards
 

On January 1, 2013, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2013-02). The ASU requires an entity to report the effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the
respective line items into net income if the amount being reclassified is required under US GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net income. An entity shall provide this
information together, in one location, in either of the following ways: a) on the face of the statement where net income is presented, or b) as a separate disclosure in the notes to
the financial statements. The gain or loss resulting from the settlement of the Company’s futures contracts is the only significant item being reclassified during the three-month
periods ended March 31, 2012 and 2013.  The Company has disclosed this information in note 5.

 

Note 19—Volumetric Excise Tax Credit (VETC)
 

On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act was signed into law which extended VETC through December 31, 2013 and made it retroactive to January 1,
2012. The Company records its VETC credits as revenue in its condensed consolidated statements of operations as the credits are fully refundable and do not need to offset
income tax liabilities to be received. VETC revenues recognized during the three month period ended March 31, 2013 was $26,217, which includes $20,800 for the 2012 VETC
credits.

 

Note 20 — Subsequent Events
 

On April 25, 2013 (“Closing Date”), Mavrix, LLC (“Issuer”), a newly-formed special purpose vehicle subsidiary of Clean Energy Renewable Fuels, LLC (“CERF”),
entered a Note Purchase Agreement (“NPA”) with Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company (“Note Purchaser”).  CERF and Issuer are subsidiaries of the Company. 
Issuer owns all of the equity interests in Canton Renewables, LLC (“Canton”) and 70% of the equity interests in Dallas Clean Energy, LLC, which owns all of the equity
interests in Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC (“DCEMB,” and together with Canton, the “Project Companies”). Canton owns a RNG extraction and processing
project at the Sauk Trail Hills Landfill in Canton, Michigan and DCEMB owns the RNG extraction and processing project at the McCommas Bluff Landfill in Dallas, Texas.

 

Pursuant to the NPA, on the Closing Date, Note Purchaser (i) purchased a secured multi-draw promissory note (“Mavrix Note”) from Issuer in the maximum aggregate
principal amount of $30,000,000 (the “Maximum Principal Amount”), and (ii) funded an initial advance of $5,000,000 under the Mavrix Note.  Subject to the Issuer and the
Project Companies satisfying certain conditions described in the NPA, Note Purchaser will make additional advances under the Mavrix Note, up to the Maximum Principal
Amount.  Issuer will use the proceeds from the sale of the Mavrix Note and any advances thereunder to (x) pay any transaction costs and fees related to the NPA and the
issuance of the Mavrix Note and (y) make distributions to its direct and indirect parent companies.  The Issuer’s direct and indirect parent companies plan to use such
distributions to finance construction of additional RNG extraction and processing projects and for working capital purposes.

 

The Mavrix Note matures 12 years from the Closing Date and bears base interest at the rate of 12% per annum and paid in kind interest at the rate of 2.0% per annum. 
The principal amount of the Mavrix Note will be repaid in 28 quarterly installments commencing on June 30, 2018, provided that the NPA requires mandatory prepayment of
such principal amount upon certain casualty or condemnation events, assets sales or extraordinary transactions.  In addition, the Issuer may not voluntarily repay the Mavrix
Note until the third anniversary of the Closing Date and, subject to the foregoing restriction, the Issuer must pay a prepayment premium if it prepays the Mavrix Note prior to
the ninth anniversary of the Closing Date.

 

The Mavrix Note is secured by (i) a first priority security interest in all of Issuer’s assets and (ii) a pledge of Issuer’s outstanding equity interests.  In addition, the NPA
includes various customary affirmative and negative covenants and also provides for customary events of default which, if such events occur, would permit or require the
Mavrix Note to become, or to be declared, due and payable.  The Mavrix Note is non-recourse to the Company.

 

On May 6, 2013 (the “Acquisition Date”), Clean Energy (“Clean Energy”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the
“Purchase Agreement”) with Mansfield Energy Corp. (“Mansfield”) and its wholly owned subsidiary Mansfield Gas Equipment Systems Corporation (“MGES”).  Under the
terms of the Purchase Agreement, on the Acquisition Date, Clean Energy purchased from Mansfield all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of MGES for $20,000,000,
paid 50% in cash and 50% in shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Shares”).  The Purchase Agreement also provides for Mansfield to receive additional consideration
if Closing Working Capital (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) is greater than $3,000,000. MGES is primarily engaged in the business of providing CNG station design and
construction and CNG equipment repair and maintenance services.

 

Mansfield further agreed that, for a period beginning on the Acquisition Date and ending on October 16, 2013 (the “Lock-Up Expiration Date”), it will not sell,
transfer or make any other disposition of all or any portion of the Shares.  Clean Energy agreed to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) a registration
statement covering the resale of the Shares and to cause such registration statement to be declared effective by the SEC on or before the Lock-Up Expiration Date.  In addition,
the Agreement provides that Mansfield will, subject to certain limitations, indemnify Clean Energy for damages and losses incurred or suffered by Clean Energy as a result of,
among other things, breaches of Mansfield’s and MGES’ representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Purchase Agreement.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (this “MD&A”) should be read together with the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this report. For additional context with which to understand our financial condition and
results of operations, refer to the MD&A for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 contained in our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 28,
2013, as well as the consolidated financial statements and notes contained therein.  Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to “Clean Energy,” the “Company,”
“we,” “us,” or “our” in this MD&A and elsewhere in this report refer to Clean Energy Fuels Corp. together with its majority and wholly owned subsidiaries.

 
Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Statements
 

This MD&A and other sections of this report contain forward looking statements. We make forward-looking statements, as defined by the “safe harbor” provisions of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and in some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “if,” “shall,” “may,” “might,”
“will likely result,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “goal,” “objective,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue,” or the
negative of these terms and other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements, which are based on various underlying assumptions and expectations and are
subject to risks, uncertainties and other unknown factors, may include projections of our future financial performance based on our growth strategies and anticipated trends in
our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current expectations and projections about future events that we believe to be reasonable. There are important
factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from the historical or future results, level of activity, performance
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, those discussed under the caption “Risk Factors” in
this report and in our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K (the”2012 10-K”). In preparing this MD&A, we presume that readers have access to and have read the MD&A in our
2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to Instruction 2 to paragraph (b) of Item 303 of Regulation S-K. We undertake no duty to update any of these forward-looking
statements after the date of filing of this report to conform such forward-looking statements to actual results or revised expectations, except as otherwise required by law.

 
We are the leading provider of natural gas as an alternative fuel for vehicle fleets in the United States and Canada, based on the number of stations operated and the

amount of gasoline gallon equivalents of compressed natural gas (“CNG”) and liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) delivered. We design, build, operate and maintain fueling stations
and supply our customers with CNG fuel for light, medium and heavy-duty vehicles and LNG fuel for medium and heavy-duty vehicles. We also sell non-lubricated natural gas
compressors and related equipment used in CNG stations and LNG stations, convert light and medium duty vehicles to run on natural gas, provide design and engineering
services for natural gas engine systems, produce renewable natural gas (“RNG”), which can be used as vehicle fuel or sold for power generation, and sell tradable credits we
generate by selling natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel, including credits we generate under the California Low Carbon Fuel Standard (“LCFS Credits”) and Renewable
Idenfiication Numbers (“RIN Credits”) we generate under the federal Renewable Fuel Standard Phase 2. In addition, we help our customers acquire and finance natural gas
vehicles and obtain local, state and federal grants and incentives.

 
Overview
 

This overview discusses matters on which our management primarily focuses in evaluating our financial condition and operating performance.
 
Sources of revenue.  We generate revenues by selling CNG and LNG, providing operations and maintenance (“O&M”) services to our vehicle fleet customers,

designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or leasing those stations to our customers, selling RNG, selling converted natural gas vehicles, providing design and
engineering services for natural gas engine systems, selling non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment and maintenance services, providing
financing for our customers’ natural gas vehicle purchases and selling tradable credits, including LCFS Credits and RIN Credits.
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Key operating data.  In evaluating our operating performance, our management focuses primarily on: (1) the amount of CNG and LNG gasoline gallon equivalents
delivered (which we define as (i) the volume of gasoline gallon equivalents we sell to our customers, plus (ii) the volume of gasoline gallon equivalents dispensed to our
customers at stations where we provide O&M services, but do not sell the CNG or LNG, plus (iii) our proportionate share of the gasoline gallon equivalents sold as CNG by
our joint venture in Peru (through March 2013 when we sold our interest in the joint venture in Peru), plus (iv) our proportionate share of the gasoline gallon equivalents of
RNG produced and sold as pipeline quality natural gas by our RNG production facilities, (2) our gross margin (which we define as revenue minus cost of sales), and (3) net
income (loss) attributable to us. The following table, which you should read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and notes contained elsewhere
in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and our consolidated financial statements and notes contained in our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K, presents our key operating data
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011, and 2012 and for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013:

 

Gasoline gallon equivalents
delivered (in millions)

 

Year Ended
December 31,

2010
 

Year Ended
December 31,

2011
 

Year Ended
December 31,

2012
 

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2012
 

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2013
 

CNG
 

81.4
 

101.8
 

130.5
 

29.0
 

34.0
 

RNG
 

7.4
 

6.7
 

8.9
 

2.1
 

2.2
 

LNG
 

33.9
 

47.1
 

55.5
 

12.6
 

13.7
 

Total
 

122.7
 

155.6
 

194.9
 

43.7
 

49.9
 

 
Operating data

                     

Gross margin
 

$ 69,945
 

$ 76,033
 

$ 80,324
 

$ 17,748
 

42,302(1)
Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels. Corp

 

(2,516) (47,633) (101,255) (31,905) (3,871)(1)
 

(1)         See discussion under “Operations — Government Incentives” below.
 

Key trends in 2010, 2011, 2012 and the first three months of 2013.  According to the EIA, demand for natural gas fuels in the United States increased by approximately
19% during the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2012. We believe this growth in demand was attributable primarily to the rising prices of gasoline and diesel
relative to CNG and LNG during these periods and increasingly stringent environmental regulations affecting vehicle fleets.

 
The number of fueling stations we served grew from 196 at December 31, 2009 to 358 at March 31, 2013 (an 82.7% increase). Included in this number are all of the

CNG and LNG fueling stations we own, maintain or with which we have a fueling supply contract. The amount of CNG, RNG, and LNG gasoline gallon equivalents we
delivered from 2010 to 2012 increased by 58.8%. The increase in gasoline gallon equivalents delivered was the primary contributor to increased revenues during 2010, 2011
and 2012. In addition, beginning in 2011, we also benefitted from increased revenues from compressor sales and fueling station installations as a result of our acquisitions of
IMW Industries, Ltd. (“IMW”) and Wyoming Northstar Incorporated and its affiliated companies (“Northstar”), which occurred during the third and fourth quarters of 2010.



 
Our fuel cost of sales also increased during these periods, which was attributable primarily to increased costs related to delivering more CNG and LNG to our

customers in 2010 through 2012 and the first quarter of 2013. Starting in 2011, the cost of sales related to compressors sold through IMW and fueling station installations
performed by Northstar also contributed to the increase.   Cost of sales can vary between periods due to timing of station construction sale activity.

 
Since the last half of 2009, we have experienced reduced margins in certain markets, particularly in the municipal transit and refuse sectors. The reduction in margins

is primarily a result of increased competition and sales agreements with larger entities that have greater pricing leverage. Also, in many cases, our agreements with our
customers, including governmental agencies, are subject to a competitive bidding process and we have been required to reduce our prices to maintain our contracts as they
come up for bid. In addition, in 2010 and 2011, we won several contracts with a transit agency in California that have significant volume but smaller margins than we typically
generate on our fuel sales. As a result of all of these factors, the overall average margin on our fuel sales across our business decreased in 2011.

 
We believe that our margins on fuel sales will improve in the future to the extent we are successful in increasing our retail CNG and LNG fueling operations, which is

where we earn our highest margins. If our retail CNG and LNG fueling operations do not grow, we may experience further reduced margins. We may also lose contracts with
governmental customers if we are unwilling or unable to reduce our prices or lose in the competitive bidding process, which would reduce our volumes. We will need to
increase our business with non-government entities to replace volumes lost in competitive bid procurements when we are not successful in retaining the contracts.
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During 2012 and the first three months in 2013, prices for oil, gasoline, and diesel fuel were generally substantially higher than the price for natural gas. Oil hit a high
of $107.07 in February 2012 and settled at $97.23 per barrel on March 31, 2013. In California, average retail prices for gasoline were $3.68 per gallon in January 2012, hit a
high of $4.71 per gallon in October 2012, and settled at $4.11 per gallon at March 31, 2013. Average retail prices for diesel fuel in California were $4.05 per diesel gallon in
January 2012, hit a high of $4.50 per diesel gallon in September 2012, and settled at $4.15 per diesel gallon at March 31, 2013. Higher gasoline and diesel prices improve our
margins on fuel sales to the extent we price our fuel at a discount to gasoline or diesel and natural gas prices do not increase by a corresponding amount. During this time
period, the price for natural gas increased slightly. The NYMEX price for natural gas fluctuated from $3.08 per MMbtu in January 2012 to $3.71 per MMbtu in
December 2012, and settled at $3.43 per MMbtu in March 2013. The average retail sales price of our CNG fuel sold in the Los Angeles metropolitan area ranged from
$2.75 per gallon for the month of January 2012 to $2.90 per gallon for the month of March 2013. The average retail sales price of our LNG fuel sold in the Los Angeles
metropolitan area ranged from $2.48 per gallon during January 2012 to $2.70 per gallon for the month of March 2013.

 
Recent developments.  In January 2013, certain federal fuel tax credits were extended through December 31, 2013 and made retroactive to January 1, 2012. The

amount attributed to 2012, $20.8 million, has been recorded by us in the first quarter of 2013, the period in which the law was passed. In March 2013, we sold our ownership
interest in our joint venture in Peru for approximately $6.1 million after receiving a dividend distribution of approximately $1.1 million (see note 9 to our condensed
consolidated financial statements). In January and February 2013, an aggregate of $4.0 million of principal and accrued interest under an SLG Note (as defined and discussed
elsewhere in this Item 2 and in note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements) was converted by the holder into 268,664 shares of our common stock.

 
Anticipated future trends.  We anticipate that, over the long term, the prices for gasoline and diesel will continue to be significantly higher than the price of natural gas

as a vehicle fuel, and more stringent emissions requirements will continue to make natural gas vehicles an attractive alternative to traditional gasoline and diesel powered
vehicles. Our belief that natural gas will continue, over the long term, to be a cheaper vehicle fuel than gasoline or diesel is based in large part on the growth in United States
natural gas production in recent years.

 
We believe there will be significant growth in the consumption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel among vehicle fleets, and our goal is to capitalize on this trend and

enhance our leadership position as this market expands. With our acquisitions of IMW and Northstar, we are a fully integrated provider of advanced compression technology,
station-building and fueling. We also anticipate expanding our sales of CNG and LNG in the other markets in which we operate, including trucking, refuse hauling, airports,
taxis and public transit. Consistent with the anticipated growth of our business, we also expect that our operating costs and capital expenditures will increase, primarily from the
anticipated expansion of our station network or LNG production capacity, as well as the logistics of delivering more CNG and LNG to our customers. We also anticipate that
we will continue to seek to acquire assets and/or businesses that are in the natural gas fueling infrastructure or RNG production business that may require us to raise additional
capital. Additionally, we have and will continue to increase our sales and marketing team and other necessary personnel as we seek to expand our existing markets and enter
new markets, which will also result in increased costs.

 
We anticipate the commercial roll-out of natural gas engines that are well-suited for the U.S. heavy-duty over-the-road (“OTR”) trucking market, together with the

economic and environmental benefits of natural gas fuel, will result in increased adoption of natural gas fueled trucks by the U.S. trucking industry. Heavy-duty trucks in the
United States are generally high-volume consumers of vehicle fuel, and we believe many use 20,000 gallons or more per truck per year, and the lower cost of natural gas
compared to regular gasoline and diesel would result in substantial fuel savings for the operator. With over eight million heavy-duty trucks registered in the U.S. market, we
believe that this market may become our largest market. As a result, we have made a significant commitment of capital and other resources to build a nationwide network of
natural gas truck fueling stations, which we refer to as “America’s Natural Gas Highway,” or “ANGH,” on the interstate highway system and in major metropolitan areas that
will enable natural gas fueled freight trucking coast to coast and border to border within the 48 continental states. We expect America’s Natural Gas Highway to initially include
approximately 150 truck fueling stations, of which 70 ANGH stations were completed at the end of 2012. Of these 70 stations, seven are open and selling LNG, and the
remainder are planned to open as natural gas engines that are well-suited for the trucking market (including the CWI 11.9 liter engine) become available and trucks powered by
such engines are deployed in the geographic areas where the stations are located. We expect to build approximately 40 - 60 additional ANGH stations in 2013, depending upon
the deployment of natural gas trucks, demand for LNG, and our ability to identify and obtain suitable locations for LNG stations, among other things. Many ANGH stations are
located at Pilot-Flying J Travel Centers already serving goods movement trucking.

 
Many governmental entities, which represented approximately 27.2% of our revenues from 2010 through March 31, 2013, are experiencing significant budget deficits

and have been, and may continue to be, unable to invest in new natural gas vehicles for their transit or refuse fleets. They may also be compelled to reduce public transportation
and services, or the prices they pay for these services, which would negatively affect our business.
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Sources of liquidity and anticipated capital expenditures.  Liquidity is the ability to meet present and future financial obligations either through operating cash flows,
the sale or maturity of existing assets, or by the acquisition of additional funds through capital management. Historically, our principal sources of liquidity have consisted of
cash provided by operations and financing activities.

 
Our business plan calls for approximately $139.5 million in capital expenditures from April 1, 2013 through the end of 2013, primarily related to construction of new

fueling stations, including ANGH stations, expanding and constructing our LNG plants, expanding and building landfill gas processing plants, and the purchase of LNG trailers.



We may also elect to invest additional amounts in companies or assets in the natural gas fueling infrastructure, services and production industries, including RNG production,
and to make capital expenditures to build additional LNG production facilities or to otherwise secure future LNG supply. We will need to raise additional capital as necessary to
fund any capital expenditures or investments that we cannot fund through available cash or cash generated by operations. The timing and necessity of any future capital raise
will depend on our rate of new station construction and potential merger or acquisition activity. For more information, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Capital
Expenditures” below. We may not be able to raise capital on terms that are favorable to existing stockholders or at all. Any inability to raise capital may impair our ability to
invest in new stations, develop natural gas fueling infrastructure and invest in strategic transactions or acquisitions and may reduce our ability to grow our business and
generate increased revenues.

 
Business risks and uncertainties.  Our business and prospects are exposed to numerous risks and uncertainties. For more information, see “Risk Factors” in

Part II, Item 1A of this report.
 

Operations
 

We generate revenues principally by selling CNG and LNG and providing O&M services to our vehicle fleet customers. For the three months ended March 31, 2013,
CNG and RNG (together) represented 73% and LNG represented 27% of our natural gas sales (on a gasoline gallon equivalent basis). To a lesser extent, we generate revenues
by designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or leasing those stations to our customers. We also generate revenues through sales of RNG, sales of natural gas
vehicles, sales of advanced natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment and maintenance services, providing financing for our customers’ natural gas vehicle
purchases, and selling RIN and LCFS Credits.

 
CNG Sales
 

We sell CNG through fueling stations located on our customers’ properties and through our network of public access fueling stations. At these CNG fueling stations,
we procure natural gas from local utilities or brokers under standard, floating-rate arrangements and then compress and dispense it into our customers’ vehicles. Our CNG sales
are made primarily through contracts with our fleet customers. Under these contracts, pricing is principally determined on an index-plus basis, which is calculated by adding a
margin to the local index or utility price for natural gas. CNG sales revenues based on an index-plus methodology increase or decrease as a result of an increase or decrease in
the price of natural gas. We also sell a small amount of CNG under fixed-price contracts. We will continue to offer fixed price contracts as appropriate and consistent with our
natural gas hedging policy. Our fleet customers typically are billed monthly based on the volume of CNG sold at a station. The remainder of our CNG sales are on a per fill-up
basis at prices we set at the pump based on prevailing market conditions. These customers typically pay using a credit card at the station.

 
LNG Production and Sales
 

We obtain LNG from our own plants as well as through relationships with suppliers. We own and operate LNG liquefaction plants near Houston, Texas and Boron,
California, and we plan to build two new LNG plants in connection with our strategic collaboration with GE. We expect that these additional plants, as well as our planned
expansion of our Boron, California plant, and other plants to be built by us or third parties in the future, will be necessary to secure sufficient sources of LNG.

 
We sell LNG to fleet customers, who typically own and operate their fueling stations. Increasingly, we also sell LNG to fleet and other customers at our public-access

LNG stations. During 2012, we procured 44% of our LNG from third- party producers, and we produced the remainder of the LNG at our liquefaction plants in Texas and
California. We expect to enter additional purchase contracts with third party LNG producers in the future. For LNG that we purchase from third parties, we have entered into,
and may enter into additional “take or pay” contracts that require us to purchase minimum volumes of LNG at index- based rates. We deliver LNG via our fleet of 80 tanker
trailers to fueling stations, where it is stored and dispensed in liquid form into vehicles. We sell LNG principally through supply contracts that are priced on either a fixed-price
or index-plus basis. LNG sales revenues based on an index-plus methodology increase or decrease as a result of an increase or decrease in the price of natural gas. We will
continue to offer fixed price contracts as appropriate and consistent with our natural gas hedging policy. Our LNG contracts provide that we charge our customers periodically
based on the volume of LNG supplied. We also sell LNG on a per fill-up basis at prices we set at the pump based on prevailing market conditions. These customers typically
pay using a credit card at the station.
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Government Incentives
 

From October 1, 2006 through December 31, 2011, we received a federal fuel tax credit (“VETC”) of $0.50 per gasoline gallon equivalent of CNG and $0.50 per
liquid gallon of LNG that we sold as vehicle fuel. Based on the service relationship with our customers, either we or our customers were able to claim the credit. We recorded
these tax credits as revenues in our condensed consolidated statements of operations as the credits are fully refundable and do not need to offset tax liabilities to be received. As
such, the credits are not deemed income tax credits under the accounting guidance applicable to income taxes. In addition, we believe the credits are properly recorded as
revenue because we often incorporate the tax credits into our pricing with our customers, thereby lowering the actual price per gallon we charge them.

 
The American Taxpayer Relief Act, signed into law on January 2, 2013, provided a one-year extension for several tax credits affecting alternative fuels, including the

$0.50 per gallon alternative-fuel tax credit for CNG and LNG. The tax credits were extended through December 31, 2013 and also made retroactive to January 1, 2012. VETC
revenues recognized during the three month period ended March 31, 2013 were $26.2 million, which includes $20.8 million for CNG and LNG we sold in 2012.

 
Operation and Maintenance
 

We generate a portion of our revenue from operation and maintenance agreements for CNG and LNG fueling stations where we do not supply the fuel. We refer to this
portion of our business as “O&M.” At these fueling stations the customer contracts directly with a local broker or utility to purchase natural gas. For O&M services, we do not
sell the fuel itself, but generally charge a per-gallon fee based on the volume of fuel dispensed at the station. We include the volume of fuel dispensed at the stations at which
we provide O&M services in our calculation of aggregate gasoline gallon equivalents delivered.

 
Station Construction
 

We generate a portion of our revenue from designing and constructing fueling stations and selling or leasing the stations to our customers. For these projects, we act as
general contractor or supervise qualified third-party contractors. We charge construction fees or lease rates based on the size and complexity of the project.

 
Vehicle Acquisition and Finance
 

We offer vehicle finance services for some of our customers’ purchases of natural gas vehicles or the conversion of their existing gasoline or diesel powered vehicles to
operate on natural gas. We loan to certain qualifying customers a portion of, and on occasion up to 100% of, the purchase price of their natural gas vehicles. We may also lease
vehicles in the future. Where appropriate, we apply for and receive state and federal incentives associated with natural gas vehicle purchases and pass these benefits through to
our customers. We may also secure vehicles to place with customers or pay deposits with respect to such vehicles prior to receiving a firm order from our customers, which we



may be required to purchase if our customer fails to purchase the vehicle as anticipated. Through March 31, 2013, we have not generated significant revenue from vehicle
financing activities.

 
RNG
 

We own a 70% interest in a RNG production facility at the McCommas Bluff landfill located in Dallas, Texas. We sell RNG produced at the facility to Shell Energy
North America (US) L.P. under a gas sale agreement and, depending upon RNG production volumes, we have the ability to sell RNG as a vehicle fuel. We own a second RNG
production facility located at a Republic Services landfill in Canton, Michigan. This facility was completed in 2012, and we have entered into a ten-year fixed-price sale
contract for the majority of the RNG that we expect the facility to produce (the effectiveness of such contract is subject to the California Energy Commission (“CEC”)
certifying the facility). We are building a third RNG facility at a Republic Services landfill in North Shelby, Tennessee, and we expect the facility to be operational during the
first quarter of 2014. We are seeking to expand our RNG business by pursuing additional RNG production projects. We sell some of the RNG we currently produce, and expect
to sell a significant amount of the RNG we produce at the facilities we are building and plan to build, through our natural gas fueling infrastructure for use as a vehicle fuel. In
addition, we plan to purchase RNG from third party producers, and sell that RNG for vehicle use through our fueling infrastructure.

 
24

Table of Contents
 

Vehicle Conversions
 

Our subsidiary, BAF Technologies, Inc. (“BAF”), provides natural gas vehicle (“NGV”) conversions, alternative fuel systems, application engineering, service and
warranty support and research and development. BAF’s vehicle conversions include taxis, vans, pick-up trucks and shuttle buses. BAF utilizes advanced natural gas system
integration technology and has certified NGVs under standards of both the Environmental Protection Agency and the California Air Resources Board achieving Super Ultra
Low Emission Vehicle emissions. In 2012, we completed our purchase of all of ServoTech Engineering, Inc. (“ServoTech”). ServoTech provides, among other services, design
and engineering services for natural gas engine systems. We generate revenues through the sale of natural gas vehicles that have been converted to run on natural gas by BAF,
and design and engineering services for natural gas engine systems by ServoTech. For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, BAF and ServoTech combined
contributed approximately $8.3 million, and $4.2 million, respectively, to our revenue.

 
Natural Gas Fueling Compressors
 

Our subsidiary, IMW, manufactures and services non-lubricated natural gas fueling compressors and related equipment for the global natural gas fueling market. IMW
is headquartered near Vancouver, British Columbia, has other manufacturing facilities near Shanghai, China, and in Ferndale, Washington, and has sales and service offices in
Bangladesh, Colombia, Peru and the United States. For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, IMW contributed approximately $13.5 million and $17.6 million,
respectively, to our revenue.

 
Sales of RIN and LCFS Credits
 

We generate LCFS Credits when we sell RNG and conventional natural gas for use as a vehicle fuel in California, and we generate RIN Credits when we sell RNG for
use as a vehicle fuel. We can sell these RIN and LCFS Credits to third parties who need the RIN and LCFS Credits to comply with federal and state requirements. In 2012, we
realized $2.9 million in revenue through the sale of LCFS Credits. During the three months period ended March 31, 2013, we realized $0.7 million and $0.2 million in revenue
through the sale of LCFS and RIN Credits, respectively. We anticipate that we will generate and sell increasing numbers of RIN and LCFS Credits as we grow our business and
sell escalating amounts of CNG, LNG and RNG for use as a vehicle fuel.

 
Volatility of Earnings and Cash Flows
 

During 2012 and the first three months of 2013, our futures contracts qualified for hedge accounting, so we had no derivative gains or losses recognized in our
consolidated statements of operations for these periods. In accordance with our natural gas hedging policy, we plan to structure all futures contracts as cash flow hedges under
the applicable derivative accounting guidance, but we cannot be certain that they will qualify. See “Risk Management Activities” below. If the futures contracts do not qualify
for hedge accounting, we could incur significant increases or decreases in our earnings based on fluctuations in the market value of the contracts from period to period.

 
Additionally, we are required to maintain a margin account to cover losses related to our natural gas futures contracts. Futures contracts are valued daily, and if our

contracts are in loss positions at the end of a trading day, our broker will transfer the amount of the losses from our margin account to a clearinghouse. If at any time the funds
in our margin account drop below a specified maintenance level, our broker will issue a margin call that requires us to restore the balance. Consequently, these payments could
significantly impact our cash balances. At March 31, 2013, we had paid $0.6 million in margin deposits, which are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in our
condensed consolidated balance sheet.

 
Volatility of Earnings Related to Series I Warrants
 

Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) authoritative guidance, we are required to record the change in the fair market value of our Series I warrants in
our consolidated financial statements. We have recognized a loss of $13.5 million and $0.5 million related to recording the estimated fair value changes of our Series I warrants
in the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. See note 17 to our condensed consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere herein. Our earnings or
loss per share may be materially affected by future gains or losses we are required to recognize as a result of valuing our Series I warrants. As of March 31, 2013, 2,130,682 of
the Series I warrants remained outstanding.
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Volatility of Earnings Related to Contingent Consideration
 

Under business combination accounting guidance, we are required to record the change in the value of the contingent consideration related to our acquisitions of IMW
in our financial statements through the contingency period, which expires on March 31, 2014.

 
If the anticipated results of IMW increase or decrease during future periods, we may be required to recognize material losses or gains based on the valuation of the

increased or decreased consideration due to the former IMW shareholder. During the first three months of 2012  we recognized a gain of $2.6 million related to the estimated
change in value of the IMW contingent consideration. There was no change in the value of the IMW contingent consideration during the first three months of 2013 and



therefore no gain or loss was recorded. Our earnings or loss per share may be materially affected by future gains or losses we are required to recognize as a result of changes in
the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration amount.

 
Debt Compliance
 

In connection with our acquisition of IMW, we entered into a credit agreement with HSBC that requires IMW to comply with certain financial covenants (see note 12
to our condensed consolidated financial statements). If we were to violate a covenant, we would seek a waiver from the bank, which the bank is not obligated to grant. If the
bank does not grant a waiver, all of the obligations under the credit agreement would be due and payable. IMW was in compliance with these covenants as of March 31, 2013.

 
The indenture and the loan agreement entered into by Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC (“DCEMB”), our 70% owned subsidiary, as part of issuing its

Revenue Bonds, as defined and disclosed in note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements, have certain non-financial debt covenants with which DCEMB must
comply. As of March 31, 2013, DCEMB was in compliance with its debt covenants.

 
The loan agreement we entered into as part of issuing the CHK Notes, as defined and discussed elsewhere in note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial

statements, has certain non-financial debt covenants with which we must comply. As of March 31, 2013, we were in compliance with these debt covenants.
 
The convertible note purchase agreements we entered into as part of issuing the SLG Notes, as defined and discussed in note 12 to our condensed consolidated

financial statements, have certain non-financial debt covenants with which we must comply. As of March 31, 2013, we were in compliance with these covenants.
 
The GE Credit Agreement, as defined and discussed in note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements, contains certain covenants with which we must

comply. As of March 31, 2013, we were in compliance with these covenants.
 

Risk Management Activities
 

Our risk management activities, including the revised natural gas hedging policy, are discussed in Part II, Item 7 (Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations) of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. For the quarter ended March 31, 2013, there were no material changes to our risk management
activities.

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2013, there were no material changes to the “Critical Accounting Policies” discussed in Part II, Item 7 (Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) of our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

For a description of recently issued accounting pronouncements, see note 18 to our condensed consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere herein.
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Results of Operations
 

The following is a more detailed discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the periods presented:
 

   

Three Months
Ended

March 31,
 

   

2012
 

2013
 

Statement of Operations Data:
       

Revenue:
       

Product revenues
 

89.3% 89.7%
Service revenues

 

10.7
 

10.3
 

Total revenues
 

100.0
 

100.0
 

Operating expenses:
       

Cost of sales:
       

Product cost of sales
 

70.5
 

50.3
 

Service cost of sales
 

5.4
 

4.2
 

Derivative loss on Series I warrant valuation
 

18.3
 

0.5
 

Selling, general and administrative
 

33.7
 

35.3
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

11.1
 

10.9
 

Total operating expenses
 

139.0
 

101.2
 

Operating loss
 

(39.0) (1.2)
Interest expense, net

 

(5.0) (5.5)
Other income (expense), net

 

1.1
 

(0.4)
Income (loss) from equity method investment

 

0.1
 

(0.1)
Gain from sale of equity method investment

 

—
 

5.1
 

Loss before income taxes
 

(42.8) (2.1)
Income tax expense

 

(0.3) (1.9)
Net loss

 

(43.1) (4.0)
Income of noncontrolling interest

 

(0.2) 0.0
 

Net loss attributable to Clean Energy Fuels Corp.
 

(43.3) (4.0)
 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2013
 

Revenue.  Revenue increased by $19.4 million to $93.0 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $73.6 million in the three months ended March 31,
2012. A portion of this increase was the result of an increase in the number of gallons delivered between periods from 43.7 million gasoline gallon equivalents to 49.9 million
gasoline gallon equivalents. The increase in volume was primarily from an increase in CNG sales of 5.0 million gallons. Our net increase in CNG volume was primarily from
15 new refuse customers, six new airport customers, three new transit customers and one new trucking customer, which together accounted for 3.5 million gallons of the CNG



volume increase between periods. We also experienced an increase of 1.5 million gallons in CNG volume between periods from our existing airport, refuse and trucking
customers, combined with the volume growth from our share of our joint venture in Peru. Further, we experienced an increase of 1.1 million gallons in LNG volume between
periods, which was primarily from two new trucking customers, two new industrial customers, two new transit customers and one new refuse customer. We experienced an
increase in our RNG sales (primarily through our 70% share of the RNG sales at DCEMB) of 0.1 million gallons between periods due to increased RNG production at
DCEMB’s facility. Revenue attributable to VETC increased by $26.2 million between periods, including $20.8 million related to recording all the 2012 VETC revenue in the
first quarter of 2013, as a result of legislation passed in January 2013 that made the fuel tax credits retroactive to January 1, 2012 and extended them to December 31, 2013.
Revenue attributable to IMW increased between periods by $4.1 million. Also contributing to the revenue increase between periods were $0.9 million of LCFS Credits and RIN
Credits that we recognized during the period. These increases were offset by a $12.2 million decrease in station construction revenue between periods. We also experienced a
slight decrease in our effective price per gallon that we charged to our customers between periods. Our effective price per gallon charged was $0.83 in the three months ended
March 31, 2013, which represents a $0.01 per gallon decrease from $0.84 per gallon in the three months ended March 31, 2012. Revenue also decreased by $4.1 million
between periods due to decreased sales of natural gas vehicle equipment and emission control services by BAF.

 
Cost of sales.  Cost of sales decreased by $5.2 million to $50.7 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $55.9 million in the three months ended

March 31, 2012. Our cost of sales primarily decreased between periods as a result of $11.6 million in decreased station construction costs between periods. We also experienced
a $1.8 million decrease in costs related to BAF’s vehicle equipment sales and emission control services between periods as BAF’s sales of natural gas vehicle equipment
decreased. These decreases were offset by the increase in our cost of sales between periods as a result of delivering more volume to our customers. Cost of sales that IMW
incurred increased between periods by $4.8 million due to their increased sales between periods. Our effective cost per gallon was $0.55 per gallon for both periods.
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Derivative loss on Series I warrant valuation.  Derivative loss decreased by $13.0 million to $0.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $13.5
million in the three months ended March 31, 2012. The amounts represent the non-cash impact with respect to valuing our outstanding Series I warrants based on our mark-to-
market accounting for the warrants during the periods. (See note 17 to our condensed consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere herein.)

 
Selling, general and administrative.  Selling, general and administrative increased by $8.0 million to $32.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from

$24.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2012. The increase was primarily related to our continued business growth. Salaries and employee benefits increased by $2.9
million between periods, primarily due to higher average salaries and benefits per employee during the first quarter of 2013 compared to 2012, as we increased our sales force
by 26 and hired more management level positions to help support America’s Natural Gas Highway and our continued business expansion. Related to our growth, we
experienced a $1.0 million increase in consulting, legal, business insurance, rent and occupancy, travel and entertainment, and employee recruiting expenses between periods.
Also contributing to the increase between periods was the effect of recording $2.7 million of lower gains on the IMW contingent consideration and an increase in our stock
based compensation expense of $1.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013.

 
Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization increased by $2.1 million to $10.2 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $8.1

million in the three months ended March 31, 2012. This increase was primarily due to additional depreciation expense in the three months ended March 31, 2013 related to
increased property and equipment balances between periods, primarily related to our expanded station network, including our build-out efforts of America’s Natural Gas
Highway. In addition, our amortization expense in the three months ended March 31, 2013 includes increased amortization expense related to our ServoTech acquisition that we
completed on April 30, 2012.

 
Interest expense, net.  Interest expense, net, increased by $1.4 million to $5.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $3.7 million for the three

months ended March 31, 2012. This increase was primarily the result of an increase in interest expense related to the $50 million of convertible notes we issued in July 2012.
(See note 12 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for a description of our outstanding debt).

 
Other income (expense), net.  Other income (expense), net, decreased by $1.2 million to $0.4 million of expense for the three months ended March 31, 2013, compared

to $0.8 million of income for the three months ended March 31, 2012. This decrease was primarily due to foreign currency exchange rate changes between periods on our IMW
purchase notes.

 
Income from equity method investment.  During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we recorded $0.1 million of equity in the loss of our 49% interest in our

Peruvian joint venture, compared to $0.1 million of equity in the income during the of the three months ended March 31, 2012.  We sold our interest in our Peruvian joint
venture in March 2013.

 
Gain from sale of equity method investment.  During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we recorded $4.7 million gain from sale of our 49% interest in our

Peruvian joint venture.
 
Income of noncontrolling interest.  During the three months ended March 31, 2012  and 2013, we recorded and $0.1 million and $0.04 million, respectively, for the

noncontrolling interest in the net income of DCEMB. The noncontrolling interest represents the 30% interest of our joint venture partner.
 

Seasonality and Inflation
 

To some extent, we experience seasonality in our results of operations. Natural gas vehicle fuel amounts consumed by some of our customers tends to be higher in
summer months when buses and other fleet vehicles use more fuel to power their air conditioning systems. Natural gas commodity prices tend to be higher in the fall and winter
months due to increased overall demand for natural gas for heating during these periods.

 
Since our inception, inflation has not significantly affected our operating results. However, costs for construction, repairs, maintenance, electricity and insurance are all

subject to inflationary pressures and could affect our ability to maintain our stations adequately, build new stations, build new LNG plants and expand our existing facilities, or
materially increase our operating costs.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We require cash to fund our operating expenses and working capital requirements, including outlays for the construction of new fueling stations, construction of LNG
production facilities, the purchase of new LNG tanker trailers, investment in RNG production, mergers and acquisitions, the financing of natural gas vehicles for our customers
and general corporate purposes, including making deposits to support our derivative activities, geographic expansion (domestically and internationally), expanding our sales
and marketing activities, support of legislative and regulatory initiatives and for working capital for our expansion. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash on hand, cash
provided by operating activities and cash provided by financing activities.
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Liquidity
 

Cash used in operating activities was $16.9 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we
recognized $26.2 million of VETC revenue, of which $20.8 million related to 2012 as VETC was extended in January 2013 and also made retroactive to January 1, 2012.  None
of the 2013 VETC amounts were collected as of March 31, 2013.  During the three months ended March 31, 2012, we collected $1.2 million in VETC receivables related to
2011 VETC amounts. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we received a $1.1 million repayment of a note receivable and a $1.1 million dividend distribution from
our Peruvian joint venture.  We also experienced other working capital changes between periods due to timing differences related to various cash flows.

 
Cash used in investing activities was $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013, compared to $32.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012.

We purchased property and equipment for $21.7 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, which is a decrease of $14.9 million from $36.6 million paid to purchase
property and equipment in the three months ended March 31, 2012. This decrease is primarily related to our slowing the pace of ANGH-related construction activity as we seek
to time such construction with commercial adoption of natural gas engines, including the Cummins-Westport 11.9 liter engine, that are well-suited for the U.S. heavy-duty
trucking market.  During both periods, restricted cash decreased as we funded the construction of America’s Natural Gas Highway and certain RNG projects. During the three
months ended March 31, 2013, we received $6.1 million related to the sale of our Peruvian joint venture. The loans we made to our customers to assist them in purchasing
natural gas vehicles decreased to $0.4 million in the three months ended March 31, 2013, from $3.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2012.  During the three
months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, we also collected on and sold $2.3 million and $2.6 million, respectively, of loans previously made to our customers. Additionally,
other than reinvesting the proceeds from matured short-term investments, we did not purchase incremental short-term investments during the three months ended March 31,
2013, compared to purchases of $4.6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2012.

 
Cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $5.9 million, compared to $0.5 million provided by financing activities for the three

months ended March 31, 2012. This decrease was primarily caused by a reduction in the proceeds we received from the exercise of employee stock options of $5.7 million
between periods.

 
Our financial position and liquidity are, and will be, influenced by a variety of factors, including our ability to generate cash flows from operations, the level of any

outstanding indebtedness and the interest we are obligated to pay on this indebtedness, our capital expenditure requirements (which consist primarily of station construction
costs, LNG plant construction costs, RNG plant construction costs and the purchase of LNG tanker trailers and equipment) and any merger or acquisition activity.
 
Sources of Cash
 

Historically, our principal sources of liquidity have consisted of cash provided by operations and financing activities. At March 31, 2013, we had total cash and cash
equivalents of $82.6 million, compared to $108.5 million at December 31, 2012.

 
On November 7, 2012, we, through two wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Borrowers”), entered into the GE Credit Agreement. Pursuant to that Agreement, GE agreed

to loan to the Borrowers up to an aggregate of $200.0 million to finance the development, construction and operation of two LNG production facilities, each with an expected
production capacity of approximately 250,000 LNG gallons per day.

 
Capital Expenditures
 

Our business plan calls for approximately $139.5 million in capital expenditures from April 1, 2013 through the end of 2013, primarily related to construction of new
fueling stations, including stations along ANGH, construction and expansion of our LNG plants, expansion and construction of landfill gas processing plants, and the purchase
of LNG trailers. We may also elect to invest additional amounts in companies or assets in the natural gas fueling infrastructure, services and production industries, including
RNG production. We will need to raise additional capital as necessary to fund any capital expenditures or investments that we cannot fund through available cash or cash
generated by operations. The timing and necessity of any future capital raise will depend on our rate of new station construction and potential merger or acquisition activity. We
may not be able to raise capital on terms that are favorable to existing stockholders or at all. Any inability to raise capital may impair our ability to invest in new stations,
develop natural gas fueling infrastructure and invest in strategic transactions or acquisitions and may reduce the ability of our business to grow and generate increased revenues.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

At March 31, 2013, we had the following off-balance sheet arrangements that had, or are reasonably likely to have, a material effect on our financial condition.
 
·                  outstanding surety bonds for construction contracts and general corporate purposes totaling $54.0 million,
 
·                  two take-or-pay contracts for the purchase of LNG,
 
·                  operating leases where we are the lessee,
 
·                  operating leases where we are the lessor and owner of the equipment, and
 
·                  firm commitments to sell CNG and LNG at fixed prices.
 
We provide surety bonds primarily for construction contracts in the ordinary course of business, as a form of guarantee. No liability has been recorded in connection

with our surety bonds as we do not believe, based on historical experience and information currently available, that it is probable that any amounts will be required to be paid
under these arrangements for which we will not be reimbursed.

 
We have two contracts that require us to purchase minimum volumes of LNG at index based prices. One contract expires in June 2014 and the other contract expires in

October 2017.
 
We have entered into operating lease arrangements for certain equipment and for our office and field operating locations in the ordinary course of business. The terms

of our leases expire at various dates through 2018. Additionally, in November 2006, we entered into a ground lease for 36 acres in California on which we built our California
LNG liquefaction plant. The lease is for an initial term of thirty years and requires payments of $0.2 million per year, plus up to $0.1 million per year for each 30 million



gallons of production capacity utilized, subject to future adjustment based on consumer price index changes. We must also pay a royalty to the landlord for each gallon of LNG
produced at the facility, as well as a fee for certain other services that the landlord will provide.

 
We are also the lessor in various leases with our customers, whereby our customers lease certain stations and equipment that we own.
 

Item 3.—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risk factors, including changes in general economic conditions, domestic and foreign competition,
commodity price risk and foreign currency exchange rates.

 
Commodity Risk.  We are subject to market risk with respect to our sales of natural gas, which has historically been subject to volatile market conditions. Our exposure

to market risk is heightened when we have a fixed price sales contract with a customer that is not covered by a futures contract, or when we are otherwise unable to pass
through natural gas price increases to customers. Natural gas prices and availability are affected by many factors, including weather conditions, overall economic conditions
and foreign and domestic governmental regulation and relations.

 
Natural gas costs represented 16% (or 21% excluding BAF, IMW and Northstar) of our cost of sales for 2012 and 24% (or 33% excluding BAF, IMW and Northstar)

for the three months ended March 31, 2013.
 
To reduce price risk caused by market fluctuations in natural gas, we may enter into exchange traded natural gas futures contracts. These arrangements also expose us

to the risk of financial loss in situations where the other party to the contract defaults on its contract or there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying
price in the contract and the actual price of natural gas we pay at the delivery point.

 
We account for these futures contracts in accordance with FASB authoritative guidance on derivatives. The accounting under this guidance for changes in the fair value

of a derivative depends upon whether it has been specified in a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. To qualify for designation in a hedging
relationship, specific criteria must be met and appropriate documentation maintained.

 
The fair value of the futures contracts we use is based on quoted prices in active exchange traded or over the counter markets, which are then discounted to reflect the

time value of money for contracts applicable to future periods. The fair value of these futures contracts is continually subject to change due to market conditions. In an effort to
mitigate the volatility in our earnings related to futures activities, our board of directors adopted a revised natural gas hedging policy which restricts our ability to purchase
natural gas futures contracts and to offer fixed price sales contracts to our customers. We plan to structure prospective futures contracts so that they will be accounted for as
cash flow hedges under the FASB guidance, but we cannot be certain they will qualify. For more information, please see “—Risk Management Activities” above.
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We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to the futures contracts we hold as of March 31, 2013 to hedge the fixed
price component of certain supply contracts. If the price of natural gas were to fluctuate (increase or decrease) by 10% from the price quoted on NYMEX on March 31, 2013
($3.43 per Mcf), we could expect a corresponding fluctuation in the value of the contracts of approximately $0.02 million.

 
Foreign exchange rate risk.  Because we have foreign operations, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange gains and losses. Since the functional currency of our

foreign operations is in their local currency, the currency effects of translating the financial statements of those foreign subsidiaries, which operate in local currency
environments, are included in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of consolidated equity and do not impact earnings. However, foreign currency
transaction gains and losses not in our subsidiaries’ functional currency do impact earnings and resulted in approximately $0.5 million of losses for the three months ended
March 31, 2013. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, our primary exposure to foreign currency rates related to our Canadian operations that had certain outstanding
notes payable denominated in the U.S. dollar which were not hedged.

 
We have prepared a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk with respect to our monetary transactions denominated in a foreign currency. If the

exchange rate on these assets and liabilities were to fluctuate by 10% from the rate as of March 31, 2013, we would expect a corresponding fluctuation in the value of the assets
and liabilities of approximately $0.4 million.

 
Item 4.—Controls and Procedures
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

We regularly review our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and increase
efficiency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment. Changes may include such activities as implementing new, more efficient systems,
consolidating activities, and migrating processes.

 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q that have

materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 

PART II.—OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1.—Legal Proceedings
 

We are party to various legal actions that have arisen in the ordinary course of our business. During the course of our operations, we are also subject to audit by tax
authorities for varying periods in various federal, state, local, and foreign tax jurisdictions. Disputes have and may continue to arise during the course of such audits as to facts
and matters of law. It is impossible at this time to determine the ultimate liabilities that we may incur resulting from any lawsuits, claims and proceedings, audits, commitments,
contingencies and related matters or the timing of these liabilities, if any. If these matters were to be ultimately resolved unfavorably, an outcome not currently anticipated, it is



possible that such outcome could have a material adverse effect upon our consolidated financial position or results of operations. However, we believe that the ultimate
resolution of such actions will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.
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Item 1A.—Risk Factors
 

An investment in our Company involves a high degree of risk of loss. You should carefully consider the risk factors discussed below and all of the other information
included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q before you decide to purchase shares of our common stock. We believe the risks and uncertainties described below are the most
significant we face. The occurrence of any of the following risks could harm our business. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline. Additional risks
and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our operations.

 
We have a history of losses and may incur additional losses in the future.
 

For the three months ended March 31,2013, we incurred pre-tax losses of $2.0 million, which included a derivative loss of $0.5 million related to marking to market
the value of our Series I warrants.  In 2010, 2011 and 2012, we incurred pre-tax losses of $4.2 million, $48.2 million, and $99.6 million, respectively. Our loss for 2010 was
decreased by a derivative gain of $10.3 million on our Series I warrants; our loss for 2011 includes a $2.7 million derivative gain; and our loss for 2012 includes a $3.4 million
derivative gain. During 2010 and 2011, our losses were substantially decreased by our receipt of approximately $16.0 million and $17.9 million of revenue from federal fuel tax
credits, respectively. The program under which we received such credits expired on December 31, 2011; however, the American Taxpayer Relief Act (which was signed into
law on January 2, 2013) reinstated such program retroactive to January 1, 2012 and extended it through December 31, 2013. We recognized $20.8 million of revenue from the
federal fuel tax credits related to 2012 during the first quarter of 2013. To build our business and improve our financial performance, we must continue to invest in developing
the natural gas vehicle fuel market and offer our customers competitively priced natural gas vehicle fuel and other products and services. If we do not achieve or maintain
profitability that can be sustained in the absence of federal fuel tax credits and other government incentive programs, our business will suffer and the price of our common stock
may drop. In addition, if the price of our common stock increases during future periods when our Series I warrants are outstanding, we may be required to recognize material
losses based on the valuation of the outstanding Series I warrants.

 
If commercial introduction of the CWI 11.9 liter engine is further delayed, or if the engine is not adopted by truck operators as we anticipate, our results of operations and
business prospects will be adversely affected.
 

We believe that our entry into the heavy duty truck market, and the execution of our ANGH initiative, depends upon the successful launch of the CWI 11.9 liter engine
(or a comparable engine that we believe would be well-suited for the U.S. heavy-duty OTR trucking market). The launch of this engine has been previously delayed and may be
further delayed, and we have no control over when the engine will become commercially available. Further, if the CWI 11.9 liter engine becomes commercially available, it
may not be adopted and deployed by heavy-duty truck operators in sufficient numbers to justify building America’s Natural Gas Highway. Heavy-duty trucks powered by the
engine will cost more, as compared to comparable diesel trucks, and may experience operational or performance issues. If the CWI 11.9 liter engine does not become
commercially available or if meaningful numbers of the engine are not deployed, our business and financial results could be harmed.

 
The failure of our initiative to build America’s Natural Gas Highway would materially and adversely affect our financial results and business.
 

We are building America’s Natural Gas Highway, a network of natural gas truck fueling stations on interstate highways and in major metropolitan areas. Building
America’s Natural Gas Highway requires a significant commitment of capital and other resources, and our ability to successfully execute our plan faces substantial risks,
including:

 
·                  We have no influence over when natural gas trucks powered by engines that are well-suited for the United States heavy duty truck market (including the Cummins-

Westport 11.9 liter engine) will become commercially available;
 
·                  Operators may not adopt heavy-duty natural gas trucks due to cost, actual or perceived performance issues, or other factors that are outside our control;
 
·                  We may not be able to identify, obtain and retain sufficient rights to use suitable locations for ANGH stations;
 
·                  Development of America’s Natural Gas Highway will require substantial additional amounts of capital, which may not be available on terms favorable to us or at

all;
 
·                  We may experience delays in building stations, including delays in obtaining necessary permits and approvals;
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·                  We may not be able to hire and retain the necessary qualified personnel, and our operational infrastructure and systems may be inadequate;
 
·                  We may complete ANGH stations before there are sufficient numbers of customers who are capable of fueling at the stations, and if such customers do not

materialize, we will have substantial investments in assets that do not produce revenues and we may lose money on LNG fuel that is supplied to the ANGH
stations but is not purchased by customers;

 
·                  We may not be able to acquire and transport sufficient volumes of LNG to meet the needs of customers fueling at ANGH stations;
 
·                  LNG may not be the fuel of choice for the United States heavy-duty truck market; and
 
·                  Building ANGH imposes significant added responsibilities on our management team and will divert their attention from other areas of our business.
 
We must effectively manage these risks and any other risks that may arise in connection with the ANGH build-out to successfully execute our business plan. Failure to

successfully execute our ANGH initiative will materially and adversely affect our financial results, operations and business, and our ability to repay our debt.
 

Automobile and engine manufacturers currently produce very few originally manufactured natural gas vehicles and engines for the United States and Canadian markets,
which may restrict our sales of CNG, LNG and RNG.



 
Limited availability of natural gas vehicles and engine sizes restricts their wide scale introduction and narrows our potential customer base. Original equipment

manufacturers produce a small number of natural gas engines and vehicles in the U.S. and Canadian markets, and they may not make adequate investments to expand their
natural gas engine and vehicle product lines. The technology used in some of the heavy duty vehicles that run on LNG is also relatively new and has not been previously
deployed or used in large numbers of vehicles. Natural gas vehicles may require servicing and further technology refinements to address performance issues that may occur as
vehicles are deployed in large numbers and are operated under strenuous conditions. If heavy duty natural gas truck purchasers are not satisfied with truck performance,
additional heavy-duty truck engine manufacturers do not enter the market for natrual gas engines, or natural gas engines are not otherwise developed, produced and adopted in
greater numbers, our ANGH investments and natural gas fueling business may be significantly impaired, which would adversely affect our financial performance. Due to the
limited supply of natural gas vehicles, our ability to promote natural gas vehicles and our natural gas fuel sales will be restricted.

 
We will need to raise debt or equity capital to continue to fund the growth of our business.
 

We will be required to raise debt or equity capital to fund the growth of our business. At March 31, 2013, we had total cash and cash equivalents of $82.6 million,
short-term investments of $38.0 million and $1.4 million in restricted cash for capital use. Our business plan calls for approximately $139.5 million in capital expenditures from
April 1, 2013 through the end of 2013. We may also require capital for unanticipated expenses, mergers and acquisitions and strategic investments. In addition, we have
committed to significant future payments that we will be required to make in connection with our acquisitions of IMW and Northstar. At March 31, 2013, our future payments
for IMW and Northstar totaled $12.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively. Our IMW future payment obligations are in the form of promissory notes, and such notes are
secured by IMW’s assets. As a result, if we do not make scheduled IMW future payments, the party to whom such payments are due may be entitled to accelerate the maturity
of the notes and exercise other remedies available to a secured creditor.

 
Equity or debt financing options may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all. Additional sales of our common stock or securities convertible into our

common stock will dilute existing stockholders and may result in a decline in our stock price. We may also pursue debt financing options including, but not limited to,
equipment financing, the sale of convertible notes, high yield debt, asset based loans, project finance debt, or commercial bank financing. Any debt financing we obtain may
require us to make significant interest payments and to pledge some or all of our assets as security. If we are unable to obtain debt or equity financing in amounts sufficient to
fund any unanticipated expenses, capital expenditures, mergers, acquisitions or strategic investments, we will be forced to suspend or curtail these capital expenditures or
postpone or delay potential acquisitions or other strategic transactions, which would harm our business, results of operations, and future prospects.
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We are required to make substantial payments to the holders of our convertible notes.
 

At March 31, 2013, we had an aggregate of $245.0 million of convertible notes outstanding (such convertible notes were issued in July 2011, August 2011, and
July 2012). In addition, we have agreed to issue an additional $50.0 million of convertible notes in June 2013. All such convertible notes bear interest at the rate of 7.5% per
annum. The $50.0 million outstanding principal amount of convertible notes we issued in July 2011 is due and payable in July 2018; the $145.0 million outstanding principal
amount of convertible notes we issued in August 2011 is due and payable in August 2016; and the $50.0 million outstanding principal amount of convertible notes we issued in
July 2012 is due and payable in July 2019. We may repay the convertible notes in common stock or cash. We expect our interest payment obligations under the convertible
notes to be approximately $20.6 million for the year ending December 31, 2013 (such amount includes the interest that will be due on an additional $50.0 million of convertible
notes we anticipate issuing in June 2013). In future periods, we may not have sufficient capital resources to enable us to fulfill our payment obligations to the holders of our
convertible notes. If we are unable to make scheduled payments or comply with the other provisions of the agreements relating to the convertible notes, the holders of such
convertible notes may be permitted under certain circumstances to accelerate the maturity of the convertible notes and exercise other remedies provided for in the notes and
under applicable law. An acceleration of the maturity of the convertible notes that is not rescinded will have a material adverse effect on our company.

 
We may encounter difficulties building the GE Plants and such facilities may never be completed. If we commence construction of either GE Plant we will need to comply
with significant obligations to GE.
 

Our ability to commence construction of the two LNG plants financed under the GE Credit Agreement (the “GE Plants”) will depend on a number of conditions,
including the availability of sites upon which to construct the GE Plants and our ability to acquire title to, or leasehold interests in, such sites and the receipt of all governmental
approvals necessary to design, develop, own, construct, install, operate and maintain the GE Plants. If we do not satisfy all of the conditions by December 31, 2014, GE’s
obligation to fund the GE Plants will terminate. This may result in us not being able to satisfy our LNG supply needs, and may adversely affect us.

 
If we commence construction of either GE Plant, we may not be able to comply with all of our obligations to GE. For example, we may not complete one or both of

the GE Plants within the required time period, or we may not make our required equity contributions to the plants. The GE Plants may cost more than we expect, and we may
not be able to pay the additional cost. If the GE Plants are completed, they may not generate enough cash flow to pay our obligations to GE because they may not operate
correctly or we may not be able to sell enough of the LNG the plants produce. If we do not fulfill our obligations, we may lose all of our investments in the GE plants, GE may
take over ownership of the GE plants, and GE may sue us for damages.

 
If the prices of CNG and LNG do not remain sufficiently below the prices of gasoline and diesel, potential customers will have less incentive to purchase natural gas
vehicles, which would decrease demand for CNG and LNG and reduce our growth.
 

Natural gas vehicles cost more than comparable gasoline or diesel powered vehicles because the components needed for a vehicle to use natural gas adds to a vehicle’s
base cost. If the prices of CNG and LNG do not remain sufficiently below the prices of gasoline or diesel, operators may be unable to recover the additional costs of acquiring
or converting to natural gas vehicles in a timely manner, and they may choose not to use natural gas vehicles. Our ability to offer CNG and LNG fuel to our customers at lower
prices than gasoline and diesel depends in part on natural gas prices remaining lower, on an energy equivalent basis, than oil prices. If the price of oil, gasoline and diesel
declines, it will make it more difficult for us to offer our customers discounted prices for CNG and LNG as compared to gasoline and diesel prices and maintain an acceptable
margin on our sales. Recent and significant volatility in oil and gasoline prices demonstrate that it is difficult to predict future transportation fuel costs. In addition, any new
regulations imposed on natural gas extraction in the United States, particularly on extraction of natural gas from shale formations, could increase the costs of domestic gas
production or make it more costly to produce natural gas in the United States, which could lead to substantial increases in the price of natural gas. Reduced prices for gasoline
and diesel fuel may cause potential customers to delay or reject converting their fleets to run on natural gas. In that event, our sales of natural gas fuel and vehicles would be
slowed and our business would suffer.

 
The volatility of natural gas prices could adversely impact the adoption of CNG and LNG vehicle fuel and our business.
 

In the recent past, the price of natural gas has been volatile, and this volatility may continue. Increased natural gas prices affect the cost to us of natural gas and will
adversely impact our operating margins in cases where we cannot pass the increased costs on to our customers. In addition, higher natural gas prices may cause CNG and LNG
to cost as much as or more than gasoline and diesel generally, which would adversely impact the adoption of CNG and LNG as a vehicle fuel and consequently our business.
Conversely, lower natural gas prices reduce our revenues due to the fact that in a significant number of our customer agreements, the commodity cost is passed through to the
customer. Among the factors that can cause fluctuations in natural gas prices are changes in domestic and foreign supplies of natural gas, domestic storage levels, crude oil



prices, the price difference between crude oil and natural gas, price and availability of alternative fuels, weather conditions, negative publicity surrounding drilling techniques,
level of
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consumer demand, economic conditions, price of foreign natural gas imports, and domestic and foreign governmental regulations and political conditions. In particular, there
have been recent efforts to place new regulatory requirements on the production of natural gas by hydraulic fracturing of shale gas reservoirs. Hydraulic fracturing of shale gas
reservoirs has resulted in a substantial increase in the proven natural gas reserves in the United States, and any changes in regulations that make it more expensive or
unprofitable to produce natural gas through hydraulic fracturing could lead to increased natural gas prices.
 
Our growth is influenced by government incentives and mandates for clean burning fuels and alternative fuel vehicles. The failure to pass new legislation with incentive
programs may adversely affect our business.
 

Our business is influenced by federal, state and local government tax credits, rebates, grants and similar incentives that promote the use of natural gas and RNG as a
vehicle fuel, as well as by laws, rules and regulations that require reductions in carbon emissions. Some government programs and incentives have recently expired, such as the
federal income tax credit that was available to offset 50% to 80% of the incremental cost of purchasing new or converted natural gas vehicles, and the absence of these
programs and incentives could have a detrimental effect on the natural gas vehicle and fueling industry, including sales at our wholly owned subsidiary, BAF. If expired
incentives are not reinstated or extended, or if new incentives are not passed, fewer natural gas vehicles may be sold and used and our revenue and financial performance may
be adversely affected. Furthermore, the failure of proposed federal, state or local government incentives which promote the use of natural gas and RNG as a vehicle fuel to pass
into law could result in a negative perception by the market generally and a decline in the market price of our common stock. Changes to or the repeal of laws, rules and
regulations that mandate reductions in carbon emissions and/or the use of renewable fuels, including the California Low Carbon Fuel Standard and the Federal Renewable Fuel
Standard Phase 2, would adversely affect our business and ability to sell RNG we produce at a profit. In addition, if grant funds are no longer available under government
programs for the purchase and construction of natural gas vehicles and stations, the purchase of natural gas vehicles and station construction could slow and our business and
results of operations may be adversely affected. Reduction in tax revenues associated with high unemployment rates or economic recession or slow-down could result in a
significant reduction in funds available for government grants that support vehicle conversion and station construction, which could impair our ability to grow our business.

 
Our growth depends in part on environmental regulations and programs mandating the use of cleaner burning fuels, and modification or repeal of these regulations may
adversely impact our business.
 

Our business depends in part on environmental regulations and programs in the United States that promote or mandate the use of cleaner burning fuels, including
natural gas and RNG for vehicles. Industry participants with a vested interest in gasoline and diesel, many of which have substantially greater resources than we do, invest
significant time and money in an effort to influence environmental regulations in ways that delay or repeal requirements for cleaner vehicle emissions. Further, economic
difficulties may result in the delay, amendment or waiver of environmental regulations due to the perception that they impose increased costs on the transportation industry that
cannot be absorbed in a challenging economy. The delay, repeal or modification of federal or state regulations or programs that encourage the use of cleaner vehicles could also
have a detrimental effect on the United States natural gas vehicle industry, which, in turn, could slow our growth and adversely affect our business.

 
The use of natural gas as a vehicle fuel may not become sufficiently accepted for us to expand our business.
 

To expand our business, we must develop new customers and sell increasing amounts of CNG, LNG and RNG, which we may not be able to do. Whether we will be
able to expand our customer base will depend on a number of factors, including the level of acceptance and availability of natural gas vehicles, the growth in our target markets
of fueling station infrastructure that supports CNG and LNG sales, our ability to supply CNG and LNG at competitive prices and acceptance of our technology, fuel systems
and services. A decline in oil, diesel fuel and gasoline prices may result in decreased interest in alternative fuels like CNG and LNG. Further, potential customers may not find
our product or service offerings acceptable.

 
We face increasing competition from oil and gas companies, fuel providers, refuse companies, industrial gas companies, natural gas utilities, and other organizations that
have far greater resources and brand awareness than we have.
 

A significant number of established businesses, including oil and gas companies, refuse collectors, natural gas utilities and their affiliates, industrial gas companies,
station owners, fuel providers and other organizations have entered or are planning to enter the natural gas fuels market. For example, Shell Oil Products U.S. has publicized its
plans to construct and operate a network of natural gas fueling stations at TravelCenters of America locations in the United States. In addition, ENN Group Co Ltd, one of
China’s largest private companies, has announced plans to establish a network of natural gas fueling stations for trucks along U.S. highways, and expects to build 50 such
stations in 2013. Many of these current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, marketing, research and other resources than we have. Natural gas
utilities, particularly in California, continue to own and operate natural gas fueling stations that compete with our stations, and in December 2012, the California Public Utilities
Commission approved a compression services tariff application by the Southern California Gas Company, allowing the utility to offer natural gas
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fueling infrastructure construction services that compete with our offerings. In addition, utilities in several states, including Michigan, Illinois, New Jersey, North Carolina and
Georgia, have made efforts to invest in the natural gas vehicle fuel space. We expect competition to intensify in the near term in the market for natural gas vehicle fuel as the
use of natural gas vehicles and the demand for natural gas vehicle fuel increases. Increased competition will lead to amplified pricing pressure, reduced operating margins and
fewer expansion opportunities. To compete effectively in this environment, we must continually develop and market new and enhanced product offerings at competitive prices
and must have the resources available to invest in the further development of our business. Our failure to compete successfully would adversely affect our business and
financial results.

 
Our global operations expose us to additional risk and uncertainties.
 

We have operations in a number of countries, including the United States, Canada, China, Colombia, Bangladesh and Peru. Our natural gas compression equipment is
primarily manufactured in Canada and sold globally, which exposes us to a number of risks that can arise from international trade transactions, local business practices and
cultural considerations. In addition to the other risks described herein, our global operations may be subject to risks and uncertainties that may limit our ability to operate our
business, including:

 
·                  compliance with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
 



·                  political unrest, terrorism and economic and financial instability;
 
·                  unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and uncertainty related to developing legal and regulatory systems governing economic and business activities, real

property ownership and application of contract rights;
 
·                  import-export regulations;
 
·                  difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables;
 
·                  difficulties in ensuring compliance with the laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions;
 
·                  difficulties in ensuring that health, safety, environmental and other working conditions are properly implemented and/or maintained by the local office;
 
·                  changes in labor practices, including wage inflation, labor unrest and unionization policies;
 
·                  limited intellectual property protection;
 
·                  longer payment cycles by international customers;
 
·                  currency exchange fluctuations;
 
·                  inadequate local infrastructure and disruptions of service from utilities or telecommunications providers, including electricity shortages;
 
·                  potentially adverse tax consequences; and
 
·                  differing employment practices and labor issues.
 
We also face risks associated with currency exchange and convertibility, inflation and repatriation of earnings as a result of our foreign operations. In some countries,

economic, monetary and regulatory factors could affect our ability to convert funds to United States dollars or move funds from accounts in these countries. We are also
vulnerable to appreciation or depreciation of foreign currencies against the United States dollar. We do not engage in currency hedging activities to limit the risks of currency
fluctuations.

 
We may encounter challenges managing our growth, which may divert resources and limit our ability to successfully expand our operations.
 

We have been and continue to be engaged in a period of rapid and substantial growth, which places a strain on our operational infrastructure and imposes significant
added responsibilities on members of our management. Our ability to manage our operations and growth effectively requires us to hire, train and integrate necessary personnel
to further develop our operational, financial and management controls, expand and improve our financial reporting and legal compliance systems, and improve management of
our natural gas station construction, maintenance and operations projects. If we are not able to effectively manage our business growth and operations in a cost-effective
manner, our operating results, sales and revenues may be negatively impacted.
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We depend on key personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain our current personnel or hire additional personnel, our ability to develop and
successfully market our business would be harmed.
 

We believe that our future success is highly dependent on the contributions of our executive officers, as well as our ability to attract and retain highly skilled
managerial, sales, technical and finance personnel. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. All of our executive
officers and other United States employees may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and industry would be
extremely difficult to replace. If we are unable to attract and retain our executive officers and key employees, our business, operating results and financial condition could be
harmed. In addition, our management team has a long history of working together, and we believe that our key executives have developed highly successful and effective
working relationships. If one or more of these individuals leave, we may not be able to fully integrate new executives or replicate the current dynamic, which may cause our
operations to suffer.

 
We may not be successful in managing or integrating IMW into our business, which could prevent us from realizing the expected benefits of the acquisition and could
adversely affect our future results.
 

The integration of IMW into our business presents significant challenges and risks to our business, including (i) the distraction of management from other business
concerns, (ii) expansion into foreign markets, (iii) the introduction of IMW’s compressor and related equipment manufacturing and servicing business, which is a new product
line for us, (iv) achievement of appropriate internal controls over financial reporting and (v) the monitoring of compliance with all laws and regulations. IMW derives
significant revenue from sales in emerging markets, and prior to the acquisition, IMW was not required to comply with the United States Foreign Corruption Practices Act or
any of the requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley. If we do not successfully integrate IMW into our business and maintain regulatory compliance, we may not realize the benefits
expected from the acquisition and our results of operations could be materially adversely affected. If the revenue of IMW declines or grows more slowly than we anticipate, or
if its operating expenses are higher than we expect, we may not be able to achieve, sustain or increase the growth of our business, in which case our financial condition will
suffer and our stock price could decline.

 
A significant portion of the purchase price of IMW was allocated to intangibles, including goodwill, and a write-off of all or part of these intangibles, including goodwill
could adversely affect our operating results.
 

Under business combination accounting standards, we allocated the total purchase price of IMW to its net tangible assets and liabilities and intangible assets based on
their fair values as of the date of the acquisition and recorded the excess of the purchase price over those values as goodwill. Our estimates of the fair value of the assets and
liabilities of IMW were based upon certain assumptions, including assumptions regarding new business, believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain. Pursuant
to the applicable accounting standards, we initially allocated $126.4 million of the purchase price for IMW to intangibles, including goodwill. Our intangibles, including
goodwill, could be impaired if developments affecting the acquired compressor manufacturing operations or the markets in which IMW produces and/or sells compressors lead
us to conclude that the cash flows we expect to derive from its manufacturing operations will be substantially reduced. An impairment of all or part of our intangibles, including
goodwill, could adversely affect our results of operations.

 
The failure of one of our subsidiaries to comply with the terms of its bond financing agreements would impair our rights in our Dallas, Texas RNG production facility.



 
Dallas Clean Energy McCommas Bluff, LLC (“DCEMB”), in which we indirectly own a 70% interest and which owns and operates our Dallas, Texas RNG

production facility, entered into, among other documents, the Loan Agreement, the Note, the Deed of Trust and the Security Agreement, which are defined elsewhere in this
report (collectively the “Bond Agreements”) in connection with its issuance of certain Revenue Bonds (see note 12 of the condensed consolidated financial statements).
Pursuant to the Bond Agreements, DCEMB is subject to certain covenants, including a requirement to make loan repayments on the Revenue Bonds. This repayment obligation
is secured by a security interest in all of the Collateral (as defined in the Security Agreement), which includes, but is not limited to, DCEMB’s rights, title and interest in any
gas sale agreements and the funds and accounts held under an indenture. If DCEMB defaults on its obligation to make loan repayments on the Revenue Bonds, the Issuer or the
Trustee (as defined in the Bond Agreements) may, among other things, take whatever action at law or in equity as may be necessary or desirable to ensure loan repayments are
made on the Revenue Bonds. If the Issuer or the Trustee take any such actions, or if DCEMB otherwise fails to comply with its covenants and other obligations under the Bond
Agreements, our rights in DCEMB would be impaired, and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.
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The infrastructure to support gasoline and diesel consumption is vastly more developed than the infrastructure for natural gas vehicle fuels.
 

Gasoline and diesel fueling stations and service infrastructure are widely available in the United States. For natural gas vehicle fuels to achieve more widespread use in
the United States and Canada, they will require a promotional and educational effort and the development and supply of more natural gas vehicles and fueling stations. This will
require significant continued effort by us, as well as government and clean air groups, and we may face resistance from oil companies and other vehicle fuel companies.

 
We have significant contracts with federal, state and local government entities that are subject to unique risks.
 

We have existing, and will continue to seek, long-term CNG and LNG station construction, maintenance and fuel sales contracts with various federal, state and local
governmental bodies, which accounted for approximately 17% of our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and approximately 30%, 21% and 33% of our
annual revenues in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. In addition to our normal business risks, our contracts with these government entities are often subject to unique risks,
some of which are beyond our control. Long-term government contracts and related orders are subject to cancellation if appropriations for subsequent performance periods are
not made. The termination of funding for a government program supporting any of our CNG or LNG operations could result in a loss of anticipated future revenues attributable
to that program, which could have a negative impact on our operations. In addition, government entities with whom we contract are often able to modify, curtail or terminate
contracts with us without prior notice at their convenience, and are only liable for payment for work done and commitments made at the time of termination. Modification,
curtailment or termination of significant contracts could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

 
Further, government contracts are frequently awarded only after competitive bidding processes, which have been and may continue to be protracted. In many cases,

unsuccessful bidders for government agency contracts are provided the opportunity to formally protest certain contract awards through various agency, administrative and
judicial channels. The protest process may substantially delay a successful bidder’s contract performance, result in cancellation of the contract award entirely and distract
management. We may not be awarded contracts for which we bid, and substantial delays or cancellation of purchases may even follow our successful bids as a result of such
protests.

 
The budget deficits being experienced by many governmental entities may reduce the available funding for certain natural gas programs and services and the purchase of
CNG or LNG fuel, which could reduce our revenue and impair our financial performance.
 

Many governmental entities are experiencing significant budget deficits, which has and may continue to reduce or curtail their ability to fund natural gas fuel
programs, purchase natural gas vehicles or provide public transportation and services, which would harm our business. Furthermore, in response to budget deficits, such
governmental entities have and may continue to request or demand that we lower our price for CNG or LNG fuel.

 
Conversion of light and medium-duty vehicles to run on natural gas is time-consuming and expensive and may limit the growth of our sales.
 

Conversion of light and medium-duty vehicle engines from gasoline or diesel to natural gas is performed by only a small number of vehicle conversion suppliers
(including our wholly owned subsidiary, BAF) that must meet stringent safety and engine emissions certification standards. The engine certification process is time consuming
and expensive and raises vehicle costs. In addition, conversion of vehicle engines from gasoline or diesel to natural gas may result in vehicle performance issues or increased
maintenance costs that could discourage our potential customers from purchasing converted vehicles that run on natural gas and impair the financial performance of BAF.
Without an increase in vehicle conversion options, and reduced vehicle conversion costs, our sales of natural gas vehicle fuel and converted natural gas vehicles, through BAF,
may be restricted and our revenue will be reduced both by less demand for natural gas vehicle fuel and less demand for converted natural gas vehicles.

 
If there are advances in other alternative vehicle fuels or technologies, or if there are improvements in gasoline, diesel or hybrid engines, demand for natural gas vehicles
may decline and our business may suffer.
 

Technological advances in the production, delivery and use of alternative fuels that are, or are perceived to be, cleaner, more cost-effective or more readily available
than CNG, LNG or RNG have the potential to slow adoption of natural gas vehicles. Advances in gasoline and diesel engine technology, especially hybrids, may offer a cleaner,
more cost-effective option and make fleet customers less likely to convert their fleets to natural gas. Technological advances related to ethanol or biodiesel, which are
increasingly used as an additive to, or substitute for, gasoline and diesel fuel, may slow the need to diversify fuels and affect the growth of the natural gas vehicle market. Use
of electric heavy duty trucks or the perception that electric heavy duty trucks may soon be widely available and provide satisfactory performance in heavy duty applications
may reduce demand for heavy duty LNG trucks. In addition, hydrogen and other alternative fuels in experimental or developmental stages may eventually offer a cleaner, more
cost-effective alternative to gasoline and diesel than natural gas. Advances in technology that slow the growth of or conversion to natural gas vehicles, or which otherwise
reduce demand for natural gas as a vehicle fuel, will have an adverse effect on our business. Failure of natural gas vehicle technology to advance at a sufficient pace may also
limit its adoption and our ability to compete with other alternative fuels and alternative fuel vehicles.
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Our ability to obtain LNG is constrained by fragmented and limited production and increasing competition for LNG supply.
 

Production of LNG in the United States is fragmented and limited. It may be difficult for us to obtain LNG without interruption and near our current or target markets
at competitive prices or at all. If LNG liquefaction plants we own, or if any of those from which we purchase LNG, are damaged by severe weather, earthquake or other natural
disaster, or otherwise experience prolonged down time, if any such plants cannot produce LNG meeting applicable composition specifications and requirements, or if we or
others do not build additional LNG liquefaction plants, our LNG supply will be restricted. If we are unable to supply enough LNG that satisfies applicable specifications (either



from our own plants or by purchasing it from third parties) to meet customer demand, we may be liable to our customers for penalties and damages and may lose customers.
Competition for LNG supply is escalating. For example, we increasingly compete to purchase LNG with third parties that use LNG to fuel equipment deployed in oil and gas
production activities. In addition, the execution of our business plan will require substantial growth in the available LNG supply across the United States, and if this supply is
unavailable, it will constrain our ability to increase the market for LNG fuel, including supplying LNG fuel to heavy duty truck customers, and will adversely affect our
investments in America’s Natural Gas Highway. If we experience an LNG supply interruption or LNG demand that exceeds available supply, or if we have difficulty entering or
maintaining relationships with contract carriers to deliver LNG on our behalf, our ability to expand LNG sales to new customers will be limited, our relationships with existing
customers may be disrupted, and our results of operations may be adversely affected. Furthermore, because transportation of LNG is relatively expensive, if we are required to
supply LNG from distant locations and cannot pass these costs through to our customers, our operating margins will decrease on those sales due to our increased transportation
costs.

 
LNG supply purchase commitments may exceed demand causing our costs to increase.
 

We are a party to two LNG supply agreements that have a take-or-pay commitment, and we may enter into additional take-or-pay commitments, particularly in
connection with America’s Natural Gas Highway. Take-or-pay commitments require us to pay for the LNG that we have agreed to purchase irrespective of whether we can sell
the LNG. Should the market demand for LNG decline, if we lose significant LNG customers, if demand under any existing or any future LNG sales contract does not maintain
its volume levels or grow, or if future demand for LNG does not meet our expectations, our operating and supply costs may increase as a percentage of revenue and negatively
impact our margins.

 
If our futures contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting, our net income (loss) will fluctuate more significantly from quarter to quarter based on fluctuations in the
market value of our futures contracts.
 

We account for our futures activities under the relevant derivative accounting guidance, which requires us to value our futures contracts at fair market value in our
financial statements. At March 31, 2013, all of our futures contracts qualified for hedge accounting. To the extent that all or some of our futures contracts do not qualify for
hedge accounting, we could incur significant increases and decreases in our net income (loss) in the future based on fluctuations in the market value of our futures contracts
from quarter to quarter. We had no realized derivative gains or losses related to our natural gas futures contracts for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 or for
the three months ended March 31, 2013. Any negative fluctuations may cause our stock price to decline due to our failure to meet or exceed the expectations of securities
analysts or investors.

 
Compliance with potential greenhouse gas regulations affecting our LNG plants or fueling stations may prove costly and negatively affect our financial performance.
 

California has adopted legislation, AB 32, which calls for a cap on greenhouse gas emissions throughout California and a statewide reduction to 1990 levels by 2020
and an additional 80% reduction below 1990 levels by 2050. Other states and the federal government are considering passing measures to regulate and reduce greenhouse gas
emissions. Any of these regulations, when and if implemented, may regulate the greenhouse gas emissions produced by our LNG production plants or our CNG and LNG
fueling stations and require that we obtain emissions credits or invest in costly emissions prevention technology. We cannot currently estimate the potential costs associated
with federal or state regulation of greenhouse gas emissions from our LNG plants or CNG and LNG stations, and these unknown costs are not contemplated by our customer
agreements. These unanticipated costs may have a negative impact on our financial performance and may impair our ability to fulfill customer contracts at an operating profit.
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Our operations entail inherent safety and environmental risks that may result in substantial liability to us.
 

Our operations entail inherent risks, including equipment defects, malfunctions and failures and natural disasters, which could result in uncontrollable flows of natural
gas, fires, explosions and other damages. For example, operation of LNG pumps requires special training and protective equipment because of the extreme low temperatures of
LNG. LNG tanker trailers have also in the past been, and may in the future be, involved in accidents that result in explosions, fires and other damage. Improper refueling of
LNG vehicles can result in venting of methane gas, which is a potent greenhouse gas, and LNG related methane emissions may in the future be regulated by the EPA or by state
regulations. Additionally, CNG fuel tanks, if damaged or improperly maintained or installed, may rupture and the contents of the tank may rapidly decompress and result in
death or injury. These risks may expose us to liability for personal injury, wrongful death, property damage, pollution and other environmental damage. We may incur
substantial liability and cost if damages are not covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits. If CNG or LNG vehicles are perceived to be unsafe, it will harm our
growth and negatively affect BAF’s ability to sell converted CNG vehicles, which would impair our financial performance.

 
We provide financing to fleet customers for natural gas vehicles, which exposes our business to credit risks.
 

We lend to certain qualifying customers a portion of, and occasionally up to 100% of, the purchase price of natural gas vehicles. We may also lease vehicles to
customers in the future. There are risks associated with providing financing or leasing that could cause us to lose money. These risks include the following: (i) the equipment
financed consists mostly of vehicles that are mobile and easily damaged, lost or stolen, (ii) the borrower may default on payments, (iii) we may not be able to bill properly or
track payments in adequate fashion to sustain growth of this service, and (iv) the amount of capital available to us is limited and may not allow us to make loans required by
customers. Some of our customers, such as taxi owners, may depend on the CNG vehicles that we finance or lease to them as their sole source of income, which may make it
difficult for us to recover the collateral in a bankruptcy proceeding. As of March 31, 2013, we had $5.7 million outstanding in loans provided to customers to finance natural
gas vehicle purchases.

 
Our business is subject to a variety of governmental regulations that may restrict our business and may result in costs and penalties.
 

We are subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to foreign business practices, the environment, health and safety, labor and
employment, emissions certifications and taxation, among others. These laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over
time. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including assessment of monetary
penalties and the imposition of corrective requirements. From time to time, as part of the regular overall evaluation of our operations, including newly acquired operations, we
may be subject to compliance audits by regulatory authorities. In addition, any failure to comply with regulations related to the government procurement process at the federal,
state or local level or restrictions on political activities and lobbying may result in administrative or financial penalties including being barred from providing services to
governmental entities.

 
In connection with our operations, we often need facility permits or licenses to address storm water or wastewater discharges, waste handling, and air emissions. This

may subject us to permitting conditions that may be onerous or costly. Compliance with laws and regulations and enforcement policies by regulatory agencies could require us
to make material expenditures and may distract our officers, directors and employees from the operation of our business.

 
Our RNG business may not be successful.
 



We completed a new RNG production facility in Canton, Michigan in 2012 and we are developing a pipeline quality RNG project near Memphis, Tennessee. We are
also in the process of expanding operations at our RNG production facility at the McCommas Bluff landfill outside of Dallas, Texas. In addition, we are seeking to increase our
RNG business by pursuing additional projects. RNG production represents a new area of investment and operations for us, and we may not be successful in developing these
projects and generating a financial return from our investment. Historically, projects that produce pipeline quality RNG have often failed due to the volatile prices of
conventional natural gas, unpredictable RNG production levels, technological difficulties and costs associated with operating the production facilities, and the absence of
government programs and regulations that support such activities. Our ability to succeed in expanding our McCommas Bluff project and developing other projects depends on
our ability to obtain necessary financing, successfully manage the construction and operation of RNG production facilities and our ability to either sell the RNG at substantial
premiums to current conventional natural gas prices or to sell, at favorable prices, credits we may generate under federal or state laws, rules and regulations, including RIN and
LCFS Credits. If we are unsuccessful in obtaining necessary financing or managing the construction and operation of our RNG production facilities, or if we are unable to
either sell RNG at a substantial premium to current conventional natural gas prices or to sell RIN Credits or other credits we generate at favorable prices, our
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business and financial results may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, due to recent regulatory and legislative changes in California, our ability to sell RNG
produced by projects outside of California to California power plants for use as a Renewable Portfolio Standard (“RPS”) compliant fuel is limited. If we cannot sell RNG we
produce to California power plants for use as a RPS compliant fuel, we may not be able to obtain long-term, fixed premium prices for RNG. In the absence of state and federal
programs that support premium prices for RNG, or that allow us to generate and sell RIN Credits and other credits, or if our customers are not otherwise willing to pay a
premium for RNG, we will be unable to generate profit and financial return from these investments, and our financial results could be materially and adversely affected.

 
We may experience difficulties producing RNG.
 

Our financial results and operations will be negatively impacted if we experience difficulties producing RNG. Our ability to produce RNG may be adversely affected
by a number of factors beyond our control including limited availability or unfavorable composition of collected landfill gas, failure to obtain and renew necessary permits,
landfill mismanagement, problems with our critical equipment, and adverse or severe weather conditions. In addition, we may seek to upgrade or expand our RNG facilities,
which may result in plant shutdowns or cause delays that reduce the amount of RNG we produce.

 
Our quarterly results of operations have not been predictable in the past and have fluctuated significantly and may not be predictable and may fluctuate in the future.
 

Our quarterly results of operations have historically experienced significant fluctuations. Our net losses (income) were approximately $24.4 million, $(9.9) million,
$1.8 million, $(13.8) million, $9.8 million, $5.6 million, $11.4 million, $20.9 million, $31.9 million, $11.3 million, $16.3 million, $41.7 million, and $3.9 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2010, June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010, December 31, 2010, March 31, 2011, June 30, 2011, September 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, March 31,
2012, June 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2013, respectively. Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of
factors, many of which are beyond our control. In particular, if our stock price increases or decreases in future periods during which our Series I warrants are outstanding, we
will be required to recognize corresponding losses or gains related to the valuation of the Series I warrants that could materially impact our results of operations. If our quarterly
results of operations fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Fluctuations in our quarterly
results of operations may be due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers, the addition
or loss of large customers, receipt of fuel tax credits and other government incentives, construction cost overruns, down time at our facilities, the amount and timing of
operating costs, unanticipated expenses, capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure, our debt service
obligations, changes in the price of natural gas, changes in the prices of CNG and LNG relative to gasoline and diesel, changes in our pricing policies or those of our
competitors, fluctuation in the value of our natural gas futures contracts, the costs related to the acquisition of assets or businesses, regulatory changes, increasing competition,
and geopolitical events such as war, threat of war or terrorist actions. Investors in our stock should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of future performance
as our quarterly revenues and results of operations may vary significantly in the future. Therefore, period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful.

 
Sales of shares could cause the market price of our stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.
 

As of March 31, 2013, there were 88,511,691 shares of our common stock outstanding, 11,994,610 shares underlying outstanding options, 1,545,000 shares underlying
restricted stock units, 2,130,682 shares underlying outstanding Series I warrants (all of which were sold in our registered direct offering that closed in November 2008),
5,000,000 shares underlying a warrant we issued in November 2012 to GE, and an aggregate of 15,995,781 shares underlying the convertible notes we issued in July 2011,
August 2011 and July 2012. All of our outstanding shares are eligible for sale in the public market, subject in certain cases to the requirements of Rule 144 of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Also, shares subject to outstanding options, warrants and convertible notes are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent
permitted by the provisions of various option, warrant and convertible note agreements and Rule 144, or if such shares have been registered for resale under the Securities Act
(8,999,999 shares underlying convertible notes we issued in August 2011 have been registered for resale under the Securities Act). If these shares are sold, or if it is perceived
that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
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Further, as of March 31, 2013, 18,139,720 shares of our common stock held by our co-founder and board member T. Boone Pickens are subject to pledge agreements
with banks. Should one or more of the banks be forced to sell the shares subject to the pledge, the trading price of our stock could also decline. In addition, a number of our
directors and executive officers have entered into Rule 10b5-1 Sales Plans with a broker to sell shares of our common stock that they hold or that may be acquired upon the
exercise of stock options. Sales under these plans will occur automatically without further action by the director or officer once the price and/or date parameters of the particular
selling plan are achieved. As of March 31, 2013, 1,124,309 shares in the aggregate were subject to future sales by our named executive officers and directors under these selling
plans.

 
A significant portion of our stock is beneficially owned by a single stockholder whose interests may differ from yours and who will be able to exert significant influence
over our corporate decisions, including a change of control.
 

As of March 31, 2013, T. Boone Pickens owned in the aggregate approximately 22.2% of our outstanding shares of common stock. As a result, Mr. Pickens will be
able to influence or control matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary
transactions. Mr. Pickens may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests. This concentration
of ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our Company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a
premium for their stock as part of a sale of our Company, and might ultimately affect the market price of our stock. Conversely, this concentration may facilitate a change in
control at a time when you and other investors may prefer not to sell.

 



Our stock price may be volatile.
 

The market price of our common stock has experienced, and may continue to experience, volatility and could be subject to fluctuations in price in response to various
factors, some of which are beyond our control.  In addition to the factors discussed in this Item 1A, factors that may cause volatility in our stock price include:

 
·                  our actual or perceived ability to capture a substantial share of the anticipated growth in the market for natural gas as a vehicle fuel;
·                  successful implementation of our business plans, including our plan to build America’s Natural Gas Highway;
·                  the development, commercial availability and market adoption of natural gas as a vehicle fuel and engines that operate on natural gas, particularly natural gas engines

that are well-suited for the heavy-duty trucking market, including the Cummins-Westport 11.9 liter engine;
·                  production, sourcing and supply of LNG and RNG;
·                  changes in the worldwide prices for natural gas and for traditional vehicle fuels, such as gasoline and diesel;
·                  actual or perceived fluctuations in our operating results;
·                  sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders;
·                  a decline in demand for our common stock;
·                  the potential for oil and gas companies, natural gas utilities and others to enter the natural gas fuel market;
·                  changes in our key personnel;
·                  competitive developments;
·                  investor perception of our industry or our prospects; and
·                  changes in general economic and market conditions.

 
In addition, the securities markets have from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of

particular companies, and in such instances, have affected the market prices of those securities.  These market fluctuations may also materially and adversely affect the market
price of our common stock.

 
Item 2.—Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 

None.
 

Item 3.—Defaults upon Senior Securities
 

None.
 

Item 4.—Mine Safety Disclosures
 

None.
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Item 5.—Other Information
 

On March 18, 2013, we entered a lease (“Lease”) with The Irvine Company, LLC (“Landlord”).  Pursuant to the Lease, we agreed to lease approximately 68,000
square feet of office space in Newport Beach, CA (“Premises”) for use as our corporate headquarters.  The Lease has a term of 96 months and calls for us to initially pay
$141,452 in monthly basic rent.  Such rent amount increases over time, so that in the last year of the Lease we will pay $196,537 in monthly basic rent.  We expect to
commence occupancy of the Premises during the third quarter of 2013.  The foregoing description of the Lease is a summary of the terms of such agreement.  The Lease is
attached hereto as Exhibit 10.80.
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Item 6.—Exhibits
 
(a)                                Exhibits
 
10.80*

 

Lease Agreement dated March 18, 2013 between the Registrant and The Irvine Compnay, LLC.
     
10.81*

 

First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated April 17, 2013 between the Registrant and The Irvine Company, LLC.
     
31.1*

 

Certification of Andrew J. Littlefair, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
31.2*

 

Certification of Richard R. Wheeler, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     
32.1*

 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed by Andrew J. Littlefair,
President and Chief Executive Officer, and Richard R. Wheeler, Chief Financial Officer.

     
101†

 

The following materials from the Company’s Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business
Reporting Language):

     
 

 

(i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2013;
 

 

(ii) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013;
 

 

(iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013;
 

 

(iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 and 2013; and
 

 

(v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.



 

*                 Filed herewith.
†                 Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes

of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those
sections.
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SIGNATURE
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

 
 

CLEAN ENERGY FUELS CORP.
   
   
Date: May 8, 2013 By: /s/ RICHARD R. WHEELER
   

Richard R. Wheeler
   

Chief Financial Officer (Principal financial officer and duly authorized
to sign on behalf of the registrant)
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Exhibit 10.80
 

LEASE
 

BETWEEN
 

THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
 

AND
 

CLEAN ENERGY
 

 
LEASE

 
THIS LEASE is made as of the 18th day of March, 2013, by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereafter called

“Landlord,” and CLEAN ENERGY, a California corporation, hereafter called “Tenant.”
 

ARTICLE 1.  BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS
 

Each reference in this Lease to the “Basic Lease Provisions” shall mean and refer to the following collective terms, the application of which shall be governed by the
provisions in the remaining Articles of this Lease.
 
1.                    Tenant’s Trade Name:  N/A

   

     
2.                    Premises: Suite Nos. 300, 800, 1200, 1220 Suite No. 700

Address of Buildings: 4675 MacArthur Court, Newport
Beach, CA 92660

4695 MacArthur Court, Newport
Beach, CA 92660

     
Project Description: MacArthur Court

 

     
(The Premises are more particularly described in Section 2.1).
 

3.                    Use of Premises:   General office and administrative use and any ancillary legally permitted use.
 
4.                    Estimated Commencement Date: July 1, 2013.
 
5.                    Lease Term:  96 months, plus such additional days as may be required to cause this Lease to expire on the final day of the calendar month.
 
6.                    Basic Rent:

 
Months of Term
or Period

 

Monthly Rate Per Rentable
Square Foot

 

Monthly Basic Rent (rounded
to the nearest dollar)

 

1 to 12
 

$ 2.08
 

$ 141,452.00
 

13 to 24
 

$ 2.18
 

$ 148,253.00
 

25 to 36
 

$ 2.28
 

$ 155,054.00
 

37 to 48
 

$ 2.39
 

$ 162,534.00
 

49 to 60
 

$ 2.51
 

$ 170,695.00
 

61 to 72
 

$ 2.63
 

$ 178,856.00
 

73 to 84
 

$ 2.76
 

$ 187,697.00
 

85 to 96
 

$ 2.89
 

$ 196,537.00
 

 
Notwithstanding the above schedule of Basic Rent to the contrary, as long as Tenant is not in Default (as defined in Section 14.1) under this Lease, Tenant shall be entitled
to an abatement of 5 full calendar months of Basic Rent in the aggregate amount of $707,260.00 (i.e. $141,452.00 per month) (the “Abated Basic Rent”) for the
1  through 5  full calendar months of the Term (the “Abatement Period”). In the event Tenant commits a monetary Default as set forth in Section 14(a) below at any
time during months 1-12 of the Term, a prorated amount of the Abated Basic Rent shall immediately become due and payable and the Abatement Period shall terminate.
Early termination of the Abatement Period in the event of a monetary Default shall not limit or affect any of Landlord’s other rights, pursuant to this Lease or at law or in
equity. Only Basic Rent shall be abated during the Abatement Period and all other additional rent and other costs and charges specified in this Lease shall remain as due
and payable pursuant to the provisions of this Lease.
 

7.                    Property Tax Base:  The Property Taxes per rentable square foot incurred by Landlord and attributable to the twelve month period ending June 30, 2014 (the “Base
Year”).

 
Project Cost Base:  The Project Costs per rentable square foot incurred by Landlord and attributable to the Base Year.
 
Expense Recovery Period:  Every twelve month period during the Term (or portion thereof during the first and last Lease years) ending June 30.

 
1

 
8.                   Floor Area of Premises:  approximately 68,006 rentable square feet (61,953 usable square feet) consisting of the following:
 

·                  Suite No. 300 at 4675 MacArthur Court — 19,867 rentable square feet (approximately 18,265 usable square feet);
·                  Suite No. 800 at 4675 MacArthur Court — 19,867 rentable square feet (approximately 18,246 usable square feet);
·                  Suite No. 1200 at 4675 MacArthur Court — 7,417 rentable square feet (approximately 6,351 usable square feet);
·                  Suite No. 1220 at 4675 MacArthur Court — 988 rentable square feet (approximately 845 usable square feet); and

st th



·                  Suite No. 700 at 4695 MacArthur Court — 19,867 rentable square feet (approximately 18,246 usable square feet).
 

Floor Area of Building for 4675 MacArthur Court:  approximately 284,059 rentable square feet
Floor Area of Building for 4695 MacArthur Court:  approximately 283,986 rentable square feet

 
9.                    Security Deposit:  $213,050.00
 
10.             Broker(s): Irvine Realty Company (“Landlord’s Broker”) and Cushman & Wakefield/Irvine (“Tenant’s Broker”)
 
11.               Parking: 240 unreserved parking passes and 30 reserved parking passes in accordance with the provisions set forth in Exhibit F to this Lease.
 
12.             Address for Payments and Notices:
 

LANDLORD
 

TENANT
     
 
Payment Address:
 
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
P.O. Box #841429
Los Angeles, CA 90084-1429
 
Notice Address:
 
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
4675 MacArthur Court, Suite 150
Newport Beach, CA, 92660
Attn: Property Manager
 
with a copy of notices to:
 
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC
550 Newport Center Drive
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn:  Senior Vice President, Property Operations Irvine Office Properties

 

CLEAN ENERGY
4675 MacArthur Court
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn: Peter Grace, Senior Vice President
 
with copies of notices to:
CLEAN ENERGY
4675 MacArthur Court
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn: Barbara A. Johnson
 
CLEAN ENERGY
4675 MacArthur Court
Newport Beach, CA 92660
Attn: GENERAL COUNSEL
 

 
13.             List of Lease Exhibits (all exhibits, riders and addenda attached to this Lease are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Lease):

 
Exhibit A                                             Description of Premises
Exhibit B                                             Operating Expenses
Exhibit C                                             Utilities and Services
Exhibit D                                             Tenant’s Insurance
Exhibit E                                              Rules and Regulations
Exhibit F                                               Parking
Exhibit F-1                                    Location of Parking
Exhibit G                                             Additional Provisions
Exhibit G-1                                  Signage Location
Exhibit X                                             Work Letter
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ARTICLE 2.  PREMISES

 
2.1.   LEASED PREMISES.  Landlord leases to Tenant and Tenant leases from Landlord the Premises shown in Exhibit A (the “Premises”), containing approximately

the floor area set forth in Item 8 of the Basic Lease Provisions (the “Floor Area”).  The Premises are located in the buildings identified in Item 2 of the Basic Lease Provisions
(the “Building”), which is a portion of the project described in Item 2 (the “Project”).  Landlord and Tenant stipulate and agree that the Floor Area of Premises set forth in Item
8 of the Basic Lease Provisions is correct.

 
2.2.   ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES.  Tenant acknowledges that neither Landlord nor any representative of Landlord has made any representation or warranty with

respect to the Premises, the Building or the Project or the suitability or fitness of either for any purpose, except as set forth in this Lease. Notwithstanding anything contained in
this Lease to the contrary, Landlord represents and warrants that as of the date of this Lease it has not received any written notice of, and has no knowledge of, violation of any
laws, codes or regulations applicable to the Premises from any governmental, city or county agency.  Landlord shall construct all the Tenant Improvements required to be
installed by Landlord under the Work Letter attached as Exhibit X in full compliance with all applicable laws, codes and regulations to include ADA and title 24.  Furthermore,
Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that all systems serving the Premises (i.e. HVAC, electrical, fire life safety and the like) are operating in accordance with their
design and manufacturers specifications and will continue to do so throughout the Term. The taking of possession or use of the Premises by Tenant for any purpose other than
construction shall conclusively establish that the Premises and the Building were in satisfactory condition and in conformity with the provisions of this Lease in all respects,
except for those matters which Tenant shall have brought to Landlord’s attention on a written punch list and any deficiencies in the systems serving the Premises as described in
this Section.  The punch list shall be limited to any items required to be accomplished by Landlord under the Work Letter attached as Exhibit X, and shall be delivered to
Landlord within 30 days after the Commencement Date (as defined herein). Nothing contained in this Section 2.2 shall affect the commencement of the Term or the obligation
of Tenant to pay rent.  Landlord shall diligently complete all punch list items of which it is notified as provided above. Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant upon the
Commencement Date water tight and clean and free of debris.

 
2.3.   LATENT DEFECTS AND GOOD WORKING ORDER WARRANTY.  Landlord shall be responsible for latent defects in the Tenant Improvements.  Landlord,

at its option, may pursue such claims covered under warranties given by contractors or subcontractors performing the Tenant Improvements and agrees to assign any such
warranties to Tenant for enforcement at the conclusion of the 12 months set forth herein.  Landlord warrants to Tenant that the fire sprinkler system, lighting, heating,
ventilation and air conditioning systems and electrical systems serving the Premises shall be in first class operating condition as of the day the Premises are delivered to Tenant.

 
ARTICLE 3.  TERM



 
3.1.   GENERAL.  The term of this Lease (“Term”) shall be for the period shown in Item 5 of the Basic Lease Provisions.  The Term shall commence (“Commencement

Date”) on the earlier of (a) the date the Premises are deemed “ready for occupancy” (as hereinafter defined) and possession thereof is delivered to Tenant, or (b) the date Tenant
commences its regular business activities within the Premises.  Promptly following request by Landlord, the parties shall memorialize on a form provided by Landlord (the
“Commencement Memorandum”) the actual Commencement Date and the expiration date (“Expiration Date”) of this Lease; should Tenant fail to execute and return the
Commencement Memorandum to Landlord within 5 business days (or provide specific written objections thereto within that period), then Landlord’s determination of the
Commencement and Expiration Dates as set forth in the Commencement Memorandum shall be conclusive.  The Premises shall be deemed “ready for occupancy” when
Landlord, to the extent applicable, has substantially completed all the work required to be completed by Landlord pursuant to the Work Letter (if any) attached to this Lease but
for minor punch list matters, and has obtained the requisite governmental approvals for Tenant’s occupancy in connection with such work.

 
3.2.   DELAY IN POSSESSION.  If Landlord, for any reason whatsoever, cannot deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant on or before the Estimated

Commencement Date set forth in Item 4 of the Basic Lease Provisions, this Lease shall not be void or voidable nor shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any resulting loss or
damage.  However, Tenant shall not be liable for any rent until the Commencement Date occurs as provided in Section 3.1 above, except that if Landlord’s failure to
substantially complete all work required of Landlord pursuant to Section 3.1(i) above is attributable to any action or inaction by Tenant (including without limitation any Tenant
Delay described in the Work Letter, if any, attached to this Lease), then the Premises shall be deemed ready for occupancy, and Landlord shall be entitled to full performance by
Tenant (including the payment of rent), as of the date Landlord would have been able to substantially complete such work and deliver the Premises to Tenant but for Tenant’s
delay(s).

 
3.3 TERMINATION RIGHT FOR LATE DELIVERY.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 3.2 of the Lease and so long as this Lease is

properly executed by Tenant and delivered to Landlord by 5:00 p.m. PST on March 18, 2013, if for any reason other than “Tenant Delays” (as defined in the Work Letter
attached hereto), or other matters beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, the actual Commencement Date has not occurred by November 1, 2013 (the “Outside Date”), then
Tenant may, by written notice to Landlord given at any time thereafter but prior to the actual occurrence of the Commencement Date, elect to terminate this Lease; provided,
however, that if the Commencement Date occurs within 10 business days after delivery to Landlord of Tenant’s termination notice, this Lease shall continue in full force and
effect.  If the Commencement Date has not occurred within 10 business days after the date of delivery of Tenant’s termination notice, then this Lease shall terminate as of the
10th business day after delivery of the termination notice, and Landlord shall promptly return to Tenant any prepaid Rent and/or Security Deposit delivered to Landlord.
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ARTICLE 4.  RENT AND OPERATING EXPENSES

 
4.1.   BASIC RENT.  From and after the Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord without deduction or offset a Basic Rent for the Premises in the total amount

shown (including subsequent adjustments, if any) in Item 6 of the Basic Lease Provisions (the “Basic Rent”).  If the Commencement Date is other than the first day of a
calendar month, any rental adjustment shown in Item 6 shall be deemed to occur on the first day of the next calendar month following the specified monthly anniversary of the
Commencement Date.  The Basic Rent shall be due and payable in advance commencing on the Commencement Date and continuing thereafter on the first day of each
successive calendar month of the Term, as prorated for any partial month.  No demand, notice or invoice shall be required.  An installment in the amount of 1 full month’s Basic
Rent at the initial rate specified in Item 6 of the Basic Lease Provisions shall be delivered to Landlord concurrently with the Commencement Date; the next installment of Basic
Rent shall be due on the first day of the sixth calendar month of the Term, which installment shall, if applicable, be appropriately prorated to reflect the amount prepaid for that
calendar month.

 
4.2.   OPERATING EXPENSES. Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses in accordance with Exhibit B of this Lease.
 

4.3.   SECURITY DEPOSIT.  Concurrently with Tenant’s delivery of this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord the sum, if any, stated in Item 9 of the Basic Lease
Provisions (the “Security Deposit”), to be held by Landlord as security for the full and faithful performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease, to pay any rental sums,
including without limitation such additional rent as may be owing under any provision hereof, and to maintain the Premises as required by Sections 7.1 and 15.2 or any other
provision of this Lease.  Upon any breach of the foregoing obligations by Tenant, Landlord may apply all or part of the Security Deposit as full or partial compensation.  If any
portion of the Security Deposit is so applied, Tenant shall within 5 business days after written demand by Landlord deposit cash with Landlord in an amount sufficient to restore
the Security Deposit to its original amount.  Landlord shall not be required to keep this Security Deposit separate from its general funds, and Tenant shall not be entitled to
interest on the Security Deposit.  In no event may Tenant utilize all or any portion of the Security Deposit as a payment toward any rental sum due under this Lease.  Any
unapplied balance of the Security Deposit shall be returned to Tenant within 30 days following the termination of this Lease and Tenant’s vacation of the Premises.  Tenant
hereby waives the provisions of Section 1950.7 of the California Civil Code, or any similar or successor laws now or hereafter in effect, in connection with Landlord’s
application of the Security Deposit to prospective rent that would have been payable by Tenant but for the early termination due to Tenant’s Default (as defined herein).

 
ARTICLE 5.  USES

 
5.1.   USE.  Tenant shall use the Premises only for the purposes stated in Item 3 of the Basic Lease Provisions and for no other use whatsoever.  The uses prohibited under

this Lease shall include, without limitation, use of the Premises or a portion thereof for (i) offices of any agency or bureau of the United States or any state or political
subdivision thereof; (ii) offices or agencies of any foreign governmental or political subdivision thereof; or (iii) schools, temporary employment agencies or other training
facilities which are not ancillary to corporate, executive or professional office use.  Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any
way unreasonably interfere with the rights or quiet enjoyment of other occupants of the Building or the Project, or use or allow the Premises to be used for any unlawful
purpose, nor shall Tenant permit any nuisance or commit any waste in the Premises or the Project.  Tenant shall not perform any work or conduct any business whatsoever in
the Project other than inside the Premises.  Tenant shall comply at its expense with all present and future laws, ordinances and requirements of all governmental authorities that
pertain to Tenant or its use of the Premises.

 
Landlord shall comply at its expense (as properly included in Project Costs) with all present and future laws, ordinances and requirements of all governmental authorities

that pertain to the Common Areas of the Project to which Landlord is notified of such violation by any governmental authority.  In no way limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, shall correct, repair any existing Title III of the Americans With Disabilities Act (“ADA”) violations of the Common Areas on
Tenant’s floors. Said costs of compliance shall be Landlord’s sole cost and expense and shall not be part of Project Costs; provided that any cost of ADA compliance triggered
by the permitting and/or construction of the Tenant Improvements shall be included as part of the “Completion Cost” of the Tenant Improvement Work (as defined in the Work
Letter); provided Landlord will notify Tenant if Tenant’s Preliminary Plan requires modifications to the Common Areas.  Landlord shall correct, repair or replace any non-
compliance of the Building and the Common Areas with any revisions or amendments to applicable building codes, including the ADA, becoming effective after the execution
of this Lease, provided that the amortized cost of such repairs or replacements shall be included as Project Costs payable by Tenant. All other ADA compliance issues which
pertain to the Premises, including without limitation, in connection with Tenant’s construction of any Alterations or other improvements in the Premises (and any resulting ADA
compliance requirements in the Common Areas if Landlord shall consent to same as more particularly provided in Section 7.3 of this Lease) and the operation of Tenant’s
business and employment practices in the Premises, shall be the responsibility of Tenant at its sole cost and expense.
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5.2.   SIGNS.  Landlord shall affix and maintain a sign, at its sole cost and expense, (restricted solely to Tenant’s name as set forth herein or such other name as Landlord

may consent to in writing) adjacent to the entry door of the Premises, together with a directory strip listing Tenant’s name as set forth herein in the lobby directory of the
Building.  Any subsequent changes to that initial signage shall be at Tenant’s sole expense.  All signage shall conform to the criteria for signs established by Landlord and shall
be ordered through Landlord.  Except as set forth in Section 1 of Exhibit G of this Lease, Tenant shall not place or allow to be placed any other sign, decoration or advertising
matter of any kind that is visible from the exterior of the Premises.  Any violating sign or decoration may be immediately removed by Landlord at Tenant’s expense without
notice and without the removal constituting a breach of this Lease or entitling Tenant to claim damages.

 
5.3   HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.  Tenant shall not generate, handle, store or dispose of hazardous or toxic materials (as such materials may be identified in any federal,
state or local law or regulation) in the Premises or Project without the prior written consent of Landlord; provided that the foregoing shall not be deemed to proscribe the use by
Tenant of customary office supplies in normal quantities so long as such use comports with all applicable laws.  To the best of Landlord’s knowledge, as of the date of this
Lease, there are no toxic materials present in the Building except for standard products typically used in the operation and maintenance of an office building.
 

ARTICLE 6.  LANDLORD SERVICES
 

6.1.   UTILITIES AND SERVICES.  Landlord and Tenant shall be responsible to furnish those utilities and services to the Premises to the extent provided in Exhibit C,
subject to the conditions and payment obligations and standards set forth in this Lease.  Landlord shall not be liable for any failure to furnish any services or utilities when the
failure is the result of any accident or other cause beyond Landlord’s reasonable control, nor shall Landlord be liable for damages resulting from power surges or any
breakdown in telecommunications facilities or services.  Landlord’s temporary inability to furnish any services or utilities shall not entitle Tenant to any damages, relieve
Tenant of the obligation to pay rent or constitute a constructive or other eviction of Tenant, except that Landlord shall diligently attempt to restore the service or utility
promptly. However, if the Premises, or a material portion of the Premises, are made untenantable for a period in excess of 2 consecutive business days as a result of a service
interruption or repair that is reasonably within the control of Landlord to correct and through no fault of Tenant and for reasons other than as contemplated in Article 11, then
Tenant, as its sole remedy, shall be entitled to receive an abatement of Rent payable hereunder during the period beginning on the 3rd consecutive business day of the service
interruption or repair and ending on the day the service has been restored or the repair has been completed. Tenant shall comply with all rules and regulations which Landlord
may reasonably establish and communicate to Tenant in writing for the provision of services and utilities, and shall cooperate with all reasonable conservation practices
established by Landlord.  Landlord shall at all reasonable times have free access to all electrical and mechanical installations of Landlord and Landlord shall not generate,
handle, store or dispose of hazardous or toxic materials (as such materials may be identified in any federal, state or local law or regulation) in the Premises or Project during the
Term hereof.
 

6.2.   OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF COMMON AREAS.  During the Term, Landlord shall operate all Common Areas within the Building and the Project
in a first class manner.  The term “Common Areas” shall mean all areas within the Building and other buildings in the Project which are not held for exclusive use by persons
entitled to occupy space, including without limitation parking areas and structures, driveways, sidewalks, landscaped and planted areas, hallways and interior stairwells not
located within the premises of any tenant, common electrical rooms, entrances and lobbies, elevators, and restrooms not located within the premises of any tenant.

 
6.3.   USE OF COMMON AREAS.  The occupancy by Tenant of the Premises shall include the use of the Common Areas in common with Landlord and with all others

for whose convenience and use the Common Areas may be provided by Landlord, subject, however, to compliance with Rules and Regulations described in Article 17 below. 
Landlord shall at all times during the Term have exclusive control of the Common Areas, and may restrain or permit any use or occupancy, except as otherwise provided in this
Lease or in Landlord’s rules and regulations.  Tenant shall keep the Common Areas clear of any obstruction or unauthorized use related to Tenant’s operations.  Landlord may
temporarily close any portion of the Common Areas for repairs, remodeling and/or alterations, to prevent a public dedication or the accrual of prescriptive rights, or for any
other reasonable purpose.  Landlord’s temporary closure of any portion of the Common Areas for such purposes shall not deprive Tenant of reasonable access to or use of the
Premises.

 
6.4.   CHANGES AND ADDITIONS BY LANDLORD.  Landlord reserves the right to make alterations or additions to the Building or the Project or to the attendant

fixtures, equipment and Common Areas, and such change shall not entitle Tenant to any abatement of rent or other claim against Landlord.  No such change shall deprive
Tenant of reasonable access to or use of the Premises. Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to not disturb Tenant in connection with any changes or additions
that may be made to the Building or Project.
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ARTICLE 7.  REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

 
7.1.   TENANT’S MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR.  Subject to Articles 11 and 12, Tenant at its sole expense shall make all repairs necessary to keep the Premises and

all improvements and fixtures therein in good condition and repair, excepting ordinary wear and tear.  Notwithstanding Section 7.2 below, Tenant’s maintenance obligation shall
include without limitation all appliances, interior glass, doors, door closures, hardware, fixtures, electrical, plumbing, fire extinguisher equipment and other equipment installed
in and exclusively serving the Premises and all Alterations constructed by Tenant pursuant to Section 7.3 below, together with any supplemental HVAC equipment servicing
only the Premises.  All repairs and other work performed by Tenant or its contractors shall be subject to the terms of Sections 7.3 and 7.4 below.  Alternatively, should Landlord
or its management agent agree to make a repair on behalf of Tenant and at Tenant’s written request, Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord as additional rent for all
reasonable costs incurred (including the standard supervision fee of not more than 3% of the actual hard costs associated with such work) upon submission of an invoice.

 
7.2.   LANDLORD’S MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR.  Subject to Articles 11 and 12, Landlord shall provide service, maintenance and repair with respect to the

heating, ventilating and air conditioning (“HVAC”) equipment of the Building (exclusive of any supplemental HVAC equipment servicing only the Premises) and shall
maintain in first class condition and repair the Common Areas, roof, roof membrane, curtain wall, mullions, columns, beams, shafts, stairs, parking areas, stairwells, plazas,
elevator cabs, sidewalks, curbs, entrances, foundations, footings, the exterior surfaces of the exterior walls of the Building (including exterior glass), and the structural,
electrical, mechanical life safety and all other plumbing systems of the Building (including elevators, if any, serving the Building), except to the extent provided in Section 7.1
above.  Landlord need not make any other improvements or repairs except as specifically required under this Lease, and nothing contained in this Section 7.2 shall limit
Landlord’s right to reimbursement from Tenant for maintenance, repair costs and replacement costs as provided elsewhere in this Lease.  Notwithstanding any provision of the
California Civil Code or any similar or successor laws to the contrary, Tenant understands that it shall not make repairs at Landlord’s expense or by rental offset.  Except as
provided in Section 6.1, this Paragraph, Section 11.1 and Article 12 below, there shall be no abatement of rent and no liability of Landlord by reason of any injury to or
interference with Tenant’s business arising from the making of any repairs, alterations or improvements to any portion of the Building, including repairs to the Premises, nor
shall any related activity by Landlord constitute an actual or constructive eviction; provided, however, that in making repairs, alterations or improvements, Landlord shall
interfere as little as reasonably practicable with the conduct of Tenant’s business in the Premises. Tenant hereby waives any and all rights under and benefits of subsection 1 of
Section 1932, and Sections 1941 and 1942 of the California Civil Code, or any similar or successor laws now or hereafter in effect.

 
7.3.   ALTERATIONS. Except for cosmetic alteration projects that do not exceed $100,000.00 and that satisfy the criteria in the next following sentence (which work shall

require notice to Landlord but not Landlord’s consent), Tenant shall make no alterations, additions, or improvements (collectively referred to as “Alterations”) to the Premises
without the prior written consent of Landlord.  Landlord’s consent shall not be unreasonably withheld as long as the proposed Alterations do not materially and adversely affect



the structural, electrical or mechanical components or systems of the Building, are not visible from the exterior of the Premises, do not change the basic floor plan of the
Premises, and utilize only materials equal to or greater in quality to the existing finishes or Landlord’s building standard materials if no similar existing materials exist
(“Standard Improvements”).  Within 10 days after receipt of Tenant’s request in accordance with the terms of this paragraph, Landlord shall provide a written response to
Tenant. In the event Landlord fails to give or withhold its consent to any Alterations within 10 days of Tenant’s request, Tenant shall have the right to provide Landlord a second
request for consent. Tenant’s second request for consent must specifically state that Landlord’s failure to respond within a period of 10 days shall be deemed an approval by
Landlord. If Landlord fails to respond continues for 5 days after receipt of Tenant’s second request for consent, the request shall be deemed approved. Landlord may impose, as
a condition to its consent, any requirements that Landlord in its discretion may deem reasonable or desirable.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, unless Landlord
otherwise agrees in writing, Tenant shall use Landlord’s designated mechanical and electrical contractors for all Alterations work affecting the mechanical or electrical systems
of the Building.  Should Tenant perform any Alterations work that would necessitate any ancillary Building modification or other expenditure by Landlord, then Tenant shall
promptly fund the cost thereof to Landlord.  Tenant shall obtain all required permits for the Alterations and shall perform the work in compliance with all applicable laws,
regulations and ordinances with contractors reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and except for Alterations not requiring a permit, Landlord shall be entitled to a supervision fee
in the amount of 3% of the actual hard costs associated with the Alterations.  Any request for Landlord’s consent to Alterations shall be made in writing and shall contain
architectural plans describing the work in detail reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.  Landlord may elect to cause its architect to review Tenant’s architectural plans, and the
reasonable cost of that review shall be reimbursed by Tenant unless Tenant uses architectural, electrical and HVAC consultants that are approved by Landlord or part of the
Landlord’s pre-qualified vendors, in which case Tenant will not be obligated to pay for Landlord’s review.  Should the Alterations proposed by Tenant and consented to by
Landlord change the floor plan of the Premises, then Tenant shall, at its expense, furnish Landlord with as-built drawings and CAD disks compatible with Landlord’s systems. 
Alterations shall be constructed in a good and workmanlike manner using materials of a quality reasonably approved by Landlord Unless Landlord otherwise agrees in writing,
all Alterations affixed to the Premises, including without limitation all Tenant Improvements constructed pursuant to the Work Letter (except as otherwise provided in the Work
Letter), but excluding moveable trade fixtures and furniture, shall become the property of Landlord and shall be surrendered with the Premises at the end of the Term, except
that Landlord may, by notice to
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Tenant given at the time of Landlord’s consent to the Alterations, require Tenant to remove by the Expiration Date, or sooner termination date of this Lease, all or any
Alterations not consistent with the original Tenant Improvements (including without limitation all telephone and data cabling) installed either by Tenant or by Landlord at
Tenant’s request (collectively, the “Required Removables”). Tenant, at the time it requests approval for a proposed Alteration, may request in writing that Landlord advise
Tenant whether the Alteration or any portion thereof, is a Required Removable.  Within 10 days after receipt of Tenant’s request, Landlord shall advise Tenant in writing as to
which portions of the subject Alterations are Required Removables.  In connection with its removal of Required Removables, Tenant shall repair any damage to the Premises
arising from that removal and shall restore the affected area to its pre-existing condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
paragraph 7.3 or elsewhere in the Lease, Landlord agrees Tenant’s interior design, furnishings and decoration of the Premises are not Alterations requiring the consent or other
input of Landlord.

 
7.4.   MECHANIC’S LIENS.  Tenant shall keep the Premises free from any liens arising out of any work performed, materials furnished, or obligations incurred by or

for Tenant.  Upon request by Landlord, Tenant shall promptly cause any such lien to be released by posting a bond in accordance with California Civil Code Section 8424 or
any successor statute.  In the event that Tenant shall not, within 35 days following the imposition of any lien, cause the lien to be released of record by payment or posting of a
proper bond, Landlord shall have, in addition to all other available remedies, the right to cause the lien to be released by any means it deems proper, including payment of or
defense against the claim giving rise to the lien.  All expenses so incurred by Landlord, including Landlord’s attorneys’ fees, shall be reimbursed by Tenant promptly following
Landlord’s demand, together with interest from the date of payment by Landlord at the maximum rate permitted by law until paid.  Tenant shall give Landlord no less than 20
days’ prior notice in writing before commencing construction of any kind on the Premises.

 
7.5.   ENTRY AND INSPECTION.  Landlord shall during normal business hours and to the extent reasonably necessary, have the right to enter the Premises to inspect

them, to supply services in accordance with this Lease, to make repairs and renovations as reasonably deemed necessary by Landlord, and to submit the Premises to prospective
or actual purchasers or encumbrance holders (or, during the final twelve months of the Term or when an uncured Default exists, to prospective tenants), all without being
deemed to have caused an eviction of Tenant and without abatement of rent except as provided elsewhere in this Lease.  If reasonably necessary, Landlord may temporarily
close all or a portion of the Premises to perform repairs, alterations and additions. Except in emergencies or to provide Building services, Landlord shall provide Tenant with
reasonable prior verbal notice of entry and shall use reasonable efforts to minimize any interference with Tenant’s use of the Premises.

 
ARTICLE 8.  SPACE PLANNING AND SUBSTITUTION

 
Intentionally omitted.

 
ARTICLE 9.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

 
9.1.   RIGHTS OF PARTIES.
 

(a)                                 Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 9, Tenant may not, either voluntarily or by operation of law, assign, sublet, encumber, or otherwise
transfer all or any part of Tenant’s interest in this Lease, or permit the Premises to be occupied by anyone other than Tenant (each, a “Transfer”), without Landlord’s prior
written consent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.1(b).  For purposes of this Lease, references to any subletting,
sublease or variation thereof shall be deemed to apply not only to a sublease effected directly by Tenant, but also to a sub-subletting or an assignment of subtenancy by a
subtenant at any level.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 9, no Transfer (whether voluntary, involuntary or by operation of law) shall be valid or effective
without Landlord’s prior written consent and, at Landlord’s election, such a Transfer shall constitute a material default of this Lease.

 
(b)                                 Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Article 9, if Tenant or any subtenant hereunder desires to transfer an interest in this Lease, Tenant shall first

notify Landlord in writing and shall request Landlord’s consent thereto.  Tenant shall also submit to Landlord in writing:  (i) the name and address of the proposed transferee;
(ii) the nature of any proposed subtenant’s or assignee’s business to be carried on in the Premises; (iii) the terms and provisions of any proposed sublease or assignment
(including without limitation the rent and other economic provisions, term, improvement obligations and commencement date); (iv) evidence that the proposed assignee or
subtenant will comply with the requirements of Exhibit D to this Lease; and (v) any other information requested by Landlord and reasonably related to the Transfer.  Landlord
shall not unreasonably withhold its consent, provided:  (1) the use of the Premises will be consistent with the provisions of this Lease and with Landlord’s commitment to other
tenants of the Building and Project; (2) any proposed assignee demonstrates that it is financially responsible by submission to Landlord of all reasonable information as
Landlord may request concerning the proposed assignee, including, but not limited to, a balance sheet of the proposed subtenant or assignee as of a date within 90 days of the
request for Landlord’s consent and statements of income or profit and loss of the proposed assignee for the two-year period preceding the request for Landlord’s consent; (3) the
proposed assignee or subtenant is neither an existing tenant or occupant of the Building or Project nor a prospective tenant with whom Landlord or Landlord’s affiliate has been
actively negotiating to become a tenant at the Building or Project within the prior 6 months, except that Landlord will not enforce this restriction if it does not have sufficient
available space to accommodate the proposed transferee; and (4) the proposed transferee is not an SDN (as defined below) and will not
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impose additional burdens or security risks on Landlord.  If Landlord consents to the proposed Transfer, then the Transfer may be effected within 90 days after the date of the
consent upon the terms described in the information furnished to Landlord; provided that any material change in the terms shall be subject to Landlord’s consent as set forth in
this Section 9.1(b).  Landlord shall approve or disapprove any requested Transfer within 20 days following receipt of Tenant’s written notice and the information set forth
above.  Except in connection with a Permitted Transfer (as defined below), if Landlord approves the Transfer Tenant shall pay a transfer fee of not more than $500.00 to
Landlord concurrently with Tenant’s execution of a Transfer consent prepared by Landlord.

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection (b) above, and except in connection with a “Permitted Transfer” (as defined below), in lieu of consenting to a

proposed assignment or subletting of more than 1 full floor for more than 50% of the remaining Term, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease as to the portion of the
Premises proposed to be subleased with a proportionate abatement in the rent payable under this Lease, such termination to be effective on the date that the proposed sublease
or assignment would have commenced.  Landlord may thereafter, at its option, assign or re-let any space so recaptured to any third party, including without limitation the
proposed transferee identified by Tenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, should Landlord so elect to recapture the portion of the Premises Tenant is proposing to
transfer, Tenant may, by notice to Landlord within 5 business days thereafter, elect to rescind its transfer request, in which event Landlord’s recapture election shall be null and
void and Tenant will not consummate its proposed transfer.

 
(d)                                 Should any Transfer occur, Tenant shall, except in connection with a Permitted Transfer, promptly pay or cause to be paid to Landlord, as additional rent, 50%

of any amounts paid by the assignee or subtenant, however described and whether funded during or after the Lease Term, to the extent such amounts are in excess of the sum of
(i) the scheduled Basic Rent payable by Tenant hereunder (or, in the event of a subletting of only a portion of the Premises, the Basic Rent allocable to such portion as
reasonably determined by Landlord) and (ii) the direct out-of-pocket costs, as evidenced by third party invoices provided to Landlord, incurred by Tenant to effect the Transfer,
which costs shall be amortized over the remaining Term of this Lease or, if shorter, over the term of the sublease.

 
(e)                                  The sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant (other than bulk sales in the ordinary course of business), the merger or consolidation of Tenant, the

sale of Tenant’s capital stock, or any other direct or indirect change of control of Tenant, including, without limitation, change of control of Tenant’s parent company or a
merger by Tenant or its parent company (but excluding the sale of stock of either Tenant or Tenant’s parent on or through a national recognized stock exchange), shall be
deemed a Transfer within the meaning and provisions of this Article.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may assign this Lease to a successor to Tenant by merger,
consolidation or the purchase of substantially all of Tenant’s assets, or assign this Lease or sublet all or a portion of the Premises to an Affiliate (defined below), without the
consent of Landlord but subject to the provisions of Section 9.2, provided that all of the following conditions are satisfied (a “Permitted Transfer”):  (i) Tenant is not then in
Default hereunder; (ii) Tenant gives Landlord written notice at least 10 business days before such Permitted Transfer; and (iii) the successor entity resulting from any merger or
consolidation of Tenant or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant, has a net worth (computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
except that intangible assets such as goodwill, patents, copyrights, and trademarks shall be excluded in the calculation (“Net Worth”)) at the time of the Permitted Transfer that
is at least equal to the Net Worth of Tenant immediately before the Permitted Transfer.  Tenant’s notice to Landlord shall include reasonable information and documentation
evidencing the Permitted Transfer and showing that each of the above conditions has been satisfied. Any Permitted Transfer shall not be subject to the transfer fee. If requested
by Landlord, Tenant’s successor shall sign and deliver to Landlord a commercially reasonable form of assumption agreement.  “Affiliate” shall mean an entity controlled by,
controlling or under common control with Tenant.

 
9.2.   EFFECT OF TRANSFER.  No subletting or assignment, even with the consent of Landlord, shall relieve Tenant, or any successor-in-interest to Tenant hereunder,

of its obligation to pay rent and to perform all its other obligations under this Lease.  Each assignee, other than Landlord, shall be deemed to assume all obligations of Tenant
under this Lease and shall be liable jointly and severally with Tenant for the payment of all rent, and for the due performance of all of Tenant’s obligations, under this Lease. 
Such joint and several liability shall not be discharged or impaired by any subsequent modification or extension of this Lease.  Consent by Landlord to one or more transfers
shall not operate as a waiver or estoppel to the future enforcement by Landlord of its rights under this Lease.

 
9.3.   SUBLEASE REQUIREMENTS.  Any sublease, license, concession or other occupancy agreement entered into by Tenant shall be subordinate and subject to the

provisions of this Lease, and if this Lease is terminated during the term of any such agreement, Landlord shall have the right to:  (i) treat such agreement as cancelled and
repossess the subject space by any lawful means, or (ii) require that such transferee attorn to and recognize Landlord as its landlord (or licensor, as applicable) under such
agreement.  Landlord shall not, by reason of such attornment or the collection of sublease rentals, be deemed liable to the subtenant for the performance of any of Tenant’s
obligations under the sublease. If Tenant is in Default (hereinafter defined), Landlord is irrevocably authorized to direct any transferee under any such agreement to make all
payments under such agreement directly to Landlord (which Landlord shall apply towards Tenant’s obligations under this Lease) until such Default is cured.
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ARTICLE 10.  INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

 
10.1.   TENANT’S INSURANCE.  Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall provide and maintain in effect the insurance described in Exhibit D.  Evidence of that

insurance must be delivered to Landlord prior to the Commencement Date.
 
10.2.   LANDLORD’S INSURANCE.  Landlord shall provide the following types of insurance, with or without deductible and in commercially reasonable amounts and

coverages as may be reasonably determined by Landlord, so long as at all times Landlord covenants to provide insurance consistent with Landlord’s other first class office
buildings and insurance maintained by landlords of other first class office projects in Orange County, California:  property insurance, subject to standard exclusions (such as,
but not limited to, earthquake and flood exclusions), covering the Building or Project.  In addition, Landlord may, at its election, obtain insurance coverages for such other risks
as Landlord or its Mortgagees may from time to time deem appropriate, including earthquake and commercial general liability coverage.  Landlord shall not be required to
carry insurance of any kind on any tenant improvements or Alterations in the Premises installed by Tenant or its contractors or otherwise removable by Tenant (collectively,
“Tenant Installations”), or on any trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, interior plate glass, signs or items of personal property in the Premises, and Landlord shall not be
obligated to repair or replace any of the foregoing items should damage occur.  All proceeds of insurance maintained by Landlord upon the Building and Project shall be the
property of Landlord, whether or not Landlord is obligated to or elects to make any repairs.

 
10.3.   JOINT INDEMNITY.
 

(a)                                 To the fullest extent permitted by law, but subject to Section 10.5 below, Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord, its agents, lenders, and
any and all affiliates of Landlord, from and against any and all claims, liabilities, costs or expenses arising either before or after the Commencement Date from Tenant’s use or
occupancy of the Premises, the Building or the Common Areas, or from the conduct of its business, or from any activity, work, or thing done, permitted or suffered by Tenant or
its agents, employees, subtenants, vendors, contractors, invitees or licensees in or about the Premises, the Building or the Common Areas, or from any Default in the
performance of any obligation on Tenant’s part to be performed under this Lease, or from any act or negligence of Tenant or its agents, employees, subtenants, vendors,
contractors, invitees or licensees.  Landlord may, at its option, require Tenant to assume Landlord’s defense in any action covered by this Section 10.3(a) through counsel
reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not be obligated to indemnify Landlord against any liability or expense to the extent such
liability or expense: (i) is ultimately determined to have been caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, contractors or employees, or
(ii) covered by Landlord’s indemnity obligations set forth in Section 10.3(b) below.



 
(b)                                 To the fullest extent permitted by law, but subject to Section 10.5 below, Landlord shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Tenant, its agents, lenders, and

any and all affiliates of Tenant, from and against any and all claims, liabilities, costs or expenses arising either before or after the Commencement Date from the active
negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its employees, agents or contractors.  Tenant may, at its option, require Landlord to assume Tenant’s defense in any action
covered by this Section 10.3(b) through counsel reasonably satisfactory to Tenant.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall not be obligated to indemnify Tenant against
any liability or expense to the extent such liability or expense: (i) is ultimately determined to have been caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, its
agents, contractors or employees, or (ii) is covered by Tenant’s indemnity obligations set forth in Section 10.3(a) above.

 
10.4.   LANDLORD’S NONLIABILITY.  Unless caused by the negligence or intentional misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors but subject to
Section 10.5 below, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant, its employees, agents and invitees, and Tenant hereby waives all claims against Landlord, its employees and agents
for loss of or damage to any property, or any injury to any person, resulting from any condition including, but not limited to, acts or omissions (criminal or otherwise) of third
parties and/or other tenants of the Project, or their agents, employees or invitees, fire, explosion, falling plaster, steam, gas, electricity, water or rain which may leak or flow
from or into any part of the Premises or from the breakage, leakage, obstruction or other defects of the pipes, sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, air conditioning, electrical
works or other fixtures in the Building, whether the damage or injury results from conditions arising in the Premises or in other portions of the Building.  It is understood that
any such condition may require the temporary evacuation or closure of all or a portion of the Building.  Should Tenant elect to receive any service from a concessionaire,
licensee or third party tenant of Landlord, Tenant shall not seek recourse against Landlord for any breach or liability of that service provider.  Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained in this Lease, in no event shall Landlord or Tenant be liable to the other for loss or interruption of business or income (including without limitation,
consequential damages, lost profits or opportunity costs), or for interference with light or other similar intangible interests.
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10.5.   WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.  Landlord and Tenant each hereby waives all rights of recovery against the other on account of loss and damage occasioned to

the property of such waiving party to the extent that the waiving party is entitled to proceeds for such loss and damage under any property insurance policies carried or
otherwise required to be carried by this Lease; provided however, that the foregoing waiver shall not apply to the extent of Tenant’s obligation to pay deductibles under any
such policies and this Lease.  By this waiver it is the intent of the parties that neither Landlord nor Tenant shall be liable to any insurance company (by way of subrogation or
otherwise) insuring the other party for any loss or damage insured against under any property insurance policies, even though such loss or damage might be occasioned by the
negligence of such party, its agents, employees, contractors or invitees.  The foregoing waiver by Tenant shall also inure to the benefit of Landlord’s management agent for the
Building.

 
ARTICLE 11.  DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION

 
11.1.   RESTORATION.
 

(a)           If the Building of which the Premises are a part is damaged as the result of an event of casualty, then subject to the provisions below, Landlord shall repair
that damage as soon as reasonably possible unless Landlord reasonably determines that:  (i) the Premises have been materially damaged and there is less than 1 year of the Term
remaining on the date of the casualty; (ii) any Mortgagee (defined in Section 13.1) requires that the insurance proceeds be applied to the payment of the mortgage debt; or (iii)
proceeds necessary to pay the full cost of the repair are not available from Landlord’s insurance, including without limitation earthquake insurance.  Should Landlord elect not
to repair the damage for one of the preceding reasons, Landlord shall so notify Tenant in the “Casualty Notice” (as defined below), and this Lease shall terminate as of the date
of delivery of that notice.

 
(b)           As soon as reasonably practicable following the casualty event but not later than 60 days thereafter, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing (“Casualty

Notice”) of Landlord’s election, if applicable, to terminate this Lease.  If this Lease is not so terminated, the Casualty Notice shall set forth the anticipated period for repairing
the casualty damage.  If the anticipated repair period exceeds 270 days and if the damage is so extensive as to reasonably prevent Tenant’s substantial use and enjoyment of the
Premises, then either party may elect to terminate this Lease by written notice to the other within 10 days following delivery of the Casualty Notice.

 
(c)           In the event that neither Landlord nor Tenant terminates this Lease pursuant to Section 11.1(b), Landlord shall repair all material damage to the Premises or

the Building as soon as reasonably possible and this Lease shall continue in effect for the remainder of the Term.  Upon notice from Landlord, Tenant shall assign or endorse
over to Landlord (or to any party designated by Landlord) all property insurance proceeds payable to Tenant under Tenant’s insurance with respect to any Tenant Installations;
provided if the estimated cost to repair such Tenant Installations exceeds the amount of insurance proceeds received by Landlord from Tenant’s insurance carrier, the excess
cost of such repairs shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord prior to Landlord’s commencement of repairs.  Within 15 days of demand, Tenant shall also pay Landlord for any
additional excess costs that are determined during the performance of the repairs to such Tenant Installations.

 
(d)           From and after the 6  business day following the casualty event, the rental to be paid under this Lease shall be abated in the same proportion that the Floor

Area of the Premises that is rendered unusable by the damage from time to time bears to the total Floor Area of the Premises.
 
(e)           The provisions of this Section 11.1 shall not be deemed to require Landlord to repair any Tenant Installations, fixtures and other items that Tenant is obligated

to insure pursuant to Exhibit D or under any other provision of this Lease.
 

11.2.   LEASE GOVERNS.  Tenant agrees that the provisions of this Lease, including without limitation Section 11.1, shall govern any damage or destruction and shall
accordingly supersede any contrary statute or rule of law.

 
ARTICLE 12. EMINENT DOMAIN

 
Either party may terminate this Lease if any material part of the Premises and parking facilities (but only if Landlord is unable to provide alternative parking to Tenant) is

taken or condemned for any public or quasi-public use under Law, by eminent domain or private purchase in lieu thereof (a “Taking”).  Landlord shall also have the right to
terminate this Lease if there is a Taking of any portion of the Building or Project which would have a material adverse effect on Landlord’s ability to profitably operate the
remainder of the Building.  The termination shall be effective as of the effective date of any order granting possession to, or vesting legal title in, the condemning authority.  If
this Lease is not terminated, Basic Rent and Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses shall be appropriately adjusted to account for any reduction in the square footage of the
Building or Premises. All compensation awarded for a Taking shall be the property of Landlord and the right to receive compensation or proceeds in connection with a Taking
are expressly waived by Tenant; provided, however, Tenant may file a separate claim for Tenant’s personal property and Tenant’s reasonable relocation expenses, provided the
filing of the claim does not diminish the amount of Landlord’s award.  If only a part of the Premises is subject to a Taking and this Lease is not terminated, Landlord, with
reasonable diligence, will restore the remaining portion of the Premises as nearly as practicable to the condition immediately prior to the Taking.  Tenant agrees that the
provisions of this Lease shall govern any Taking and shall accordingly supersede any contrary statute or rule of law.
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ARTICLE 13.  SUBORDINATION; ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE

 
13.1.   SUBORDINATION.  Tenant accepts this Lease subject and subordinate to any mortgage(s), deed(s) of trust, ground lease(s) or other lien(s) now or subsequently

arising upon the Premises, the Building or the Project, and to renewals, modifications, refinancings and extensions thereof (collectively referred to as a “Mortgage”); provided
that, so long as Tenant is not in Default under this Lease after the expiration of the applicable cure period, this Lease shall not be terminated or Tenant’s quiet enjoyment of the
Premises disturbed in the event of termination of any such ground or underlying lease, or the foreclosure of any such mortgage or deed trust. The party having the benefit of a
Mortgage shall be referred to as a “Mortgagee”. Upon request from a Mortgagee, Tenant shall execute a commercially reasonable subordination and attornment agreement in
favor of the Mortgagee, provided such agreement provides a non-disturbance covenant benefiting Tenant.  Alternatively, a Mortgagee shall have the right at any time to
subordinate its Mortgage to this Lease.  Upon request, Tenant, without charge, shall attorn to any successor to Landlord’s interest in this Lease in the event of a foreclosure of
any mortgage.  Tenant agrees that any purchaser at a foreclosure sale or lender taking title under a deed in lieu of foreclosure shall not be responsible for any act or omission of
a prior landlord, shall not be subject to any offsets or defenses Tenant may have against a prior landlord, and shall not be bound by any rent paid in advance of the calendar
month in which the transfer of title occurred; provided that the foregoing shall not release the applicable prior landlord from any liability for those obligations.  Tenant
acknowledges that Landlord’s Mortgagees and their successors-in-interest are intended third party beneficiaries of this Section 13.1. As of the date hereof, there is no Mortgage
encumbering the Building.

 
13.2.   ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE.  Tenant shall, within 10 business days after receipt of a written request from Landlord, execute and deliver a commercially

reasonable estoppel certificate in favor of those parties as are reasonably requested by Landlord (including a Mortgagee or a prospective purchaser of the Building or the
Project). In no event shall such estoppel certificate increase any of Tenant’s obligations or decrease any of Tenant’s rights.

 
ARTICLE 14.  DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

 
14.1.   TENANT’S DEFAULTS.  In addition to any other event of default set forth in this Lease, the occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall

constitute a “Default” by Tenant:
 

(a)           The failure by Tenant to make any payment of Rent required to be made by Tenant, as and when due, where the failure continues for a period of 3 days after
written notice from Landlord to Tenant.  The term “Rent” as used in this Lease shall be deemed to mean the Basic Rent and all other sums required to be paid by Tenant to
Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease

 
(b)           The assignment, sublease, encumbrance or other Transfer of the Lease by Tenant, either voluntarily or by operation of law, whether by judgment, execution,

transfer by intestacy or testacy, or other means, without the prior written consent of Landlord unless otherwise authorized in Article 9 of this Lease.
 
(c)           The discovery by Landlord that any financial statement provided by Tenant, or by any affiliate, successor or guarantor of Tenant, was materially false.
 
(d)           Except where a specific time period is otherwise set forth for Tenant’s performance in this Lease (in which event the failure to perform by Tenant within such

time period after notice from Landlord shall be a Default), the failure or inability by Tenant to observe or perform any of the covenants or provisions of this Lease to be
observed or performed by Tenant, other than as specified in any other subsection of this Section 14.1, where the failure continues for a period of 30 days after written notice
from Landlord to Tenant.  However, if the nature of the failure is such that more than 30 days are reasonably required for its cure, then Tenant shall not be deemed to be in
Default if Tenant commences the cure within 30 days, and thereafter diligently pursues the cure to completion.

 
The notice periods provided herein are in lieu of, and not in addition to, any notice periods provided by law, and Landlord shall not be required to give any additional

notice under California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1161, or any successor statute, in order to be entitled to commence an unlawful detainer proceeding.
 

14.2.   LANDLORD’S REMEDIES.
 

(a)           Upon the occurrence of any Default by Tenant, then in addition to any other remedies available to Landlord, Landlord may exercise the following remedies:
 

                                (i)            Landlord may terminate Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises by any lawful means, in which case this Lease shall terminate and Tenant
shall immediately surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord.  Such termination shall not affect any accrued obligations of Tenant under this Lease.  Upon termination,
Landlord shall have the right to reenter the Premises and remove all persons and property.  Landlord shall also be entitled to recover from Tenant:
 
                                                (1)           The worth at the time of award of the unpaid Rent which had been earned at the time of termination;
 
                                                (2)           The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent which would have been earned after termination until the time
of award exceeds the amount of such loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided;
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                                                (3)           The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the Term after the time of award exceeds the
amount of such loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided;
 
                                                (4)           Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its
obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result from Tenant’s default, including, but not limited to, the cost of recovering
possession of the Premises, commissions and other expenses of reletting, including necessary repair, renovation, improvement and alteration of the Premises for a new tenant,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, and any other reasonable costs; and
 
                                                (5)           At Landlord’s election, all other amounts in addition to or in lieu of the foregoing as may be permitted by law.  Any sum, other than
Basic Rent, shall be computed on the basis of the average monthly amount accruing during the 24 month period immediately prior to Default, except that if it becomes
necessary to compute such rental before the 24 month period has occurred, then the computation shall be on the basis of the average monthly amount during the shorter period. 
As used in subparagraphs (1) and (2) above, the “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by allowing interest at the rate of 10% per annum.  As used in subparagraph (3)
above, the “worth at the time of award” shall be computed by discounting the amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of award
plus 1%.
 
                                (ii)           Landlord may elect not to terminate Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises, in which event Landlord may continue to enforce all of its rights
and remedies under this Lease, including the right to collect all rent as it becomes due.  Efforts by the Landlord to maintain, preserve or relet the Premises, or the appointment
of a receiver to protect the Landlord’s interests under this Lease, shall not constitute a termination of the Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises.  In the event that Landlord



elects to avail itself of the remedy provided by this subsection (ii), Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to an assignment or subletting of the Premises subject
to the reasonable standards for Landlord’s consent as are contained in this Lease.
 

(b)           The various rights and remedies reserved to Landlord in this Lease or otherwise shall be cumulative and, except as otherwise provided by California law,
Landlord may pursue any or all of its rights and remedies at the same time.  No delay or omission of Landlord to exercise any right or remedy shall be construed as a waiver of
the right or remedy or of any breach or Default by Tenant.  The acceptance by Landlord of rent shall not be a (i) waiver of any preceding breach or Default by Tenant of any
provision of this Lease, other than the failure of Tenant to pay the particular rent accepted, regardless of Landlord’s knowledge of the preceding breach or Default at the time of
acceptance of rent, or (ii) a waiver of Landlord’s right to exercise any remedy available to Landlord by virtue of the breach or Default.  The acceptance of any payment from a
debtor in possession, a trustee, a receiver or any other person acting on behalf of Tenant or Tenant’s estate shall not waive or cure a Default under Section 14.1.  No payment by
Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the rent required by this Lease shall be deemed to be other than a partial payment on account of the earliest due stipulated
rent, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or letter be deemed an accord and satisfaction and Landlord shall accept the check or payment without prejudice to
Landlord’s right to recover the balance of the rent or pursue any other remedy available to it.  Tenant hereby waives any right of redemption or relief from forfeiture under
California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1174 or 1179, or under any successor statute, in the event this Lease is terminated by reason of any Default by Tenant.  No act or
thing done by Landlord or Landlord’s agents during the Term shall be deemed an acceptance of a surrender of the Premises, and no agreement to accept a surrender shall be
valid unless in writing and signed by Landlord.  No employee of Landlord or of Landlord’s agents shall have any power to accept the keys to the Premises prior to the
termination of this Lease, and the delivery of the keys to any employee shall not operate as a termination of the Lease or a surrender of the Premises.

 
14.3.   LATE PAYMENTS.  Any Rent due under this Lease that is not paid to Landlord within 5 days of the date when due shall bear interest at the maximum rate

permitted by law from the date due until fully paid.  The payment of interest shall not cure any Default by Tenant under this Lease.  In addition, Tenant acknowledges that the
late payment by Tenant to Landlord of rent will cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be extremely difficult and
impracticable to ascertain.  Those costs may include, but are not limited to, administrative, processing and accounting charges, and late charges which may be imposed on
Landlord by the terms of any ground lease, mortgage or trust deed covering the Premises.  Accordingly, if any rent due from Tenant shall not be received by Landlord or
Landlord’s designee within 5 days after the date due, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in addition to the interest provided above, a late charge for each delinquent payment
equal to the greater of (i) 2% of that delinquent payment or (ii) $100.00.  Acceptance of a late charge by Landlord shall not constitute a waiver of Tenant’s Default with respect
to the overdue amount, nor shall it prevent Landlord from exercising any of its other rights and remedies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord will not charge a late fee for
the first late payment of each calendar year during the Term.

 
14.4.   RIGHT OF LANDLORD TO PERFORM.  If Tenant is in Default of any of its obligations under the Lease, Landlord shall have the right to perform such

obligations.  Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost of such performance upon demand together with an administrative charge equal to 10% of the cost of the work
performed by Landlord.
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14.5.   DEFAULT BY LANDLORD.  Landlord shall not be deemed to be in default in the performance of any obligation under this Lease unless and until it has failed to

perform the obligation within 30 days after written notice by Tenant to Landlord specifying in reasonable detail the nature and extent of the failure; provided, however, that if
the nature of Landlord’s obligation is such that more than 30 days are required for its performance, then Landlord shall not be deemed to be in default if it commences
performance within the 30 day period and thereafter diligently pursues the cure to completion.

 
14.6.   EXPENSES AND LEGAL FEES.  Should either Landlord or Tenant bring any action in connection with this Lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to

recover as a part of the action its reasonable attorneys’ fees, and all other reasonable costs.  The prevailing party for the purpose of this paragraph shall be determined by the
trier of the facts.

 
14.7.   WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL/JUDICIAL REFERENCE.
 

(a)           LANDLORD AND TENANT EACH ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS AWARE OF AND HAS HAD THE ADVICE OF COUNSEL OF ITS
CHOICE WITH RESPECT TO ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY, AND EACH PARTY DOES HEREBY EXPRESSLY AND KNOWINGLY WAIVE AND
RELEASE ALL SUCH RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM BROUGHT BY EITHER PARTY HERETO
AGAINST THE OTHER (AND/OR AGAINST ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, OR SUBSIDIARY OR AFFILIATED ENTITIES) ON
ANY MATTERS WHATSOEVER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS LEASE, TENANT’S USE OR OCCUPANCY OF THE
PREMISES, AND/OR ANY CLAIM OF INJURY OR DAMAGE.

 
(b)           Should a dispute arise between the parties regarding any matter described above, then except with respect to actions for unlawful or forcible detainer either

party may cause the dispute to be submitted to either Jams/Endispute (“Jams”) or the american arbitration association (“AAA”), or their successors, in the county in which the
building is situated for binding arbitration before a single arbitrator.  however, each party reserves the right to seek a provisional remedy by judicial action.  No arbitration
election by either party pursuant to this subsection shall be effective if made later than thirty (30) days following service of a judicial summons and complaint by or upon such
party concerning the dispute.  The arbitration election shall designate whether the arbitration will be conducted with Jams or AAA.  The arbitration shall be conducted in
accordance with the rules of practice and procedure of jams or the commercial arbitration rules of the AAA, as applicable, and otherwise pursuant to the California Arbitration
Act (Code of Civil Procedure sections 1280 et seq.).  notwithstanding the foregoing, the arbitrator is specifically directed to limit discovery to that which is essential to the
effective prosecution or defense of the action. The arbitrator shall, to the extent applicable, follow the substantive law of California and shall render a reasoned written decision
within twenty days following the hearing.  The arbitrator shall apportion the costs of the arbitration, together with the attorneys’ fees of the parties, in the manner deemed
equitable by the arbitrator, it being the intention of the parties that the prevailing party ordinarily be entitled to recover its reasonable costs and fees.  Judgment upon any award
rendered by the arbitrator may be entered by any court having jurisdiction.

 
14.8   SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT.
 
(a) The obligations of Landlord do not constitute the personal obligations of the individual partners, trustees, directors, officers, members or shareholders of Landlord or

its constituent partners or members. Should Tenant recover a money judgment against Landlord, such judgment shall be satisfied only from the interest of Landlord in the
Project and out of the rent or other income from such property receivable by Landlord, and no action for any deficiency may be sought or obtained by Tenant.

 
(b) The obligations of Tenant do not constitute the personal obligations of the individual partners, trustees, directors, officers, members or shareholders of Tenant, its

parent company or their constituent partners or members.
 

ARTICLE 15.  END OF TERM
 

15.1.   HOLDING OVER.  If Tenant holds over for any period after the Expiration Date (or earlier termination of the Term) without the prior written consent of
Landlord, such tenancy shall constitute a tenancy at sufferance only and a Default by Tenant; such holding over with the prior written consent of Landlord shall constitute a
month-to-month tenancy commencing on the 1  day following the termination of this Lease and terminating 30 days following delivery of written notice of termination by
either Landlord or Tenant to the other.  In either of such events, possession shall be subject to all of the terms of this Lease, except that the monthly rental for the holdover shall

st



be 150% of the total monthly rental for the month immediately preceding the date of termination.  The acceptance by Landlord of monthly hold-over rental in a lesser amount
shall not constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to recover the full amount due unless otherwise agreed in writing by Landlord.  If Tenant fails to surrender the Premises upon
the expiration of this Lease despite demand to do so by Landlord, Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all loss or liability, including without limitation, any
claims made by any succeeding tenant relating to such failure to surrender.  The foregoing provisions of this Section 15.1 are in addition to and do not affect Landlord’s right of
re-entry or any other rights of Landlord under this Lease or at law.
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15.2.   SURRENDER OF PREMISES; REMOVAL OF PROPERTY.  Upon the Expiration Date or upon any earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall quit and

surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord in as good order, condition and repair as when received or as hereafter may be improved by Landlord or Tenant, reasonable
wear and tear and repairs which are Landlord’s obligation excepted, and shall remove or fund to Landlord the cost of removing all voice and/or data transmission cabling
installed by or for Tenant and Required Removables, together with all personal property and debris, and shall perform all work required under Section 7.3 of this Lease.  If
Tenant shall fail to comply with the provisions of this Section 15.2, Landlord may effect the removal and/or make any repairs, and the cost to Landlord shall be additional rent
payable by Tenant upon demand.

 
ARTICLE 16.  PAYMENTS AND NOTICES

 
All sums payable by Tenant to Landlord shall be paid, without deduction or offset, in lawful money of the United States to Landlord at its address set forth in Item 12 of

the Basic Lease Provisions, or at any other place as Landlord may designate in writing.  Unless this Lease expressly provides otherwise, as for example in the payment of rent
pursuant to Section 4.1, all payments shall be due and payable within 5 days after demand.  All payments requiring proration shall be prorated on the basis of the number of
days in the pertinent calendar month or year, as applicable.  Any notice, election, demand, consent, approval or other communication to be given or other document to be
delivered by either party to the other may be delivered to the other party, at the address set forth in Item 12 of the Basic Lease Provisions, by personal service, or by any courier
or “overnight” express mailing service.  Either party may, by written notice to the other, served in the manner provided in this Article, designate a different address.  The refusal
to accept delivery of a notice, or the inability to deliver the notice (whether due to a change of address for which notice was not duly given or other good reason), shall be
deemed delivery and receipt of the notice as of the date of attempted delivery.  If more than one person or entity is named as Tenant under this Lease, service of any notice upon
any one of them shall be deemed as service upon all of them.
 

ARTICLE 17.  RULES AND REGULATIONS
 

Tenant agrees to comply with the Rules and Regulations attached as Exhibit E, and any reasonable and nondiscriminatory amendments, modifications and/or additions as
may be adopted and published by written notice to tenants by Landlord for the safety, care, security, good order, or cleanliness of the Premises, Building, Project and/or
Common Areas.  Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any violation of the Rules and Regulations or the breach of any covenant or condition in any lease or any other act or
conduct by any other tenant, and the same shall not constitute a constructive eviction hereunder.  One or more waivers by Landlord of any breach of the Rules and Regulations
by Tenant or by any other tenant(s) shall not be a waiver of any subsequent breach of that rule or any other.  Tenant’s failure to keep and observe the Rules and Regulations after
written notice of the same from Landlord shall constitute a default under this Lease.  In the case of any conflict between the Rules and Regulations and this Lease, this Lease
shall be controlling. All Rules and Regulation shall be uniformly enforced on a non-discriminatory basis amongst all tenants at the Building or Project.
 

ARTICLE 18.  BROKER’S COMMISSION
 

The parties recognize as the broker(s) who negotiated this Lease the firm(s) whose name(s) is (are) stated in Item 10 of the Basic Lease Provisions, and agree that
Landlord alone shall be responsible for the payment of brokerage commissions to those broker(s).  It is understood that Landlord’s Broker represents only Landlord in this
transaction and Tenant’s Broker (if any) represents only Tenant.  Each party warrants that it has had no dealings with any other real estate broker or agent in connection with the
negotiation of this Lease, and agrees to indemnify and hold the other party harmless from any cost, expense or liability (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) for any
compensation, commissions or charges claimed by any other real estate broker or agent employed or claiming to represent or to have been employed by the indemnifying party
in connection with the negotiation of this Lease.  The foregoing agreement shall survive the termination of this Lease.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event Tenant recognizes Broker as its exclusive broker relating to the Right to Extend or Right of First Offer set forth in Sections 3

and 4, respectively, of Exhibit G, Landlord shall pay Broker a commission in accordance with a separate agreement between Landlord and Broker.
 

ARTICLE 19.  TRANSFER OF LANDLORD’S INTEREST
 

In the event of any transfer of Landlord’s interest in the Premises, the transferor shall be automatically relieved of all obligations on the part of Landlord accruing under
this Lease from and after the date of the transfer, provided that Tenant is duly notified of the transfer.  Any funds held by the transferor in which Tenant has an interest,
including without limitation, the Security Deposit, shall be turned over, subject to that interest, to the transferee.  It is intended that the covenants and obligations contained in
this Lease on the part of Landlord shall, subject to the foregoing, be binding on Landlord, its successors and assigns, only during and in respect to their respective successive
periods of ownership.

 
ARTICLE 20.  INTERPRETATION

 
20.1.   NUMBER.  Whenever the context of this Lease requires, the words “Landlord” and “Tenant” shall include the plural as well as the singular.
 
20.2.   HEADINGS.  The captions and headings of the articles and sections of this Lease are for convenience only, are not a part of this Lease and shall have no effect

upon its construction or interpretation.
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20.3.   JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY.  If more than one person or entity is named as Tenant, the obligations imposed upon each shall be joint and several and the

act of or notice from, or notice or refund to, or the signature of, any one or more of them shall be binding on all of them with respect to the tenancy of this Lease, including, but
not limited to, any renewal, extension, termination or modification of this Lease.

 
20.4.   SUCCESSORS.  Subject to Sections 13.1 and 22.3 and to Articles 9 and 19 of this Lease, all rights and liabilities given to or imposed upon Landlord and Tenant

shall extend to and bind their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.  Nothing contained in this Section 20.4 is intended, or shall be construed, to
grant to any person other than Landlord and Tenant and their successors and assigns any rights or remedies under this Lease.

 
20.5.   TIME OF ESSENCE.  Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Lease in which time of performance is a factor.



 
20.6.   CONTROLLING LAW/VENUE.  This Lease shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of California.  Should any litigation

be commenced between the parties in connection with this Lease, such action shall be prosecuted in the applicable State Court of California in the county in which the Building
is located.

 
20.7.   SEVERABILITY.  If any term or provision of this Lease, the deletion of which would not adversely affect the receipt of any material benefit by either party or the

deletion of which is consented to by the party adversely affected, shall be held invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Lease shall not be affected and each
term and provision of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

 
20.8.   WAIVER.  One or more waivers by Landlord or Tenant of any breach of any term, covenant or condition contained in this Lease shall not be a waiver of any

subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition.  Consent to any act by one of the parties shall not be deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of
that party’s consent to any subsequent act.  No breach of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived unless the waiver is in a writing signed by the waiving party.

 
20.9.   INABILITY TO PERFORM.  In the event that either party shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from the performance of any work or in performing any

act required under this Lease by reason of any cause beyond the reasonable control of that party, then the performance of the work or the doing of the act shall be excused for
the period of the delay and the time for performance shall be extended for a period equivalent to the period of the delay.  The provisions of this Section 20.9 shall not operate to
excuse Tenant from the prompt payment of Rent.

 
20.10.   ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Lease and its exhibits and other attachments cover in full each and every agreement of every kind between the parties concerning

the Premises, the Building, and the Project, and all preliminary negotiations, oral agreements, understandings and/or practices, except those contained in this Lease, are
superseded and of no further effect.  Each of Tenant and Landlord waives its rights to rely on any representations or promises made by the other Party or others which are not
contained in this Lease.  No verbal agreement or implied covenant shall be held to modify the provisions of this Lease, any statute, law, or custom to the contrary
notwithstanding.

 
20.11.   QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Upon the observance and performance of all the covenants, terms and conditions on Tenant’s part to be observed and performed, and

subject to the other provisions of this Lease, Tenant shall have the right of quiet enjoyment and use of the Premises for the Term without hindrance or interruption by Landlord
or any other person claiming by or through Landlord, including, without limitation, a Mortgagee or other successor-in-interest to Landlord’s interest herein.

 
20.12.   SURVIVAL.  All covenants of Landlord or Tenant which reasonably would be intended to survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, including

without limitation any warranty or indemnity hereunder, shall so survive and continue to be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the respective parties and their successors
and assigns.

 
ARTICLE 21.  EXECUTION AND RECORDING

 
21.1.   COUNTERPARTS.  This Lease may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall be one and the same

agreement.
 
21.2.   CORPORATE AND PARTNERSHIP AUTHORITY.  If Tenant is a corporation, limited liability company or partnership, each individual executing this Lease

on behalf of the entity represents and warrants that he is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease and that this Lease is binding upon the corporation, limited liability
company or partnership in accordance with its terms.  Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, deliver an appropriate certificate authorizing or evidencing the execution of this
Lease.

 
21.3.   EXECUTION OF LEASE; NO OPTION OR OFFER.  The submission of this Lease to Tenant shall be for examination purposes only, and shall not constitute

an offer to or option for Tenant to lease the Premises.  Execution of this Lease by Tenant and its return to Landlord shall not be binding upon Landlord, notwithstanding any
time interval, until Landlord has in fact executed and delivered this Lease to Tenant, it being intended that this Lease shall only become effective upon execution by Landlord
and delivery of a fully executed counterpart to Tenant.
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21.4.   RECORDING.  Tenant shall not record this Lease without the prior written consent of Landlord.  Tenant, upon the request of Landlord, shall execute and

acknowledge a “short form” memorandum of this Lease for recording purposes.
 
21.5.   AMENDMENTS.  No amendment or mutual termination of this Lease shall be effective unless in writing signed by authorized signatories of Tenant and Landlord,

or by their respective successors in interest.  No actions, policies, oral or informal arrangements, business dealings or other course of conduct by or between the parties shall be
deemed to modify this Lease in any respect.

 
ARTICLE 22.  MISCELLANEOUS

 
22.1.   NONDISCLOSURE OF LEASE TERMS.  Tenant acknowledges that the content of this Lease and any related documents are confidential information.  Except

to the extent disclosure is required by law, Tenant shall keep such confidential information strictly confidential and shall not disclose such confidential information to any
person or entity other than Tenant’s financial, legal and space-planning consultants, provided, however, that Tenant may disclose the terms to prospective subtenants or
assignees under this Lease or pursuant to legal requirement.

 
22.2.   TENANT’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.  The application, financial statements and tax returns, if any, submitted and certified to by Tenant as an accurate

representation of its financial condition have been prepared, certified and submitted to Landlord as an inducement and consideration to Landlord to enter into this Lease. 
Tenant shall during the Term (but no more than once per calendar year and only if Tenant is in monetary Default) furnish Landlord with current annual financial statements
accurately reflecting Tenant’s financial condition upon written request from Landlord within 10 business days following Landlord’s request; provided, however, that Landlord
agrees to accept in satisfaction of this paragraph the financial statements of Tenant’s parent, Clean Energy Fuels Corp., for so long as Tenant is consolidated with Clean Energy
Fuels Corp. for financial statement purposes.

 
22.3.   MORTGAGEE PROTECTION.  No act or failure to act on the part of Landlord which would otherwise entitle Tenant to be relieved of its obligations hereunder

or to terminate this Lease shall result in such a release or termination unless (a) Tenant has given notice by registered or certified mail to any Mortgagee of a Mortgage covering
the Building whose address has been furnished to Tenant and (b) such Mortgagee is afforded a reasonable opportunity to cure the default by Landlord in accordance with the
timeframes set forth in the Lease, including, if necessary to effect the cure, time to obtain possession of the Building by power of sale or judicial foreclosure provided that such
foreclosure remedy is diligently pursued.  Tenant shall comply with any written directions by any Mortgagee to pay Rent due hereunder directly to such Mortgagee without
determining whether a default exists under such Mortgagee’s Mortgage.

 



22.4.   SDN LIST.  Tenant hereby represents and warrants that neither Tenant nor any officer, or director of Tenant (collectively, “Tenant Parties”) is listed as a Specially
Designated National and Blocked Person (“SDN”) on the list of such persons and entities issued by the U.S. Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).  In the event
Tenant or any Tenant Party is or becomes listed as an SDN, Tenant shall be deemed in breach of this Lease and Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease
immediately upon written notice to Tenant.

 
LANDLORD:

 

TENANT:
     
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC

 

CLEAN ENERGY
a Delaware limited liability company

 

a  California corporation
     
     
By /s/ Douglas G. Holte

 

By /s/ Andrew J. Littlefair
 

Douglas G. Holte
 

Printed Name Andrew J. Littlefair
 

President
 

Title President & CEO
 

Office Properties
     

       
       
By /s/ Steven M. Case

     

 

Steven M. Case
 

By /s/ Mitchell W. Pratt
 

Executive Vice President
 

Printed Name Mitchell W. Pratt
 

Office Properties
 

Title COO & Corporate Secretary
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EXHIBIT A

 
DESCRIPTION OF PREMISES

 
4675 MacArthur Court

 
3rd Floor

 

 
1

 
4675 MacArthur Court

 
8th Floor

 



 
2

 
4675 MacArthur Court

 
12th Floor

 



 
3

 
4695 MacArthur Court

 
7th Floor
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EXHIBIT B

 
OPERATING EXPENSES AND TAXES

(Base Year)
 

(a)           Tenant shall pay Landlord, as additional rent, for Tenant’s Share of the amount, if any, by which “Project Costs” (defined below) for each Expense Recovery
Period during the Term exceed Project Costs for the Project Cost Base and the amount, if any, by which “Property Taxes” (defined below) for each Expense Recovery Period
during the Term exceed Property Taxes for the Property Tax Base.  Property Taxes and Project Costs are mutually exclusive and may be billed separately or in combination as
determined by Landlord.  “Tenant’s Share” shall mean that portion of any Operating Expenses determined by multiplying the cost of such item by a fraction, the numerator of
which is the Floor Area and the denominator of which is the total rentable square footage, as determined from time to time by Landlord, of (i) the Floor Area of the Building as
defined in Item 8 of the Basic Lease Provisions, for expenses determined by Landlord to benefit or relate substantially to the Building rather than the entire Project, or (ii) all or
some of the buildings in the Project, for expenses determined by Landlord to benefit or relate substantially to all or some of the buildings in the Project rather than any specific
building. Tenant acknowledges Landlord’s rights to make changes or additions to the Building and/or Project from time to time pursuant to Section 6.4 of the Lease, in which
event the total rentable square footage within the Building and/or Project may be adjusted with written notice to Tenant.  For convenience of reference, Property Taxes and
Project Costs may sometimes be collectively referred to as “Operating Expenses.” Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not be obligated to pay Tenant’s Share of
Operating Expense excess for the 12 month period commencing as of the Commencement Date.

 
(b)           Commencing prior to the start of the first full “Expense Recovery Period” of the Lease (as defined in Item 7 of the Basic Lease Provisions) following the

Base Year, and prior to the start of each full or partial Expense Recovery Period thereafter, Landlord shall give Tenant a written estimate of the amount of Tenant’s Share of
Project Costs and Property Taxes for the Expense Recovery Period or portion thereof.  Tenant shall pay the estimated amounts to Landlord in equal monthly installments, in
advance, with Basic Rent.  Landlord may from time to time change the Expense Recovery Period to reflect a calendar year or a new fiscal year of Landlord, as applicable, in
which event Tenant’s share of Operating Expenses shall be equitably prorated for any partial year. From time to time during an Expense Recovery Period, Landlord may revise
the estimate based on increases in any of the Operating Expenses.

 
(c)           Within 120 days after the end of each Expense Recovery Period, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement setting forth the actual or prorated Property

Taxes and Project Costs attributable to that period, and the parties shall within 30 days thereafter make any payment or allowance necessary to adjust Tenant’s estimated
payments, if any, to Tenant’s actual Tenant’s Share as shown by the annual statement.  If actual Property Taxes or Project Costs allocable to Tenant during any Expense
Recovery Period are less than the Property Tax Base or the Project Cost Base, respectively, Landlord shall not be required to pay that differential to Tenant, although Landlord
shall refund within 30 days any applicable estimated payments collected from Tenant.  Should Tenant fail to object in writing to Landlord’s determination of actual Operating
Expenses within 180 days following delivery of Landlord’s expense statement, Landlord’s determination of actual Operating Expenses for the applicable Expense Recovery
Period shall be conclusive and binding on Tenant.

 
(d)           Even though the Lease has terminated and the Tenant has vacated the Premises, when the final determination is made of Tenant’s share of Property Taxes and

Project Costs for the Expense Recovery Period in which the Lease terminates, Tenant shall within 30 days notice pay the entire increase due over the estimated expenses paid;
conversely, any overpayment made in the event expenses decrease shall be rebated by Landlord to Tenant within 30 days.

 
(e)           The term “Project Costs” shall include all charges and expenses pertaining to the operation, management, maintenance and repair of the Building and the

Project, together with all appurtenant Common Areas (as defined in Section 6.2), and shall include the following charges by way of illustration but not limitation:  water and
sewer charges; insurance premiums and deductibles and/or reasonable premium equivalents and deductible equivalents should Landlord elect to self-insure any risk that



Landlord is authorized to insure hereunder; license, permit, and inspection fees; heat; light; power; janitorial services; the cost of equipping, staffing and operating an on-site
and/or off-site management office for the Building and Project; all labor and labor-related costs for personnel applicable to the Building and Project, including both Landlord’s
personnel and outside personnel; a commercially reasonable Landlord overhead/management fee; reasonable fees for consulting services; access control/security costs,
inclusive of the reasonable cost of improvements made to enhance access control systems and procedures; repairs; air conditioning; supplies; materials; equipment; tools; tenant
services; programs instituted to comply with transportation management requirements; any expense incurred pursuant to Sections 6.1, 6.2, 7.2, and 10.2 and Exhibits C and F
below; costs incurred (capital or otherwise) on a regular recurring basis every 3 or more years for normal maintenance projects (e.g., parking lot slurry coat or replacement of
lobby, corridor and elevator cab carpets and coverings); and the amortized cost of capital improvements (as distinguished from replacement parts or components installed in the
ordinary course of business) which are intended to reduce other operating costs or increases thereof, or upgrade Building and/or Project security, or which are required to bring
the Building and/or Project into compliance with applicable laws and building codes enacted after the Commencement Date.  Landlord shall amortize the cost of capital
improvements on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the Payback Period (as defined
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below) or the useful life of the capital improvement as reasonably determined by Landlord.  Any amortized Project Costs item may include, at Landlord’s option, an actual or
imputed interest rate that Landlord would reasonably be required to pay to finance the cost of the item, applied on the unamortized balance.  “Payback Period” shall mean the
reasonably estimated period of time that it takes for the cost savings, if any, resulting from a capital improvement item to equal the total cost of the capital improvement.  It is
understood that Project Costs shall include competitive charges for direct services provided by any subsidiary or division of Landlord.  If any Project Costs are applicable to
one or more buildings or properties in addition to the Building, then that cost shall be equitably prorated and apportioned among the Building and such other buildings or
properties.  The term “Property Taxes” as used herein shall include the following:  (i) all real estate taxes or personal property taxes, as such property taxes may be increased
from time to time due to a reassessment or otherwise; and (ii) other taxes, charges and assessments which are levied with respect to this Lease or to the Building and/or the
Project, and any improvements, fixtures and equipment and other property of Landlord located in the Building and/or the Project, except that general net income and franchise
taxes imposed against Landlord shall be excluded; and (iii) any tax, surcharge or assessment which shall be levied in addition to or in lieu of real estate or personal property
taxes; and (iv) costs and expenses incurred in contesting the amount or validity of any Property Tax by appropriate proceedings.  A copy of Landlord’s unaudited statement of
expenses shall be made available to Tenant upon request.  The Project Costs, inclusive of those for the Base Year, shall be extrapolated by Landlord to reflect at least 95%
occupancy of the rentable area of the Building.

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if there is an increase in Property Taxes as a result of any change in ownership of the Building during the initial

48 month Lease Term, then for the remainder of such 48 month period, Tenant’s share of Property Taxes shall in no event exceed the maximum that might otherwise have been
allocated to Tenant pursuant to the then-current provisions of Proposition 13 (as codified in the California Revenue and Taxation Code) based on the assumptions that (A) the
change of ownership had not occurred and (B) the maximum assessment permissible had been imposed by the taxing authority.

 
(f)        Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses shall exclude the following:
 

(1)       Any ground lease rental;
 
(2)       Costs incurred by Landlord with respect to goods and services (including utilities sold and supplied to tenants and occupants of the Building) to the

extent that Landlord is reimbursed for such costs other than through the Operating Expense pass-through provisions of such tenants’ lease;
 
(3)       Costs incurred by Landlord for repairs, replacements and/or restoration to or of the Building to the extent that Landlord is reimbursed by insurance or

condemnation proceeds or by tenants (other than through Operating Expense pass-throughs), warrantors or other third persons;
 
(4)       Costs, including permit, license and inspection costs, incurred with respect to the installation of tenant improvements made for other tenants in the

Building or incurred in renovating or otherwise improving, decorating, painting or redecorating vacant space for tenants or other occupants of the Building;
 
(5)       Costs arising from Landlord’s charitable or political contributions;
 
(6)       Attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with negotiations or disputes with present or prospective tenants or other occupants

of the Building, except those attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with negotiations, disputes or claims relating to items of Operating Expenses,
enforcement of rules and regulations of the Building and such other matters relating to the maintenance of standards required of Landlord under this Lease;

 
(7)       Capital expenditures as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, and as generally practiced in the

real estate industry (“GAAP”), except as otherwise provided above;
 
(8)       Brokers commissions, finders’ fees, attorneys’ fees, entertainment and travel expenses and other costs incurred by Landlord in leasing or attempting to

lease space in the Building;
 
(9)       Expenses in connection with services or other benefits which are not offered to Tenant or for which Tenant is charged for directly but which are provided

to another tenant or occupant of the Building;
 
(10)     Costs incurred by Landlord due to the violation by Landlord of any law, code, regulation, or ordinance and penalties for late payment of any Project

Costs by Landlord, including, without limitation, with respect to Property Taxes, equipment leases, etc;
 
(11)     Overhead and profit increments paid to subsidiaries or affiliates of Landlord for services provided to the Building to the extent the same exceeds the

costs that would generally be charged for such services if rendered on a competitive basis (based upon a standard of similar office buildings in the general market area of the
Premises) by unaffiliated third parties capable of providing such service;
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(12)     Interest on debt or amortization on any mortgage or mortgages encumbering the Building;
 
(13)     Landlord’s general corporate overhead, except as it relates to the specific management, operation, repair, replacement and maintenance of the Building or

Project;
 
(14)     Costs of installing the initial landscaping and the initial sculpture, paintings and objects of art for the Building and Project;
 



(15)     Advertising expenditures;
 
(16)     Any bad debt loss, rent loss, or reserves for bad debts or rent loss;
 
(17)     Costs associated with the operation of the business of the partnership or entity which constitutes the Landlord, as the same are distinguished from the

costs of the operation, management, repair, replacement and maintenance of the Project, including partnership accounting and legal matters, costs of defending any lawsuits
with any mortgagee (except as the actions of Tenant may be in issue), costs of selling, syndicating, financing, mortgaging or hypothecating any of Landlord’s interest in the
Project, and costs incurred in connection with any disputes between Landlord and its employees, between Landlord and Project management, or between Landlord and other
tenants or occupants;

 
(18)     The wages and benefits of any employee who does not devote substantially all of his or her employed time to the Project unless such wages and benefits

are prorated to reflect time spent on operating and managing the Project vis-à-vis time spent on matters unrelated to operating and managing the Project; provided that in no
event shall Project Costs include wages and/or benefits attributable to personnel above the level of portfolio property manager or chief engineer;

 
(19)     Costs incurred by Landlord for improvements or replacements (including structural additions), repairs, equipment and tools which are of a “capital”

nature and/or which are considered “capital” improvements or replacements under GAAP, except to the extent included in Project Costs pursuant to the definition above or by
other express terms of this Lease; and

 
(20)     Legal fees and costs, settlements, judgments or awards paid or incurred because of disputes between Landlord and other tenants or prospective occupants

or prospective tenants/occupants or providers of goods and services to the Project.
 

(g)       Provided Tenant is not then in Default hereunder, Tenant shall have the right to cause a certified public accountant, engaged on a non-contingency fee basis, to
audit Operating Expenses by inspecting Landlord’s general ledger of expenses not more than once during any Expense Recovery Period. However, to the extent that insurance
premiums or any other component of Operating Expenses is determined by Landlord on the basis of an internal allocation of costs utilizing information Landlord in good faith
deems proprietary, such expense component shall not be subject to audit so long as it does not exceed the amount per square foot typically imposed by landlords of other first
class office projects in Orange County, California.  Tenant shall give notice to Landlord of Tenant’s intent to audit within sixty (60) days after Tenant’s receipt of Landlord’s
expense statement which sets forth Landlord’s actual Operating Expenses.  Such audit shall be conducted at a mutually agreeable time during normal business hours at the
office of Landlord or its management agent where such accounts are maintained. If Tenant’s audit determines that actual Operating Expenses have been overstated by more than
five percent (5%), then subject to Landlord’s right to review and/or contest the audit results, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for the reasonable out-of-pocket costs of such
audit.  Tenant’s rent shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect any overstatement in Operating Expenses. In addition, if any component of Operating Expenses is determined to
be either inappropriate or excessive during an Expense Recovery Period, and if the Project Cost Base or Property Tax Base also included such component, then the appropriate
Base shall concurrently be adjusted if and to the extent appropriate. All of the information obtained by Tenant and/or its auditor in connection with such audit, as well as any
compromise, settlement, or adjustment reached between Landlord and Tenant as a result thereof, shall be held in strict confidence and, except as may be required pursuant to
litigation, shall not be disclosed to any third party, directly or indirectly, by Tenant or its auditor or any of their officers, agents or employees.  Landlord may require Tenant’s
auditor to execute a separate confidentiality agreement affirming the foregoing as a condition precedent to any audit.  In the event of a violation of this confidentiality covenant
in connection with any audit, then in addition to any other legal or equitable remedy available to Landlord, Tenant shall forfeit its right to any reconciliation or cost
reimbursement payment from Landlord due to said audit (and any such payment theretofore made by Landlord shall be promptly returned by Tenant), and Tenant shall have no
further audit rights under this Lease.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right of audit with respect to any Expense Recovery Period unless the total Operating
Expenses per square foot for such Expense Recovery Period, as set forth in Landlord’s annual expense reconciliation, exceed the total Operating Expenses per square foot
during the Base Year, as increased by the percentage change in the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index for all Urban
Consumers, Los Angeles - Riverside - Orange County Area Average, all items (1982-84 = 100) (the “Index”), which change in the Index shall be measured by comparing the
Index published for January of the Base Year with the Index published for January of the applicable Expense Recovery Period.
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EXHIBIT C

 
UTILITIES AND SERVICES

 
The following standards for utilities and services shall be in effect at the Building.  Landlord reserves the right to adopt nondiscriminatory modifications and additions to these
standards that are consistent with other Class A buildings in the vicinity, as long as said modifications do not (i) add additional costs to Tenant’s occupancy, or (ii) create an
undue burden on Tenant’s occupancy of the Building.  In the case of any conflict between these standards and the Lease, the Lease shall be controlling.  Subject to all of the
provisions of the Lease, the following shall apply:
 

1.         Landlord shall make available to the Premises during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, and upon request, from 9:00 a.m. to 1:00
p.m. on Saturdays (“Building Hours”), generally recognized national holidays excepted, reasonable HVAC services.  Subject to the provisions set forth below, Landlord shall
also furnish the Building with elevator service (if applicable), reasonable amounts of electric current for normal lighting for the Project and for the operation of office
equipment consistent in type and quantity with that utilized by typical office tenants of the Building and Project, and water for lavatory purposes.  Tenant will not, without the
prior written consent of Landlord, connect any apparatus, machine or device with water pipes or electric current (except through existing electrical outlets in the Premises) for
the purpose of using electric current or water that has an adverse affect on the Building System.

 
2.         Upon written request from Tenant delivered to Landlord at least 24 hours prior to the period for which service is requested, but during normal business hours,

Landlord will provide any of the foregoing building services to Tenant at such times when such services are not otherwise available.  Tenant agrees to pay Landlord for those
after-hour services at rates that Landlord may establish from time to time. During the initial Term of this Lease, Landlord’s charge for after hours HVAC is $75.00 per hour, per
floor, which shall be fixed and not subject to increase of any kind during the initial Lease Term. If Tenant requires electric current in excess of that which Landlord is obligated
to furnish under this Exhibit C, Tenant shall first obtain the consent of Landlord, and Landlord may cause an electric current meter to be installed in the Premises to measure
the amount of electric current consumed.  The cost of installation, maintenance and repair of the meter shall be paid for by Tenant, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord
promptly upon demand for all electric current consumed for any special power use as shown by the meter.

 
3.         Landlord shall furnish water for drinking, personal hygiene and lavatory purposes only.
 
4.         In the event that any utility service to the Premises is separately metered or billed to Tenant, Tenant shall pay all charges for that utility service to the Premises

and the cost of furnishing the utility to tenant suites shall be excluded from the Operating Expenses as to which reimbursement from Tenant is required in the Lease.
 
5.         Landlord shall provide janitorial services 5 days per week, equivalent to that furnished in comparable buildings, and window washing as reasonably required;

provided, however, that Tenant shall pay for any additional or unusual janitorial services.
 



6.         Tenant shall have access to the Building 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year; provided that Landlord may install access control systems as it
deems advisable for the Building.  Landlord may impose a reasonable charge for initial and replacement of damaged or lost access control cards and/or keys issued to Tenant.

 
7.         The costs of operating, maintaining and repairing any supplemental air conditioning unit serving only the Premises shall be borne solely by Tenant.  Such

installation shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, at Tenant’s sole expense and shall include installation of a separate meter for the operation of the unit. 
Landlord may require Tenant to remove at Lease expiration any such unit installed by or for Tenant and to repair any resulting damage to the Premises or Building.
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EXHIBIT D

 
TENANT’S INSURANCE

 
The following requirements for Tenant’s insurance shall be in effect during the Term, and Tenant shall also cause any subtenant to comply with the requirements.  Landlord
reserves the right to adopt reasonable nondiscriminatory modifications and additions to these requirements.
 

1.         Tenant shall maintain, at its sole cost and expense, during the entire Term:  (i) commercial general liability insurance with respect to the Premises and the
operations of Tenant in, on or about the Premises, including but not limited to coverage for personal injury, contractual liability, independent contractors, broad form property
damage, fire legal liability, products liability (if a product is manufactured within or sold from the Premises), and liquor law liability (if alcoholic beverages are sold, served or
consumed within the Premises), which policy(ies) shall be written on an “occurrence” basis and for not less than $2,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for bodily
injury, death, and property damage liability; (ii) workers’ compensation insurance coverage as required by law, together with employers’ liability insurance coverage of at least
$1,000,000 each accident and each disease; (iii) with respect to Alterations constructed by Tenant under this Lease, builder’s risk insurance, in an amount equal to the
replacement cost of the work; and (iv) insurance against fire, vandalism, malicious mischief and such other additional perils as may be included in a standard “special form”
policy, insuring all Alterations, trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment and items of personal property in the Premises, in an amount equal to not less than 90% of their
replacement cost (with replacement cost endorsement), which policy shall also include business interruption coverage in an amount sufficient to cover 1 year of loss.  In no
event shall the limits of any policy be considered as limiting the liability of Tenant under this Lease.

 
2.         All policies of insurance required to be carried by Tenant pursuant to this Exhibit D shall be written by insurance companies authorized to do business in the

State of California and with a general policyholder rating of not less than “A-” and financial rating of not less than “VIII” in the most current Best’s Insurance Report.  Tenant
shall be responsible for payment of any deductible or retained limit with waiver of subrogation in favor of Landlord.  Any insurance required of Tenant may be furnished by
Tenant under any blanket policy carried by it or under a separate policy.  A certificate of insurance, certifying that the policy has been issued, provides the coverage required by
this Exhibit and contains the required provisions, together with endorsements acceptable to Landlord evidencing the waiver of subrogation and additional insured provisions
required below, shall be delivered to Landlord prior to the date Tenant is given the right of possession of the Premises.  Proper evidence of the renewal of any insurance
coverage shall also be delivered to Landlord not less than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the coverage.  In the event of a loss covered by any policy under which
Landlord is an additional insured, Landlord shall be entitled to review a copy of such policy.

 
3.         Tenant’s commercial general liability insurance shall contain a provision that the policy shall be primary to and noncontributory with any policies carried by

Landlord, together with a provision including Landlord as additional insured.  Tenant’s policies described in Subsections 1 (ii), (iii) and (iv) above shall each contain a waiver
by the insurer of any right to subrogation against Landlord, its employees and representatives.  Tenant also waives its right of recovery for any deductible or retained limit under
same policies enumerated above.  All of Tenant’s policies shall contain a provision that the insurer will not cancel the coverage provided by the policy without first giving
Landlord 30 days prior written notice.

 
NOTICE TO TENANT:  IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE, TENANT MUST PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF THE REQUIRED INSURANCE
TO LANDLORD’S MANAGEMENT AGENT PRIOR TO BEING AFFORDED ACCESS TO THE PREMISES.

 
1

 
EXHIBIT E

 
RULES AND REGULATIONS

 
The following Rules and Regulations shall be in effect at the Building.  Landlord reserves the right to adopt reasonable nondiscriminatory modifications and additions at any
time.  In the case of any conflict between these regulations and the Lease, the Lease shall be controlling.
 

1.         The sidewalks, halls, passages, elevators, stairways, and other common areas shall not be obstructed by Tenant or used by it for storage, for depositing items, or
for any purpose other than for ingress to and egress from the Premises.  Should Tenant have access to any balcony or patio area, Tenant shall not place any furniture other
personal property in such area without the prior written approval of Landlord.

 
2.         Neither Tenant nor any employee or contractor of Tenant shall go upon the roof of the Building without the prior written consent of Landlord.
 
3.         Tenant shall, at its expense, be required to utilize Horizon, subject to fair market pricing, the third party contractor designated by Landlord for the Building, to

provide any telephone wiring services from the minimum point of entry of the telephone cable in the Building to the Premises. Tenant shall be permitted to use any reputable
vendor of its choice to install telephone and data cabling within the Premises.

 
4.         No antenna or satellite dish shall be installed by Tenant without the prior written agreement of Landlord.
 
5.         The sashes, sash doors, windows, glass lights, solar film and/or screen, and any lights or skylights that reflect or admit light into the halls or other places of the

Building shall not be covered or obstructed.  If Landlord, by a notice in writing to Tenant, shall object to any curtain, blind, tinting, shade or screen attached to, or hung in, or
used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises, the use of that curtain, blind, tinting, shade or screen shall be immediately discontinued and removed by Tenant. 
No awnings shall be permitted on any part of the Premises.

 
6.         The installation and location of any unusually heavy equipment in the Premises, including without limitation file storage units, safes and electronic data

processing equipment, shall require the prior written approval of Landlord.  The moving of large or heavy objects shall occur only between those hours as may be designated
by, and only upon previous notice to, Landlord.  No freight, furniture or bulky matter of any description shall be received into or moved out of the lobby of the Building or
carried in any elevator other than the freight elevator (if available) designated by Landlord unless approved in writing by Landlord.



 
7.         Any pipes or tubing used by Tenant to transmit water to an appliance or device in the Premises must be made of copper or stainless steel, and in no event shall

plastic tubing be used for that purpose.
 
8.         Tenant shall not place any lock(s) on any door in the Premises or Building without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably

withheld.  Upon the termination of its tenancy, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord all the keys to offices, rooms and toilet rooms and all access cards which shall have been
furnished to Tenant or which Tenant shall have had made.

 
9.         Tenant shall not install equipment requiring electrical or air conditioning service in excess of that to be provided by Landlord under the Lease without prior

written approval from Landlord.
 
10.      Tenant shall not use space heaters within the Premises.
 
11.      Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in the Premises, or bring or keep anything in the Premises, which shall in any way increase the insurance on

the Building, or on the property kept in the Building, or interfere with the rights of other tenants, or conflict with any government rule or regulation.
 
12.      Tenant shall not use or keep any foul or noxious gas or substance in the Premises.
 
13.      Tenant shall not permit the Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to Landlord or other occupants of the Building by reason of

noise, odors and/or vibrations, or interfere in any way with other tenants or those having business with other tenants.
 
14.      Tenant shall not permit any animals (excluding Service Animals) or birds be kept by Tenant in or about the Building.
 
15.      Neither Tenant nor its employees, agents, contractors, invitees or licensees shall bring any firearm, whether loaded or unloaded, into the Project at any time.
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16.      Smoking anywhere within the Premises or Building is strictly prohibited, and Landlord may enforce such prohibition pursuant to Landlord’s leasehold

remedies.  Smoking is permitted outside the Building and within the project only in areas designated by Landlord.
 
17.      Tenant shall not install an aquarium of any size in the Premises unless otherwise approved by Landlord.
 
18.      Tenant shall not utilize any name selected by Landlord from time to time for the Building and/or the Project as any part of Tenant’s corporate or trade name. 

Landlord shall have the right to change the name, number or designation of the Building or Project without liability to Tenant. Tenant shall not use any picture of the Building
in its advertising, stationery or in any other manner without Landlord’s prior consent, which shall not unreasonable withheld or delayed.

 
19.      Tenant shall, upon request by Landlord, supply Landlord with the names and telephone numbers of personnel designated by Tenant to be contacted on an after-

hours basis should circumstances warrant.
 
20.      Landlord may from time to time grant tenants individual and temporary variances from these Rules, provided that any variance does not have a material adverse

effect on the use and enjoyment of the Premises by Tenant.
 
21.      Fitness Center Rules.  Tenant shall cause its employees (whether members or prospective members of the Fitness Center) to comply with the following Fitness

Center rules and regulations (subject to change from time to time as Landlord may solely determine):
 
(a)                                 Membership in the Fitness Center is open to the tenants of Landlord or its affiliates only.  No guests will be permitted to use the Fitness Center without the

prior written approval of Landlord or Landlord’s representative.
 
(b)                                 Fitness Center users are not allowed to be in the Fitness Center other than the hours designated by Landlord from time to time.  Landlord shall have the right

to alter the hours of use of the Fitness Center, at Landlord’s sole discretion.
 
(c)                                  All Fitness Center users must execute Landlord’s Waiver of Liability prior to use of the Fitness Center and agree to all terms and conditions outlined therein.
 
(d)                                 Individual membership and guest keycards to the Fitness Center shall not be shared and shall only be used by the individual to whom such keycard was

issued.  Failure to abide by this rule may result in immediate termination of such Fitness Center user’s right to use the Fitness Center.
 
(e)                                  All Fitness Center users and approved guests must have a pre-authorized keycard to enter the Fitness Center.  A pre-authorized keycard shall not be issued to

a prospective Fitness Center user until receipt by Landlord of Landlord’s initial fee, if any, for use of the Fitness Center by such Fitness Center user(s).
 
(f)                                   Use of the Fitness Center is a privilege and not a right.  Failure to follow gym rules or to act inappropriately while using the facilities shall result in

termination of Tenant’s Fitness Center privileges.
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EXHIBIT F

 
PARKING

 
The following parking regulations shall be in effect at the Building In the case of any conflict between these regulations and the Lease, the Lease shall be controlling.
 

1.         Landlord agrees to maintain, or cause to be maintained, an automobile parking area (“Parking Area”) in reasonable proximity to the Building for the benefit
and use of the visitors and patrons and, except as otherwise provided, employees of Tenant, and other tenants and occupants of the Building.  Landlord shall have the right to
determine the nature and extent of the automobile Parking Area, and of making such changes to the Parking Area from time to time which in its opinion are desirable, provided
Tenant’s parking rights are not materially or negatively impacted.  Landlord shall not be liable for any damage to motor vehicles of visitors or employees, for any loss of
property from within those motor vehicles, or for any injury to Tenant, its visitors or employees, except caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, acts or



omissions of Landlord, its agents, contractors or employees, lenders, affiliates, or any other third party under the control and/or direction of Landlord.  Landlord shall also have
the right to establish, and from time to time amend, and to enforce against all users of the Parking Area all reasonable rules and regulations (including the designation of areas
for employee parking) as Landlord may deem necessary and advisable for the proper and efficient operation and maintenance of the Parking Area.

 
2.         Landlord may, if it deems advisable in its sole discretion, charge for parking and may establish for the Parking Area a system or systems of permit parking for

Tenant, its employees and its visitors.  In no event shall Tenant or its employees park in reserved stalls leased to other tenants or in stalls within designated visitor parking
zones, nor shall Tenant or its employees utilize more than the number of Parking Passes (defined below) allotted in this Lease to Tenant.   Tenant shall, upon request of
Landlord from time to time, but not more than once per calendar year, furnish Landlord with a list of its employees’ names and of Tenant’s and its employees’ vehicle license
numbers.  Parking access devices, if applicable, shall not be transferable.  Landlord may impose a reasonable fee for access devices and a replacement charge for devices which
are lost or stolen.  Each access device shall be returned to Landlord promptly following the Expiration Date or sooner termination of this Lease.

 
3.         Washing, waxing, cleaning or servicing of vehicles, or the parking of any vehicle on an overnight basis, in the Parking Area (other than emergency services) by

any parker or his or her agents or employees is prohibited unless otherwise authorized by Landlord.
 
4.         It is understood that the employees of Tenant and the other tenants of Landlord within the Building and Project shall not be permitted to park their automobiles

in the portions of the Parking Area which may from time to time be designated for patrons of the Building and/or Project.  Tenant shall be entitled to purchase from Landlord
for the initial Term of this Lease, up to the total number of parking passes set forth in Item 11 of the Basic Lease Provisions (the “Parking Passes”) at the rate of $50.00 per
unreserved parking pass per month during months 7 — 60, and $60.00 per unreserved parking pass per month for months 61 — 96 and $125.00 per reserved parking pass per
month during months 7 — 60 and $150.00 per reserved parking pass per month during months 61 — 96 of the initial Term.  All parking charges shall be waived during months
1 — 6 of the initial Lease Term.  After the initial Term, the charge for parking shall be in monthly amounts as Landlord shall from time to time determine.  Should any monthly
parking charge not be paid within 5 days following written notice from Landlord to Tenant that parking charges due from Tenant have not yet been received by Landlord, then a
late charge shall be payable by Tenant equal to the lesser of (i) 5% of the delinquent installment or (ii) $100.00, which late charge shall be separate and in addition to any late
charge that may be assessed pursuant to Section 14.3 of the Lease for other than delinquent monthly parking charges.

 
5.         Landlord shall be entitled to pass on to Tenant its proportionate share of any charges or parking surcharge or transportation management costs levied by any

governmental agency and Tenant shall cooperate in any voluntary or mandated transportation management programs, provided, however, in such event Tenant may reduce the
number of Parking Passes Tenant purchased hereunder.

 
6.         Tenant shall not assign or sublet any of the Parking Passes, either voluntarily or by operation of law, without the prior written consent of Landlord, except in

connection with an authorized assignment of this Lease or subletting of the Premises.
 

7.   In addition, Tenant shall be provided with 3 reserved parking spaces in the non-covered parking lot adjacent to the Building as shown on the attached Exhibit F-1 and
Tenant shall pay $125.00 per month for each parking space through the initial Lease Term.
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Clean Energy

 
Location of Parking

 



 
Exhibit F-1

 
EXHIBIT G

 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

 
1.   MONUMENT SIGNAGE.  Tenant shall have the right to install non-exclusive signage as follows: (i) one slot of the monument sign on the corner of Campus and
MacArthur Boulevard, (ii) one slot on the monument sign on the corner of Birch and MacArthur Boulevard, (iii) one slot on the monument sign at the entrance of the Project
off Campus Drive, (iv) one slot on the monument sign at the entrance of the Project off Birch Street, (v) one slot on the cube sign in front of 4675 MacArthur Court and (vi) one
slot on the monument sign in front of 4695 MacArthur Court, which signage shall consist only of the name “Clean Energy” and as shown on Exhibit G-1.  The type, location
and design of such signage shall be subject to the prior written approval of Landlord and the City of Newport Beach, and shall be consistent with Landlord’s signage criteria for
the Project.  Fabrication, installation, insurance, and maintenance of such signage shall be at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Tenant understands and agrees that it shall use
Landlord’s designated contractor for installing the monument signage.  Should Tenant fail to have the monument signage installed within 1 year from the Commencement Date,
then Tenant’s right to install same thereafter shall be deemed null and void.  Except for the foregoing, no sign, advertisement or notice visible from the exterior of the Premises
shall be inscribed, painted or affixed by Tenant on any part of the Premises without prior consent of Landlord.  Tenant’s signage right shall belong solely to the original Tenant
of this Lease and may not be transferred or assigned (except in connection with an assignment of this Lease to a Tenant Affiliate as described in Section 9.1(e) hereof) without



Landlord’s prior written consent, which may be withheld by Landlord in Landlord’s sole discretion.  In the event Tenant, exclusive of any subtenant(s), fails to occupy the entire
Premises, then Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days following notice from Landlord, remove the monument signage at Tenant’s expense.  Tenant shall also remove such signage
promptly following the expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  Any such removal shall be at Tenant’s sole expense, and Tenant shall bear the cost of any resulting repairs
to the monument that are reasonably necessary due to the removal.
 
2.   EXTERIOR SIGNAGE.  Tenant shall have the right to install a building top exterior sign in the event Merrill Lynch elects to terminate its lease and move out of the 4695
MacArthur building (the “Exterior Signage”), which signage shall consist only of the name “Clean Energy.”  The type and design of such signage shall be subject to the prior
written approval of Landlord and the City of Newport Beach, and shall be consistent with Landlord’s signage criteria for the Project.  Fabrication, installation, insurance, and
maintenance of such signage shall be at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Tenant understands and agrees that it shall use Landlord’s designated contractor for installing the
Exterior Signage.  Should Tenant fail to have the Exterior Signage installed within 12 months of the date Landlord grants such right to Tenant, then Tenant’s right to install
same thereafter shall be deemed null and void.  Except for the foregoing, no sign, advertisement or notice visible from the exterior of the Premises shall be inscribed, painted or
affixed by Tenant on any part of the Premises without the prior consent of Landlord.  Tenant’s signage right shall belong solely to the original Tenant of this Lease and may not
be transferred or assigned (except in connection with an assignment of this Lease to a Tenant Affiliate as described in Section 9.1(e) hereof) without Landlord’s prior written
consent which may be withheld by Landlord in Landlord’s sole discretion.  In the event Tenant, exclusive of any subtenant(s), fails to occupy the entire Premises, then Tenant
shall, within thirty (30) days following notice from Landlord, remove the Exterior Signage at Tenant’s expense. Tenant shall also remove such signage promptly following the
expiration or earlier termination of the Lease.  Any such removal shall be at Tenant’s sole expense, and Tenant shall bear the cost of any resulting repairs to the Building that are
reasonably necessary due to the removal.
 
3.   RIGHT TO EXTEND.  Provided that Tenant is not in monetary Default under any provision of this Lease at the time of exercise of the extension right granted herein, and
provided further that Tenant has not assigned or sublet more than 50% of its interest in this Lease (except in connection with a Permitted Transfer of this Lease as described in
Section 9.1(e) hereof), Tenant may extend the Term of this Lease for two periods of 60 months.  Tenant shall exercise its right to extend the Term by and only by delivering to
Landlord, not less than 9 months nor more than 12 months prior to the expiration date of the Term, Tenant’s written notice of its irrevocable commitment to extend (the
“Commitment Notice”).  Should Tenant fail timely to deliver the Commitment Notice, then this extension right shall thereupon lapse and be of no further force or effect.
 

The Basic Rent payable under the Lease during the extension of the Term shall be at the prevailing market rental rate (including periodic adjustments) for comparable and
similarly improved office space being leased by Landlord in the Building as of the commencement of the extension period, as evidenced by actual recent lease transactions
completed by Landlord in the Project (the “Prevailing Rate”); provided that such Basic Rent shall in no event be less than the Basic Rent payable by Tenant during the final
month of the Term.  In the event that the parties are not able to agree on the Prevailing Rate within 120 days prior to the expiration date of the Term, then either party may elect,
by written notice to the other party, to cause said rental, including subsequent adjustments, to be determined by appraisal as follows.

 
Within 10 days following receipt of such appraisal election, the parties shall attempt to agree on an appraiser to determine the Prevailing Rate.  If the parties are unable to

agree in that time, then each party shall designate an appraiser within 10 days thereafter.  Should either party fail to so designate an appraiser within that time, then the appraiser
designated by the other party shall determine the Prevailing Rate.  Should each of the parties timely designate an appraiser, then the two appraisers so designated shall appoint a
third appraiser who shall, acting alone, determine the fair market rental value of the Premises.  Any appraiser designated hereunder shall have an M.A.I. certification or
equivalent with not less than 5 years experience in the valuation of commercial office buildings in Orange County, California.

 
1

 
Within 10 days following the selection of the appraiser, Landlord and Tenant shall each submit in writing to the appraiser its determination of the rental rate for the

extension period (respectively, the “Landlord’s Determination” and the “Tenant’s Determination”).  Should either party fail timely to submit its rental determination, then
the determination of the other party shall be conclusive and binding on the parties.  The appraiser shall not disclose to either party the rental determination of the other party
until the expiration of that 10 day period or, if sooner, the appraiser’s receipt of both the Landlord’s Determination and the Tenant’s Determination.

 
Within 30 days following the selection of the appraiser and such appraiser’s receipt of the Landlord’s Determination and the Tenant’s Determination, the appraiser shall

determine whether the rental rate determined by Landlord or by Tenant more accurately reflects Prevailing Rate for the Premises, as reasonably extrapolated to the
commencement of the extension term.  Accordingly, either the Landlord’s Determination or the Tenant’s Determination shall be selected by the appraiser as the fair market
rental rate for the extension period. In determining such value, the appraiser shall first consider rental comparables for the Building and the Project, provided that if adequate
comparables do not exist then the appraiser may consider transactions involving similarly improved space owned by Landlord or its affiliates in the vicinity with appropriate
adjustments for differences in location and quality of project.  In no event shall the appraiser attribute factors for market tenant improvement allowances or brokerage
commissions to reduce said fair market rental.  At any time before the decision of the appraiser is rendered, either party may, by written notice to the other party, accept the
rental terms submitted by the other party, in which event such terms shall be deemed adopted as the agreed fair market rental.  The fees of the appraiser(s) shall be borne
entirely by the party whose determination of the fair market rental rate was not accepted by the appraiser.

 
Within 20 days after the determination of the fair market rental, Landlord shall prepare a reasonably appropriate amendment to this Lease for the extension period and

Tenant shall execute and return same to Landlord within 10 days.  Should the fair market rental not be established by the commencement of the extension period, then Tenant
shall continue paying rent at the rate in effect during the last month of the initial Term, and a lump sum adjustment shall be made promptly upon the determination of such new
rental.

 
If Tenant fails to timely comply with any of the provisions of this paragraph, Tenant’s right to extend the Term may, at Landlord’s election and in addition to any other

remedies that may be available to Landlord, be extinguished, in which event the Lease shall automatically terminate as of the initial expiration date of the Term.  Any attempt to
assign or transfer any right or interest created by this paragraph to other than an assignee following a Permitted Transfer shall be void from its inception. Unless agreed to in a
writing signed by Landlord and Tenant, Tenant shall have no other right to extend the Term beyond the two 60 month extensions created by this paragraph.  Unless agreed to in
a writing signed by Landlord and Tenant, any extension of the Term, whether created by an amendment to this Lease or by a holdover of the Premises by Tenant, or otherwise,
shall be deemed a part of, and not in addition to, any duly exercised extension period permitted by this paragraph.  Time is specifically made of the essence in this Section.

 
4.    RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER. Provided Tenant is not then in Default hereunder, Landlord hereby grants Tenant the continuing right (“First Right”) to lease, during the
initial 96 month Term of this Lease, available office space equal to or greater than 5,000 rentable square feet of the Buildings (i.e., 4675 MacArthur Court and 4695 MacArthur
Court) and shown on Exhibit A-1 hereto (“First Right Space”) in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this Section; provided that this First Right shall cease to be
effective during the final 36 months of the Term unless and until Tenant exercises its extension option set forth in Paragraph 3 of this Exhibit G above.  It is understood,
however, that Tenant’s First Right is expressly conditioned upon the prior delivery by Tenant of written notice to Landlord in good faith of Tenant’s need for additional space
(the “Space Requirement Notice”) specifying the desired square footage.  Within 7 business days of Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s Space Requirement Notice and while this
First Right is in effect, Landlord shall provide Tenant a written list of available spaces in the Buildings that meet or exceed the specified size criteria provided by Tenant
(“Landlord’s Reply”); it being understood, however, in no event shall Landlord be required to break a full floor into a multi-tenant floor and it being further understood that
should Landlord have a bona fide third party offer for any space at the time Landlord receives the Space Requirement Notice then such space(s) shall be excluded from the list
of available suites provided by Landlord. For purposes herein, a bona fide third party offer shall consist of a draft of the proposed lease that has been or is the process of being,
prepared a presented to a potential tenant. Landlord’s Reply shall contain the basic economic terms including but not limited to the Basic Rent, term, operating expense base,
security deposit, and tenant improvement allowance (collectively, the “Economic Terms”), upon which Landlord is willing to lease such particular First Right Space to Tenant
or to a third party; provided that the Economic Terms shall exclude brokerage commissions and other Landlord payments that do not directly inure to the tenant’s benefit.  It is



understood that should Landlord intend to lease other office space in addition to the First Right Space as part of a single transaction, then Landlord’s notice shall so provide and
all such space shall collectively be subject to the following provisions.  Within 7 business days after receipt of Landlord’s notice, Tenant must give Landlord written notice
pursuant to which Tenant shall elect to (i) lease all, but not less than all, of the space specified in Landlord’s notice (the “Designated Space”) upon such Economic Terms and
the same non-Economic Terms as set forth in this Lease; (ii) refuse to lease the Designated Space, specifying that such refusal is not based upon the Economic Terms, but upon
Tenant’s lack of need for the Designated Space, in which event Landlord may lease the Designated Space upon any terms it deems appropriate; or (iii) require that the rental
rate for the Designated Space be determined by appraisal.  In the event that Tenant does not so respond in writing to Landlord’s notice within said period, Tenant shall be
deemed to have elected clause (ii) above.
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Within twenty (20) days following receipt of such appraisal election, the parties shall attempt to agree on an appraiser to determine the fair market rental.  If the parties are

unable to agree in that time, then each party shall designate an appraiser within twenty (20) days thereafter.  Should either party fail to so designate an appraiser within that
time, then the appraiser designated by the other party shall determine the fair rental value.  Should each of the parties timely designate an appraiser, then the two appraisers so
designated shall appoint a third appraiser who shall, acting alone, determine the fair market rental value of the Premises.  Any appraiser designated hereunder shall have an
M.A.I. certification or equivalent with not less than five (5) years experience in the valuation of commercial office buildings in Orange County, California.

 
Within ten (10) days following the selection of the appraiser, Landlord and Tenant shall each submit in writing to the appraiser its determination of the rental rate for the

Designated Space (respectively, the “Landlord’s Determination” and the “Tenant’s Determination”).  Should either party fail timely to submit its rental determination, then the
determination of the other party shall be conclusive and binding on the parties.  The appraiser shall not disclose to either party the rental determination of the other party until
the expiration of that ten (10) day period or, if sooner, the appraiser’s receipt of both the Landlord’s Determination and the Tenant’s Determination.

 
Within fifteen (15) days following the selection of the appraiser and such appraiser’s receipt of the Landlord’s Determination and the Tenant’s Determination, the appraiser

shall determine whether the rental rate determined by Landlord or by Tenant more accurately reflects the fair market rental rate for the Designated Space.  Accordingly, either
the Landlord’s Determination or the Tenant’s Determination shall be selected by the appraiser as the fair market rental rate for the Designated Space.  In determining such
value, the appraiser shall consider rental comparables for new and renewal transactions in the Building and the Comparable Buildings involving similarly improved space, with
appropriate adjustments for differences in location, floor height within the Building and views from the Designated Space and quality of project and quality of the Designated
Space.  In no event shall the appraiser lower the determination of the fair market rental rate to reflect brokerage commissions or moving allowances that do not actually reduce
the rental sums paid by a tenant.  At any time before the decision of the appraiser is rendered, either party may, by written notice to the other party, accept the rental terms
submitted by the other party, in which event such terms shall be deemed adopted as the agreed fair market rental.  The fees of the appraiser(s) shall be borne entirely by the
party whose determination of the fair market rental rate was not accepted by the appraiser.

 
 In the event that Tenant does not so respond in writing to Landlord’s notice within said period, Tenant shall be deemed to have elected clause (ii) above.  Any notice given

by Tenant pursuant to either clause (i) or clause (iii) above shall be accompanied by Tenant’s certified financial statements for the two most recent twelve month periods,
inclusive of Tenant’s most current balance sheet; should such statements reveal that Tenant’s net worth has materially decreased since the execution of this Lease, then Landlord
shall have no obligation to lease the Designated Space to Tenant and may instead lease same to a third party.  In the event Tenant gives Landlord notice pursuant to clause (iii)
above, Landlord may elect to either (x) lease the Designated Space to Tenant upon such revised Economic Terms and the same other non-Economic Terms as set forth in this
Lease, or (y) lease the Designated Space to any third party upon Economic Terms which are not materially more favorable to such party than those Economic Terms proposed
by Tenant.  Should Landlord so elect to lease the Designated Space to Tenant, then Landlord shall promptly prepare and deliver to Tenant an amendment to this Lease
consistent with the foregoing, and Tenant shall execute and return same to Landlord within ten (10) business days.  Tenant’s failure to timely return the amendment shall entitle
Landlord to specifically enforce Tenant’s commitment to lease the Designated Space, to lease such space to a third party, and/or to pursue any other available legal remedy. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that Tenant’s First Right shall be subject to any extension or expansion rights previously granted by Landlord to any third party
tenant in the Building, as well as to any such rights which may hereafter be granted by Landlord to any third party tenant now or hereafter occupying the First Right Space or
any portion thereof, and Landlord shall in no event be obligated to initiate this First Right prior to leasing any portion of the First Right Space to the then-current occupant
thereof. Tenant’s rights under this Section shall be personal to the original Tenant named in this Lease and may not be assigned or transferred (except in connection with an
assignment of this Lease following a Permitted Transfer as described in Section 9.1(e) hereof).  Any other attempted assignment or transfer shall be void and of no force or
effect.

 
Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, the preceding provisions of this Section 4 of Exhibit G shall apply to the 12  floor of 4675 MacArthur

Court and such 12  floor space shall be part of the First Right Space and Tenant’s continuing First Right. However, instead of Tenant delivering to Landlord a Space
Requirement Notice, prior to leasing the 12  floor space, or any portion thereof, to any other party during the period that this First Right is in effect and after determining that
the existing tenant in the 12  floor space will not extend or renew the term of its lease,  Landlord shall instead be required to provide Tenant with written notification in the
event any portion of the 12  floor becomes available to lease. Tenant and Landlord shall negotiate in good faith to reach agreement on terms and conditions applicable to the
expansion.
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5.   FITNESS CENTER AND SHOWER FACILITY.  Subject to the provisions of this Section 22.5, so long as Tenant is not in Default under this Lease, and provided
Tenant’s employees execute Landlord’s standard waiver of liability form and pay the applicable one time or fee of not more than $10.00 per pass, if any, then Tenant’s
employees (the “Fitness Center Users”) shall be entitled to use the fitness center (the “Fitness Center”) and the shower facility (the “Shower Facility”) in the building
located 4770 MacArthur Boulevard.  The use of the Fitness Center and Shower Facility shall be subject to the reasonable rules and regulations (including rules regarding hours
of use) established from time to time by Landlord.  Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that the use of the Fitness Center by the Fitness Center Users shall be at their own risk
and that the terms and provisions of Section 10.3 of this Lease shall apply to Tenant and the Fitness Center User’s use of the Fitness Center.  The costs of operating, maintaining
and repairing the Fitness Center and Shower Facility may be included as part of Operating Expenses.  Tenant acknowledges that the provisions of this Section shall not be
deemed to be a representation by Landlord that Landlord shall continuously maintain the Fitness Center (or any other fitness facility) and Shower Facility throughout the Term
of this Lease, and Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord’s sole discretion, to expand, contract, eliminate or otherwise modify the Fitness Center. No expansion, contraction,
elimination or modification of the Fitness Center, and no termination of Tenant’s or the Fitness Center Users’ rights to the Fitness Center shall entitle Tenant to an abatement or
reduction in Basic Rent constitute a constructive eviction, or result in an event of default by Landlord under this Lease. Tenant shall have the right to construct and maintain a
separate fitness facility at the Project and Landlord agrees to give Tenant reasonable cooperation, including, without limitation, modifying the purpose stated in Item 3 of the
Basic Lease Provisions. Tenant hereby voluntarily releases, discharges, waives and relinquishes any and all actions or causes of action for personal injury or property damage
occurring to Tenant or its employees or agents arising as a result of the use of the Fitness Center and Shower Facility, or any activities incidental thereto, wherever or however
the same may occur, and further agrees that Tenant will not prosecute any claim for personal injury or property damage against Landlord or any of its officers, agents, servants
or employees except to the extent the injury or damage is caused by the negligence or willful misconduct, acts or omissions, of Landlord, its agents, contractors or employees,
lenders, affiliates, or any other third party under the control and/or direction of Landlord.  Tenant shall have the right to utilize its own personal trainers at the Fitness Center,
provided such personal trainers provide proof of insurance and the terms of this Section apply to such personal trainer.
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EXHIBIT G-1

 
SIGNAGE

 

 
1

 
EXHIBIT X

 
WORK LETTER

 
DOLLAR ALLOWANCE

[SECOND GENERATION SPACE]
 

The Tenant Improvement work (herein “Tenant Improvements”) shall consist of any work required to complete the Premises pursuant to plans and specifications approved by
both Landlord and Tenant.  The general contractor shall be selected and engaged by Tenant on the basis of a competitive bid involving the following general contractors: Turelk,
HBC and KPRS. The lowest bidder with a 10 week construction schedule shall be selected to construct the Tenant Improvements. The work shall be undertaken in accordance
with the procedures and requirements set forth below.
 
I.                                        ARCHITECTURAL AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES
 

A.                                    Landlord shall engage H. Hendy & Associates for the preparation of a detailed space plan for the Premises which includes interior partitions, ceilings, interior
finishes, interior office doors, suite entrance, floor coverings, window coverings, lighting, electrical and telephone outlets, plumbing connections, heavy floor
loads and other special requirements (“Preliminary Plan”).  Not later than March 18, 2013 (“Plan Approval Date”), Tenant shall approve the Preliminary
Plan by signing copies of the appropriate instrument and delivering same to Landlord for Landlord’s review and approval.

 
B.                                    On or prior to April 8, 2013, Tenant shall (i) cause architect. Hendy & Associates to prepare final construction drawings (including engineering drawings) and

specifications for the Tenant Improvements (“Working Drawings and Specifications”) and (ii) approve in writing the Working Drawings and Specifications



and deliver same to Landlord for review and approval.  It is understood that Tenant’s architect shall utilize Landlord’s mechanical, electrical, plumbing,
fire/life safety and fire sprinkler engineers for the Building.  Tenant shall cause Landlord to be provided with CAD files of the final as-built construction
drawings that are compatible with Landlord’s CAD standards, which standards shall be provided to Tenant or its architect upon request; should Tenant fail to
deliver same by the substantial completion of the Tenant Improvement work, then Landlord may cause such CAD files to be prepared by its architect, the cost
of which shall be funded by Tenant to Landlord within 10 days after invoice therefor.  The cost incurred by Tenant in preparing the Preliminary Plan and the
Working Drawings and Specifications (but only to the extent the amount thereof is furnished to Landlord prior to the receipt of the contractors’ bids as
described below), together with the reasonable cost of Landlord’s architect to review same and the accompanying CAD files, shall be funded by Landlord
from the “Landlord Contribution” set forth below. Upon approval of the Working Drawings and Specifications, Landlord shall cause same to be bid as
aforesaid.  Each bidding contractor shall use the electrical, mechanical, plumbing and fire/life safety engineers and subcontractors designated by Landlord. All
other subcontractors shall be subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval, and Landlord shall require that the drywall subtrade be union contractors. The lowest
responsible bidder shall be selected by Landlord as the general contractor, and the bid amount shall be deemed the “Final Cost Estimate” for purposes hereof.

 
C.                                    Intentionally omitted.
 
D.                                    In the event that Tenant requests in writing a revision in the approved Working Drawings and Specifications (“Change”), then provided such Change is

reasonably acceptable to Landlord, Landlord shall advise Tenant by written change order as soon as is practical of any increase in the Completion Cost and/or
any Tenant Delay such Change would cause.  Tenant shall approve or disapprove such change order in writing within 3 business days following its receipt
from Landlord.  Tenant’s approval of a Change shall be accompanied by Tenant’s payment of any 50% of the resulting increase in the Completion Cost with
the remaining 50% due upon substantial completion of the Tenant Improvements. It is understood that Landlord shall have no obligation to interrupt or
modify the Tenant Improvement work pending Tenant’s approval of a change order.

 
E.                                     It is understood that the Preliminary Plan and the Working Drawings and Specifications, together with any Changes thereto, shall be subject to the prior

approval of Landlord.  Landlord shall identify any disapproved items within 5 business days (or 2 business days in the case of Changes) after receipt of the
applicable document.  Should Landlord approve work that would necessitate any ancillary Building modification or other expenditure by Landlord, then
except to the extent of any remaining balance of the “Landlord Contribution” as described below, Tenant shall, in addition to its other obligations herein,
promptly fund the cost thereof to Landlord.
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F.                                      Notwithstanding any provision in the Lease to the contrary, if Tenant fails to comply with any of the time periods specified in this Work Letter, fails otherwise

to approve or reasonably disapprove any submittal within 3 business days, fails to approve in writing the Preliminary Plan for the Tenant Improvements by
the Plan Approval Date, fails to approve in writing the Working Drawings and Specifications within the time provided herein, requests any Changes, fails to
make timely payment of any sum due hereunder, furnishes inaccurate or erroneous specifications or other information, or otherwise delays in any manner the
completion of the Tenant Improvements (including without limitation by specifying materials that are not readily available) or the issuance of an occupancy
certificate (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Lease as “Tenant Delay”), then Tenant shall bear any resulting additional construction cost or other
expenses, and the Commencement Date shall be deemed to have occurred for all purposes, including Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent, as of the date Landlord
reasonably determines that it would have been able to deliver the Premises to Tenant but for the collective Tenant Delays.  Should Landlord determine that the
Commencement Date should be advanced in accordance with the foregoing, it shall so notify Tenant in writing.  Landlord’s determination shall be conclusive
unless Tenant notifies Landlord in writing, within 5 business days thereafter, of Tenant’s election to contest same by binding arbitration with the American
Arbitration Association under its Arbitration Rules for the Real Estate Industry, and judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction thereof.  Pending the outcome of such arbitration proceedings, Tenant shall make timely payment of all rent due under this Lease based upon the
Commencement Date set forth in the aforesaid notice from Landlord.

 
G.                                    Landlord shall permit Tenant and its agents to enter the Premises prior to the Commencement Date of the Lease in order that Tenant may perform any work to

be performed by Tenant hereunder through its own contractors, subject to Landlord’s prior written approval, and in a manner and upon terms and conditions
and at times satisfactory to Landlord’s representative.  The foregoing license to enter the Premises prior to the Commencement Date is, however, conditioned
upon Tenant’s contractors and their subcontractors and employees working in harmony and not interfering with the work being performed by Landlord. If at
any time that entry shall cause disharmony or interfere with the work being performed by Landlord, this license may be withdrawn by Landlord upon 24
hours written notice to Tenant.  That license is further conditioned upon the compliance by Tenant’s contractors with all requirements imposed by Landlord on
third party contractors and subcontractors, including without limitation the maintenance by Tenant and its contractors and subcontractors of workers’
compensation and public liability and property damage insurance in amounts and with companies and on forms satisfactory to Landlord, with certificates of
such insurance being furnished to Landlord prior to proceeding with any such entry.  The entry shall be deemed to be under all of the provisions of the Lease
except as to the covenants to pay Rent unless Tenant commences business activities within the Premises.  Landlord shall not be liable in any way for any
injury, loss or damage which may occur to any such work being performed by Tenant, the same being solely at Tenant’s risk.  In no event shall the failure of
Tenant’s contractors to complete any work in the Premises extend the Commencement Date.

 
H.                                   Tenant hereby designates Peter Grace, Telephone No. (562) 493-2804, as its representative agent and attorney-in-fact for the purpose of receiving notices,

approving submittals and issuing requests for Changes, and Landlord shall be entitled to rely upon authorizations and directives of such person(s) as if given
directly by Tenant.  Tenant may amend the designation of its construction representative(s) at any time upon delivery of written notice to Landlord.

 
II.                                   COST OF TENANT IMPROVEMENTS
 

A.                                    Landlord shall complete, or cause to be completed, the Tenant Improvements, at the construction cost shown in the approved Final Cost Estimate (subject to
the provisions of this Work Letter), in accordance with final Working Drawings and Specifications approved by both Landlord and Tenant.  Landlord shall
pay towards the final construction costs (“Completion Cost”) as incurred a maximum of $2,772,621.00 (“Landlord Contribution”), and Tenant shall be
fully responsible for the remainder (“Tenant Contribution”). If the actual cost of completion of the Tenant Improvements is less than the maximum amount
provided for the Landlord Contribution or remains after June 30, 2014, such savings shall inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant shall not be entitled to
any credit or payment or to apply the savings toward additional work.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall provide an additional allowance not to exceed $120,000.00 toward the out-of-pocket expenses incurred by
Tenant for relocating to the Premises, including furniture moving and data cabling costs (“Moving Allowance”).  Tenant shall be reimbursed for such
expenses by submitting copies of all supporting third-party invoices to Landlord by June 30, 2014.  Landlord shall reimburse Tenant in one installment within
30 days following receipt of all such invoices.
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B.                                    The Completion Cost shall include all direct costs of Landlord in completing the Tenant Improvements, including but not limited to the following:  (i)

payments made to architects, engineers, contractors, subcontractors and other third party consultants in the performance of the work, inclusive of the charges
of Landlord’s architect as described above, (ii) consultant, permit fees and other sums paid to governmental agencies, (iii) costs of all materials incorporated
into the work or used in connection with the work, (iv) keying and signage costs, (v) space planning and design fees, (vi) acquisition and installation of built-
in and moveable furniture systems, cabling, acquisition and installation of computer and telephone systems, including HVAC, fire suppression and related
equipment, (vii) structural reinforcement and (viii) any other reasonable relocation related fees or expenses incurred by Tenant. The Completion Cost shall
also include an administrative/supervision fee to be paid to Landlord in the amount of 3% of the actual hard costs associated with the Tenant Improvements.

 
C.                                    Prior to start of construction of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall pay to Landlord 50% of the amount of the Tenant Contribution set forth in the

approved Final Cost Estimate with the remaining 50% being paid upon substantial completion of the Tenant Improvements. In addition, if the actual
Completion Cost of the Tenant Improvements is greater than the Final Cost Estimate because of modifications or extras requested by Tenant and not reflected
on the approved working drawings, or because of Tenant Delays, then subject to any unused portion of the Landlord Contribution, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord, within 10 days following submission of an invoice therefor, all such additional costs, including any additional architectural fee.  If Tenant defaults
in the payment of any sums due under this Work Letter, Landlord shall (in addition to all other remedies) have the same rights as in the case of Tenant’s
failure to pay rent under the Lease.

 
D.                                    Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense and not as part of the Landlord Contribution or Moving Allowance, shall be responsible for improving the

common corridors and restrooms on the 3  floor at 4675 MacArthur Court and the 7  floor at 4695 MacArthur Court that are part of the Premises (“Common
Corridor Work”) using finishes, materials and color schemes similar to the existing floors of each respective Building. Such Common Corridor Work shall
be completed within 60 days of the Commencement Date.
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Exhibit 10.81
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE
 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE (the “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of April 17, 2013, by and between THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Landlord”) and CLEAN ENERGY, a California corporation (“Tenant”).

 
RECITALS

 
A.                                    Landlord and Tenant are parties to that certain lease dated March 18, 2013 (collectively, the “Lease”).  Pursuant to the Lease, Landlord has leased to Tenant space

currently containing approximately 68,006 rentable square feet (the “Premises”) described as Suite Nos. 300, 800, 1200 and 1220 on the 3 , 8 , and 12  floors of the
building located at 4675 MacArthur Court and Suite No. 700 on the 7  floor of the building located at 4695 MacArthur Court, all located in Newport Beach, California
(collectively, the “Building”).

 
B.                                    Tenant and Landlord mutually desire that the Lease be amended on and subject to the following terms and conditions.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals which by this reference are incorporated herein, the mutual covenants and conditions contained herein
and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows:

 
I.                                        Amendment.  Effective as of the date hereof (unless different effective date(s) is/are specifically referenced in this Section), Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease

shall be amended in accordance with the following terms and conditions:
 

A.            Work Letter.  Exhibit X of the Lease shall be amended as follows:
 

1.              The first paragraph shall be deleted and the following shall be substituted in lieu thereof:
 

“The Tenant Improvement work (herein “Tenant Improvements”) shall consist of any work required to complete the Premises pursuant to plans and
specifications approved by both Landlord and Tenant.  The parties agree that the general contractor performing the Tenant Improvements shall be Turelk and
shall be engaged by Landlord.  Turelk shall construct the Tenant Improvements based on a 10 week construction schedule. The work shall be undertaken in
accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth below.”
 

2.              The first sentence of Section I.B. shall be deleted and the following shall be substituted in lieu thereof:
 

“Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that Tenant (i) on or prior to April 10, 2013, caused architect, Hendy & Associates, to prepare final construction drawings
(including engineering drawings) and specifications for the Tenant Improvements (“Working Drawings and Specifications”) and (ii) approved in writing the
Working Drawings and Specifications and on April 10, 2013 delivered same to Landlord for review and approval.”
 

II.            GENERAL.
 

A.                                    Effect of Amendments.  The Lease shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent that it is modified by this Amendment.
 
B.                                    Entire Agreement.  This Amendment embodies the entire understanding between Landlord and Tenant and can be changed only by a writing signed by

Landlord and Tenant.
 
C.                                    Counterparts.  If this Amendment is executed in counterparts, each is hereby declared to be an original; all, however, shall constitute but one and the same

amendment.  In any action or proceeding, any photographic, photostatic, or other copy of this Amendment may be introduced into evidence without
foundation.

 
D.                                    Defined Terms.  All words commencing with initial capital letters in this Amendment and defined in the Lease shall have the same meaning in this

Amendment as in the Lease, unless they are otherwise defined in this Amendment.
 
E.                                     Authority.  If Tenant is a corporation, limited liability company or partnership, or is comprised of any of them, each individual executing this Amendment for

the corporation, limited liability company or partnership represents that he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Amendment on behalf of such
entity and that this Amendment is binding upon such entity in accordance with its terms.

 
F.                                      Attorneys’ Fees.  The provisions of the Lease respecting payment of attorneys’ fees shall also apply to this Amendment.
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G.                                    Execution of Amendment.  Submission of this Amendment by Landlord is not an offer to enter into this Amendment but rather is a solicitation for such an

offer by Tenant.  Landlord shall not be bound by this Amendment until Landlord has executed and delivered the same to Tenant.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this First Amendment as of the day and year first above written.

 
LANDLORD:

 

TENANT:
     
THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC

 

CLEAN ENERGY
 

         
         
By: /s/ Steven M. Case

 

By: /s/ Andrew J. Littlefair
 

Steven M. Case
 

Printed Name: Andrew J. Littlefair
 

Executive Vice President
 

Title: President & CEO
 

Office Properties
     

         
By: /s/ Betty Casties

 

By: /s/ Mitchell W. Pratt
 

Betty Casties
 

Printed Name: Mitchell W. Pratt
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Vice President, Operations
 

Title: Chief Operating Officer
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Exhibit 31.1
 

Certifications
 

I, Andrew J. Littlefair, certify that:
 

1.                                      I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of Clean Energy Fuels Corp.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)                                 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)                                 Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                 Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

Date: May 8, 2013
 

/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR
 

Andrew J. Littlefair,
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

Certifications
 

I, Richard R. Wheeler, certify that:
 

1.             I have reviewed this Form 10-Q of Clean Energy Fuels Corp.;
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)           Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)           Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)           Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)           Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5.             The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)           All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)           Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 

Date: May 8, 2013
 

/s/ RICHARD R. WHEELER
 

Richard R. Wheeler,
 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION REQUIRED BY
SECTION 1350 OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE

 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as the specified officer of Clean Energy Fuels

Corp. (the “Company”) that, to the best of his knowledge, the quarterly report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2013 fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods presented in the financial statements included in such
report.

 
Dated: May 8, 2013

 
/s/ ANDREW J. LITTLEFAIR

 

Name: Andrew J. Littlefair
 

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

   
Dated: May 8, 2013

 

   
/s/ RICHARD R. WHEELER

 

Name: Richard R. Wheeler
 

Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 

 
This certification accompanies this Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company

for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into
any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.
 


